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PREFACE.

TaE birth of great nations is always regarded with
interest. The Roman historians, unable to penetrate
the gloom of their past and unwilling to claim a
contemptible origin, boldly allied themselves with the
celestial Olympus, and made their Romulus the son of
a god. A Niebuhr has shattered the fairy fabric of
those early days, and robbed our youth of the charm-
ing tale of wolf-nursed heroes. Yet who that trod the
palaces of the Cemiars, and wondered at the glory of
o!d Rome, would not throw a glance backward, and
wish to know the source of so much majesty! And

. here, in this Melbourne of to-day, with its one hundred

and thirty thousand inhabitants, and its noble Inter-
colonial Exhibition, as we look upon a sixty-feet
pyramid of Victorian gold, can we be otherwise than
deeply interested in the origin of our colony!

It is with a view of settling this important
question, that the present work is submitted to the
Australian public. And a very trying task has it been
to write such early history. I arrived in the colonies
five years only after the first great exodus from
Tasmania to Hobson’s Bay, and two years after a
ettled Government of the Province here. I was per-
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sonally acquainted with several of the leaders of the
Port Phillip movement. I have made it my business
for many years to converse with primitive settlers,
and search through old records, to be correctly in-
formed of the colonial past; and yet, with all my care
and research, I have failed to satisfy my mind upon
certain historical points. If such have been my diffi-
culties to arrive at the truth of events so near our
own day, what dependence can be placed in the
histories of remoter times, written—it may be—by
prejudiced partizans or careless collectors of facta?
As a curious illustration of the difficulty of reconciling
evidence in the formation of history, it may be
mentioned that Wellington's mother said he was born
at Dangan Castle, Westmeath, on the first of May,
while the nurse affirms he was born at Dublin, on the
sixth of March!

To several gentlemen who have kindly contributed
to my literary stores I must confess myself deeply
indebted ; but especially to the Rev. B. K. Ewing, of
Launceston, to the Hon. J. H. Wedge, and to W. J.
Sams, Esq.

It is now twenty-one years since the first edition
of my Australian Geography appeared; and I hope
before long to bring out, for the Australian Youth, my
story of the Last of the Tasmanians, upon which I
I have been occupied many years. To my fellow-
colonists I am grateful for encouragement.

JAMES BONWICEK.

8r. KiLpa, VicTORI1A,
January 1, 1867.



JOHN BATMAN,

The Founder of Yictoria,
—_—————

LIFE OF MR.JOHN BATMAN.

TWENTY-FIVE years ago I was wandering about the
sources of the River Jordan at Jericho, beyond Jeru-
salem, in Van Diemen’s Land, as it was then called.
Stooping to drink at the prosaic, hoof-trodden springs,
I heard my guide say, “Ah! it was bloody enough once.
I shot a lot of crows about here. I caug{t them camp-
ing near, and dropped them down at night.” Under-
sta.nd.i.ndg that the crows were blacks, and expressing my
shocked feelings, the rough farmer condescended to
explain. After a sort of apology he added, “ But John
Batman didn't knock them down like that, for he and
they understood one another.”  What Batman do you
mean ?” was my inquiry. “The fellow that made Port
Phillip, to be sure,” answered he. *“0,” said I, “that
is the new colony across the Straits.” ¢ Just so,” was
his reply; “and he might have saved himself the
trouble, for they are all smashing to pieces, and coming
back here again.”

This was my first dpersonal introduction to the name
of John Batman, and sad enough were the prospects of
the little colony at that time. %Iumbers were returning
to Van Diemen’s Land.

A year passéd, when a holiday trip to ‘Avoca—the
charming meeting-place of waters—brought me under
the shadow of the nstone pile of Ben Lomond, near
which, by me, stood the house and farm of John Bat-
man’s home at Kingston. Again, and on the adjeining
estate to his own, did I hear tales of this remarkable

man.
B
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And what have I heard? They told me stories of -
bloodthirsty natives brou%ht. in by the bold hunter, and
retained by his spirit of kindness. They spoke of
wondrous feats of horseback—bush tracking—endurance
of hunger, thirst, and fatigue—and a successful capture
of dreadful armed outlaws. I learned that this man of
iron nerve, of powerful frame, and daring courage, had
the manners of a gentleman, the simplicity of a child,
the tenderness of a woman.

Need it be wondered, then, that I thought kindly of
the man; that I felt jealous for his honour when I
found it afterwards so gm@slﬁm ugned. I am not the
apologist for his frailties, though such were all but
universal then in the colony. Blemishes of the same
sort have, unfortunately, been attached to the fair fame
of many whom the world justly regard as heroes and
benefactors. John Batman, in spite of his love of drink,
fostered and encouraged by the house kept by the
man who can now so freely speak of his vietim,
and in spite of his unhappy devotion to the other sex,
was what his fellow-citizens esteemed honest and
honourable. He was heroic in his nature, seeking
enterprises of danger, and enga%ng in noble labours.
There is no little merit in him who opens up a wilder-
ness to his race, and leads thousands to a happy home
in a strange land.

Not only have Governors spoken highly of the man,
but philanthropists, like Mr. Backhouse, have hailed his
efforts. His interest in the aboriginal inhabitants will
alone entitle him #o gratitude. The Rev. J. H. West,
in his History, speaks thus of him—* To Mr. Batman
belongs the praise of mingling humanity with severity,
of perceiving human affections in the creatures he was
commissioned to resist. He certainly began in the
midst of conflict and bloodshed to try the softer in-
fluence of conciliation and charity—being one of the
few who entertained a strong confidence in the power
of kindness.” Mr. Melville, in his Australian histo,
being well acquainted with the person, speaks o
that he “ proceeded not with the sword, but with the
olive bmuc‘l)l.” This is not the man to be sn
his treaty with the Port Phillip Blacks, whom he
believed to belong to the brotherhood of nations, and
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whom he sought to treat with the justice and truth to
which their position entitled them.

As to his veracity, it was unquestioned by those who
knew him best. His old friend, the captain, calls
him #a kind-hearted, heroic, and truthful man.” The
excellent Mr. George Washington Walker, the Quaker
missionary, often spoke to me of his regard for John
Batman. Mr. Henry Wedge, one of our esteemed fellow-
colonists, writes—* He was always considered a gen-
tleman and man of honour.” Mr. Heary Jennings, our
well-known Melbourne solicitor, can add—*1 do not
think he would write falsehoods.” The Cornwall
Chronicle utters the same hearty feeling—*“ We are
certain that our brethren of Victoria will only be too
glad to do justice to the memory of a man whose name
will always be cherished by the early settlers of this
colony.” Honest old Captain Robson asserts that “he
was a brave, athletie, daring, resolute man, fearing
nothing—neither wind nor weather. His perseverance
was beyond anything I ever saw.” But Mr. William
Robertson, of Colac, one of our best known and
honoured old colonists, and one of the real founders of
g‘ie t:;;lcmy, writes thus to me in full about his former

enda i —

“T am glad to have been afforded an opportunity of
adding my testimony to that of your other correspond-
ents in fzvou.r of John Batman; and am pleased to
think that by doing s0 I may assist somewhat in res-
cuing his name and” memory from undeserved obloquy.
My ac%uainmnce with Mr. John Batman dates many
years before the expedition to Vietoria was contem-

lated; and from that time up to the day of his death

had so many opportunities of forming a judgment of
what kind of a man he was, that I have not the
slightest hesitation in assuring you that his character for
veracity and probity cannot, with reﬁ:.rd to the truth, be
in the slightest degree impugned om my own obser-
vation, as well as from what I have heard from those
who were even more intimately connected with him
than I was, my opinion is that his narrative may be
taken as a strictly truthful report of what he himself
did, and of all that occurred under his immediate
notice.”

B2
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Mr. John Batman, unlike Mr. Fawkner, was a colo-
nial youth. He was born in 1800, at Parramatta, in New
South Wales. His father was one of the fdimous band
of missionaries first sent to the South Seaisles, but forced
to leave Tahiti through a desolating war. Mr, William
Batman, like severu.F others, fled to the nearest British
settlement, that of Sydney, in 1797 ; that is, nine years
after its foundation., He betook himself to some busi-
ness engagement, and continued to remain in the colony
till his death. In a Sydney magazine of February,
1834, there is this notice of his decease:—* 29th, at
Parramatta, Mr. William Batman, aged sixty-dneyears.
He resided in the colony thirty-seven years, was highly
respected, and his loss will be long felt by a numerous
circle of friends and acquaintances.” Mrs. %atman, sen.,
outlived her son a few months, dying in 1839. He was
much attached to his mother.

About 1820 a love adventure led to his leaving home
and settling in Van Diemen’s Land. He early directed
his attention to farming on the northern side of the
island. But powerful in frame, well proportioned, of a
goodly stature, robust in health, full of exuberant spirits,
with a love of adventure, he was not the-person for a
ﬂ:iet routine of duty, or the steady pursuit of a business,

e was ﬁaionateldy fond of hunting, and of explorin
new tracks in the dense forests of his island home. A
who knew him assert that he was the finest bushman
of their acquaintance ; no danger gppalled him, no diffi-
culties turned him. It is not surprising then that, as
he always sided with law and order in the community,
he should take a part with other colonists in hunting
down the bushrangers of the period. For such services
he received a grant of land.

But in a more important work he was next engaged.
The Tasmanian blacks and the colonists came into open
and active warfare. Fearful atrocities marked the con-
duct of both combatants. Mr. Batman,in 1829, was put
in command of a party. The object of the Government
was to capture, not destroy; but many took that oppor-
tunity of glutting private revenge, or the instinects of a
savage nature, in brutal attacks upon defenceless and
harmless aborigines. Unusual success attended the
efforts of our founder, and ample rewards followed the
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gerforma.nce of such dangerous work. The historian of
‘asmania has this noble record :—“ Among those dis-
tinguished for their knowledge of the bush, compassion
for the natives, and skill in pursuing them, Mr. Batman
is the subject of frequent ang approved mention.”

His domestic relations are not without interest. A
romantic attachment for a beautiful girl, utl1£cllcr circum-
stances a ling to his pity and gallantry, and
enlisting tligm w:fm sympathl;'toyf the Ggm'ernolz.-yof the
colony, ended in a marriage. The fruits of this union
:{peared in one son and several daughters. Whatever

e earg and later stories of the pair, it is pleasing to
-record the fact that their home, under Ben Lomond, at the
fine farm of Kingston, was a very happy one. From
three of the daughters I have learned that the children
were well educated and trained, taught the Seriptures,
and even religiously cared for. Several old settlers
have spoken to me most kindly of that part of their
lives. The Governor, himself a man of family and of
Christian character, liked to eall in at the homestead,
and warmly praiséd the domestic managements. An
old friend, who had many opportunitics of sceing the
Batman family, assured me that it always gave him
great pleasure to see the admirable way in which the
children were trained, and the order and comfort of the
whole establishment. However dense and dark the
cloud that subsequently overshadowed them in this
Port Phillip, and covers history with gloom, it is
pleasing to state their Tasmanian career.

The story of his eonnection with this colony will be
found elsewhere. It was natural that so active a spirit,
and so intelligent and adventurous a man, should think
of the land across the straits lying neglected and
forlorn. It is now forty years ago since our founder's
attention was turned in a practical s]m% towards the
inviting shore. He found an associate in Mr. Gellibrand,
once Attorney-General of Van Diemen’s Land, a kindred
genius. They made official aiplication for a settlement
there, but failled. In 1835, however, the wort!}y tﬂair
saw, as they fondly believed, the realisation of their
dreams of rich land and sheep pastures.

Established in Melbourne with abundant means,
Government favour, and an influential connection,
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Mr. Batman for a time was the ruling spirit of the
little settlement. The Sydney Gazette of April, 1836,
calls him *the locum tenens of the Lieutenant-Governor.”
But the old evils of a rude civilisation followed his
gmspcrit , ruined his health, disordered his family,
rought him to an early grave in 1839, and scattered
as well as blasted his once beautiful and happy home.
No one bears his name. His two grandsons with us,
sons of Mr. William Weire, of Geelong, by Elizabeth,
the fourth daughter, needing the active generosity, as
well as sympathy of colonists, are all remaining in
Victoria of the race of John Batman. No son was left
to his brother Henry, though I know one of his-
daughters. A sad shade has fallen on all. While
Mr. Fawkner never had a child to inherit his name,
]}:;is rival has left no one to take the honoured name of
atman.

LIFE OF MR. FAWKNER.

ALTHOUGH this honorable gentleman hes at various
times given us scraps of his interesting autobiography,
all colonists would appreciate his reminiscences of other
periods and places as well as those with which we have at
present to be contented. He lived through the whole
of the aboriginal past of Van Diemer’s Land as well as
of Port Phi.ﬁ;;; and being a man of remarkable powers
of obscrvation, fearless intrepidity, restless enterprise,
and publie spirit, no one perhaps could give us so strik-
ing a chronicle. :

o satisfy the reader, a short sketch of his career will
be made—the materials being from his own remarks,
and those given by the press when friendly with him;
and therefore from his own dictation.

Born within the sound of Bow Bells, in 1792, and
receiving the rudiments of education in London, he left
England when a lad of ten years to follow his unfor-
tunate father to this side of the world. His mother and
sister were also permitted to sail with the partﬁ forming
a convict settlement at Port Phillip, toward the‘end of
1803. Removed afterwards to Van Diemen’s Land, the
Age says—* As the Fawkners were a family together,
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they lost no time in building a hut for themselves.”
His mother returned to Europe in two years, and the
son and father lived for some years about eight miles
from Hobart Town. When a.f&i‘wards living near to
the spot, I saw the remains of the chimney of their
ancient habitation. The old man was well-known for
certain harmless peculiarities, not forsaking the ancient
fashions of dress, and preserving that rugged indepen-
dence of manner which he has communicated to his son.
When I last saw him (one of the few original Der-
wenters,) he seemed so hale, as if resolved to keep our
Melbourne hero, J. P. Fawkner, jun., till fourscore
years. Heartily do we wish, for the sake of the colony,
that the son may live to the age of his father.

The little farm, a grant to the family, was no great
success, and when eighteen years old the hero of our

o a sawyer. “In the year 1814,” according
to the Age article, * he was induced, in the enthusiasm
of youth, indiscreetly to furnish funds, and assist a

v of seven persons to build and provide a cutter,
ugger-rigged, in which they were to escape from their
bondage in the island. The vessel was built, provisioned,
and ready for sea, when two of the number discovered
the plot to the authorities. These two persons slipped
the cable from the bay in which it had been built, and
ran the cutter up to Hobart Town, tetraying all con-
cerned; and Mr. Fawkner was included among the
persons arrested by the Crown. This portion of
Mr. Fawkner’s life, as a matter of course, has been the
subject of much misrepresentations. * It has been tor-
tured into the gravest charges against him. The result
of this act of indiscretion was that he left for Sydney,
and did not return till March, 1817.”

Not wishing to feed the appetites of scandal-mongers,
nor gauge the depths of a social state so far removed
from our own, I have contented myself with the state-
ment of that part of his history from what is virtually
Mr. Fawkner’s own narrative. It would not have been
right to have omitted a reference to it, nor proper to
have Ellunged into vague rumours of slander, because
the individual had feasted himself and his auditors upon
such a dainty dish, at the expense of the dead. Although
a public personage, with rancorous foes, the temptation
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to exhibit his private weaknesses is to be resisted as
unworthy of the historian, and contemptible in manhood.
For such reasons we hasten forward to his Launceston
career. In 1826 he opened the Cornwall Hotel in that
town, and conducted it with ability and success till 1836.
In 1829 he originated the Launceston Advertiser, and,
although having an editor, wrote often in its pages him-
self. This he d of in two years.
" His Port Phillip career is the one in which we are
most interested, and about which there is less occa-
sion for gloss or silence. Here he stands forth promi-
nently a public man, and challenges the public eriti-
cism. And in truth, whatever prejudices may be
entertained against him personally, his worst oppc-
nents concede that his attacks have been as open
as they were bitter. He allowed them no quarter,
and so exposed himself to their unrelenting return.
But it will be at the same time admitted—and this is
his erowning glory—that his contests, however personal
and envenomed, were not conducted for his own ‘geu-
i }l);;oﬁt, and that he never served his country that he
might be served.

Rightly contending with him, as I do, upon his lan-
guage in reference to the foundation of this colony, I
am as ready as other old colonists to acknowledge the
im%ortant and useful part he has played in the politics
of Port Phillip. He has ever been the advocate of civil
and religious rights of freedom. He has ever been the
bold defier of oppression and the stern denouncer of
official wrong. He it was who dared the breach to
crush the ancient foe of colonial justice and honour—
the venal Major St. John. ~Nothing, perhaps, but his
very vehemence of onset, his very persistent, hnng-ﬂog
bite, his very inaccessibility to soft ap];eals, coul
have thrown down that monstrous evil of our infant
days. And this is but one of many such good deeds.
His labours to plant the people upon the public lands,
entitle him to gratitude; though his determined opposi-
tion to the introduction of convicts into the colony
exposed him to some raillery and scorn.

his is not the place to refer to his efforts to establish
the Press among our early colonists. Full particulars
may bg had in my “ Discovery and Settlement of Port
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Phillip.” Commencing with a manuscript newspaper,
he sncgeeded in raisinggt.he Port Phillip Pgtﬂ'ut in 18‘;9,
and he has lived to see the developed 4rgus, the prince
of the southern Press. If the first newspaper writer
and the first publican, he may be called one of the first
farmers. At the sales of 1839 he bought a section of
780 acres, seven miles from town, which he named after
himself, Pascoevale. In 1843, like others, he fell under
the burden of commercial care. In 1845 he experienced
a similar misfortune; though, according to the Age,
“ ag soon as his certificate was issued by the Insolvent
Court, he commenced business afresh.” This shows the
indomitable energy of the man. Pursuing gardening,
wine-making, and land-selling, he, for the third time,
in 1851, became, especially through the act of others, a
victim to pecuniary difficulties. But the bursting forth
of the gold fever gave him a fresh start, placed him in
a good position, and secured him a competency for the
retirement of age, whenever that period shall come.

In 1842 he gained his first honouts, in being elected
one of the Market Commissioners of Melbourne. The
next year he entered the Town Council. At an early
period he became a legislator, and has, for & number of

ears, been an active member of the Upper House of

arliament. However crotchety, bigoted, prejudiced,
violent, and personal, he may be in the Council Chamber,
he has generally been found on the side of the people,
and a zealous advocate of progress. Arrived at the age
of approaching seventy-five, he may some day exhibit
a decline of energy, and a lack of interest in political
affairs; but at present there is no evidence of his con-
viction of that proximate fate. The representative of
the struggling past of the colony, all sections would
join to dogh.i.m honour, and say “Long may he reign!”

HOW MR. BATMAN THOUGHT OF SETTLING
PORT PHILLIP.

It is interesting to discover that the craven settlers who
forsook Port Phillip for Van Diemen’s Land were not
without misgivings as to their prudence, and longing
eyes and thoughts were di.rect,e‘{' across the straits to
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the continent of New Holland. Although for man
years after the foundation of Hobart Town, they
enough to do to maintain their footing in the island,
having such severe struggles with famine, bushranging,
and native aggression, yet the soft airs of the milder
climate were not forgotten. It was then by the colonists
and their sons that the old land became inhabited once
more, and that from the place for which it had been pre-
viously deserted.

Many had thought of attempting the work; but how
came Batman to %)e so ardent in the matter? Mr.
William Robertson was one who urged promptitude of
action, and Mr. Gellibrand helped to ea.rrzﬂout the pro-
jection; but Messrs. Wedge and Sams had had long

revious consultations upon it with Mr. Batman. The

tter tells me that they talked much about it on an
excursion up Ben Lomond. As Mr. Wedge has pro-
vided me with his reminiscences of the event so con-
nected with our history, that extract from his lettetr
shall be presented.

“ My recollection,” says the gentleman, “of the
project of Batman and myself crossing the Australian
continent is fresh in my mind. 'We became acquainted
with each other in the latter part of 1824, or beginnin
of 1825, on the occasion of my marking his grants o%
land on the Ben Lomond rivulet. The subject of an
exploring expedition into the interior of New Holland
was then mooted, and its practicability discussed; and
we seldom, if ever, met afterwards without adverting
to the subject. But it was not till some little time
before we accompanied Sir George Arthur to George’s
Bay on the east coast, in 1831, that we determined on
the plan of effecting our object. Our idea was to
take three or four white men (Batman’s servants, on
whom he could dcpel:i,f) and some Sydney natives, and
go by sea to the Gulf of ntaria, and to travel
overland from thence to Sydmey. Our motive for
adopting this course was that the gydney natives would
not be so likely to leave us as if we commenced our
journey from Sydney; the more especially as we should

e in a portion of the country occupied by tribes with
which they were unacquainted, and amongst whom
they would be afraid to risk themselves without the
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protection of white men. We mentioned our scheme
to Sir Geo:fe Arthur one evening in my tent, which
was pitched at Falmouth, Van Diemen’s Land. Sir
George entered warmly into the plan, and said he would
submit the proposal to the Secretary of State, and
recommend that-our services should be accepted. Lieut.
Darling (recently Governor of Victoria) was of the
]I);.rty, who had previously expressed a wish to join us.

e then volunteered to with us. We naturally
expected to hear the result of Sir George’s commum-
cation in due course; but, after waiting about a year,
either Batman or myself—TI forget which—spoke to him
on the subject, and to our surprise,-and no little disap-
pointment, we learnt that he had never written on the
subject.”

Idlsewhere Mr. Wedge writes, “ Mr. Batman and
myself then fell back upon our original scheme, and
determined to carry it out as a private enterprise. The
plan Mr. Batman and myself had first arranged, founded
on information we had obtained from parties who had
been there, was to land on Portland Bay, and to examine
the country from thence; but we were induced to aban-
don this idea from fresh information obtained by Mr.
gﬁgrllian‘ in reference to the country around Port

p"’

Messrs. Batman and Wedge got this intelligence of Port
Phillip and Portland Bay from the sealers, as my friend,
Mr. Simeon Lord, formerly neighbour of Mr. Batman’s,
satisfuctorily shows. These venturesome prowlers of
the straits were continuall% wandering about the
southern coast and islands of New Holland. They had
settlements on several spots, providing themselves with
wives after the approved classical fashion, by stealin
the ladies from their husbands and brothers of the dar
tribes on the mainland. These rough fellows were
either runaway sailors or bolting convicts. Communi-
cating through safe media with Launceston, much valu-
able knowlegge was picked up about the opposite shore.
Mr. Batman had quick ears for such news as this.

The report of Messrs. Hume and Hovell's overland
trip from Sydney to the southern shores, towards the
end of 1824 and beginning of 1825, gave a great
impetus to Batman’s ideas. Captain Hovell believed
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he saw Western Port, while the better bushman, Mr.
Hume, a Sydney born, regarded the * Geelong” of the
blacks he met to be a part of Port Phillip Bay. But
the Australian’s report was less regarded than that of
his official companion. When, therefore, the New South
Wales Governor determined to establish a colony on the
fair plains of Geelong, he sent Captain Hovell with a
¥m—ty of convicts to Western Port. This proved a
ailure; and Home orders coming out for concentration,
‘Western Port was abandoned in December, 1826.

At this time, becoming acquainted with Mr. Gelli-
brand, the Hobart Town lawyer, Mr. Batman’s thoughts
were fixed upon the deserted fleld. It was resolved to
apply to the New South Wales Governor for land there;
anﬁ the solicitor, as the scholar of the partners, drew up
the following letter:—

Launceston, January 11, 1827,
81R,—Understanding that it is your Excellency’s intention to
establish a permanent settlement at Western Port, and to afford
encouragement to respectable people to settle there, we beg
leave most respectfully to solicit at the hands of your Excellency
a grant of land at that place, proportionate to the property which
we intend to embark.

We are in the lEmnsmms!ifm of some flocks of sheep, highly im-
proved, some of the Merino breed, and others of the pure South
Devon, of some pure Devon cattle, imported from England, and
also of a fine breed of horses.

We propose to shift from this place 1500 to 2000 sheep, 30
head of superier cows, oxen, horses, &c. &c., to the value of
£4000 to £ : the whole to be under the personal direction
of Mr. Batman (who is a native of New South Wales,) who will
constantly reside there for the protection of the establishment,

Under these circumstances, we are induced to hope your
Excellency will be pleased to grant us a tract of land propor-
tionate to the sum of money we propose to expend, and also to
ufford us every encouragement in carrying out tf:e proposed
object into effect. 3

‘We have, &ec., -

(Signed) { JF; SELLIBRAND.
JOHN BATMAN.
To his Excellency Lieut.-General Darling, &e. &e.

There was nothing unreasonable or objectionable in
the request. The form of grant was that in common
use at that period. A man arrived with money, he took
that money to the Governor, declaring it to be his own,
and he there and then obtained a free grant of land
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subject to a trifling quit rent, according to his capital,
though not more 2560 acres. Such was the usage
in New South Wales and Van Diemen’s Land. We have
not the reply to the letter of Messrs. Gellibrand and
Batman, but there remains the record of his Excellency’s
minute upon it, of which this is a copy:—

Acknowledge and inform them that no determination having

been come to with respect to the settl t of Western Lort, it
is not in mfy power to comply with the request.
March 17th. (Signed) R.D.

Can we wonder, after this rejection of their prayer,
that the two thought of no further reliance upon
Government, but upon a treaty with the aborigines?
This was an opportunity lost of settling the place with-
out home expenditure, and yet within the bounds of the
colony of New South Wales. Mr. Batman, a free man,
of free descent, was desirous of laying the foundations
of a free colony here in 1827. The adventurers were
men of substance and of recognised respectability,
anxious to fulfil the requirementsof law. Land at that
time was cheap enough in the old settlements; for if
granted land was not estimated at above an average of
a shilling or two an acre in Van Diemen's Land it would
certainly be valued at considerably less in such a corner
of the south as Western Port. Far better days were in
store for the squatters, when, instead of a paltry grant
of acres, they could have the legal run over many square
miles for pastoral purposes. Their flock of 2000 would
soon have outgrown the boundaries of the largest grant.
Some of our shepherd kings sincé have possessed the
grass of hundreds of thousands of acres.

Disappointed, but not despairing, the two friends
waited fgr better times. In 1833 Mr. Hume gave a full
account of his expedition in 1825. This Sydney pro-
duction was reatf with the greatest avidity by our
founder and his sympathisers. Again their hopes
revived, and again did they look around for means to
carry out their long-cherished scheme of settling our
colony. In the year 1834, while perfecting their own
plans, Mr. Henty and sons, went off to Portland Bay. It
was an urgent time. The circumstances of the island
were more pressing. The multitudes of %ne'isoners of the
Crown thrust upon it had greatly absorbed the public
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lands. The pastures were limited, not merely because
the coast line embraced but 24,000 square miles, but
by the vast amount of worthless scrubs, impracticable
forests, and barren mountains. The very sheep and
c:otge seemed to sigh for more succulent and plentiful
food.

But who was to go first? And how was he to go?
Moreover, were the reports really true about the good
land beyond ? :

Difficulties of no ordinary magnitude appeared. A
savage population, doubtful country, absence of market,
and no protection, were before the perplexed colonists.
Feeble parties might be cut off by the natives, or perish
for lack of support, as some of the early American loca-
tions suffered. If only they knew that all would be
well, numbers were ready to flock thither. The year
1834 thus passed in discussion amidst hopes and fears.
Fathers were sighing as they looked at their stalwart
sons and their own limited fields. The young men were
impatiently waiting at the old and worn-out farm for
something to do—for something to call forth their
energies, their enthusiasm, their honest labour, =

John Batman must go and see.

MR. BATMAN'S VISIT TO PORT PHILLIP.

AcCTING in conjunction with a few—but as a leader,
not a deputy—our founder prepared to go and see. He
had but one determined course. He had given up
Western Port, which was afterwards sought by his
rival, and confined his efforts to the examination of
Port Phillip shores on the western side.

Let us take the story from,his own journal, and
reserve criticism for another opportunity.

He went on board his little craft of fifteen tons, the
Rebecea, on Sunday, May 10, 1835, at Launceston. He
was accompanied by his own servants, and the Sydney
blacks, Pigeon, Crook, and company, who had been so use-
ful to him in his first labours. Contrary winds hindered
his passage out to sea from the Tamar. On Thursday he
sent back Capt. Harwood to Launceston for more meat
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and biscuit, for he says: “I do not like the idea of going
myself again to Launceston, after taking a farewell of
my friends for some time.” On Saturday the captain
returned, bringing provisions and letters to George
Town. Then follows a little bit of the conjugal: “At
half-past five o’clock, to my astonishment, ﬂhs. Batman
arrived with our groom in the gig. She had received
my letters, and thought I might remain here some days
et, and therefore thought she might as well come
own.” The pair were two days together at this wind-
bound station. On Monday, the 18th May, the captain
sent word for all on board, as the wind was fair. His
wife drove to the Lighthouse hill to see the last of the
vessel at night. The last entry of that day’s journal is
this: *“Hope my dear wife may return home safe.”

As the winds afterwards opposed Mr. Fawkner on
his passage, and fairly drove him sea-sick toshore quar-
ters, so did they beat back our venturous little bark,
with Mr. Batman on board. The Rebecca was forced
on Tuesdaﬁ to put into Port Sorell. Getti.u% away next
evening, they were still in the northern gale, with, as
we are told, ““the sea running mountains high, the
Rebecca jumping about like a kangaroo.” Bag; they
were driven again. On the 23rd there was a shift of
breeze to the westward, and “no such thing as moving.
‘When we are to get from this, God only knows!” He
obtained some tools from the limeburners at Port Sorell,
“intending,” adds the journal, “to leave Gumm and the
other man at Port Phillip, if everything answers and
turns out to my expectations.”

On the Sunday, a fortnight after his first start at Laun-
ceston, the vexatious calms and rough winds, alternately
kept him near the old spot, and the writer mournfully
pens his complaint: “ When shall we get away from
this? Iam ost mad, but must wait with patience;
I do not know what to do or how to act.” The sea was
running mountains high at the Heads next day, and
again they have to retreat. “ When shall we have
wind ?” cries the poor fellow, “ Oh, dear!” He has but one
source of satisfaction in this dreary time—writing to his
beloved and loving wife “ fourlarge and long letters.” His
Sydney natives proposed sleeping on shore each night.
Off he went at last, on the Tuesday, with a fair wind, to
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the westward. “I am thankful for this,” says the
journalist. ;

Anchoring at the West Hunter Island, the explorer
must have a ramble, and found out a large cove, forty
feet high, forty feet broad, and 180 deep. He hoped for a
good .run that night, and he had his wish, passing Kinﬁ‘s

sland and si.ghlﬁing New Holland at mid-day. e
reached Port Phillip Heads on Friday, May 29, nineteen
days after sailing from Launceston. ¥t is now a passage
of that number of hours. This is Mr. Batman’s descrip-
tion :—* The wind was light, and after some difficul
we got in; width about amile and a-quarter; the de
five and a-half to seven fathoms of water. We got well
into the port about ten o’clock, where the water is very
smooth, and one of the finest basins of water I ever saw,
and most extensive.”

He was no sooner in than he was saluted: “ As we
were sailing up the port, heard a dog on the shore howl-
ing; cannot think what brought it there.” Going twelve
miles within the port to anchor they saw another dog
on the shore. The fate of this animal was a sad omen of
the fate of the native dog’s aboriginal master from the
coming of the white man. “We put off,” says the
journal, “and came up to the dog, which proved tobea
native dog of New Holland, which had surely left the
natives within a day or two, as he came quite close to
my natives, and did not apﬁm- at all afraid, but would
not suffer them to take hold of him. Our dogs, after
some time, took after him, and run him into the water,
where weshot him.”

Now they are after the poor dog’s native friends,
tracks of whom had been seen with the huts by the beach,
where they had been eating mussels. This is the descrip-
tion of the country: ¢ Beautifulland, and all good sheep
country, rather sandy, but the sand black and rich,
covered with kan ass about ten inches high, and
as green as a field of wheat, beautiful plains, excellent
land, &c.” Can we wonder that Mr. Batman’s report of
such a ?la.ee should have sent the island settlers mad
aboutit? Sealers and sailors had talked before, but now
they had the evidence of such a bushman and farmer as
John Batman himself.

On the Saturday he has more to say in praise. *Good
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hay could be made, and in any quantity. I never saw
anything equal to the land in my life. I was never so
astonished in my life.” On the Friday they had walked
but twelve miles, but on the Saturday twenty. They
had anchored about St. Leonard’s, wandered over the
Bellerine hills, and beheld the magnificent Geelon
plains. Not astonishing that he said: “ From what
have seen I am quite delighted with Port Phillip.”

Sunday came wheu they were in Gellibrand's Har-
bour, the mouth of the Werribee or the Little River.
On this day they came up to the natives. The story is
so simply told, that the journal must be quoted :—

“ At daylight this morning we landed to endeavour
to meet the natives. We had not proceeded more than
a mile and a-half when we saw the smoke at seven large
huts. My natives atriﬁped off, and went u? to them
quite naked. When they got to the huts, found that
they had left this morning. Then, with the natives,
went round, and found by their tracks the direction they
went in. We followed on their tracks for ten miles or
nearly, when Stomert (?) one of my natives, saw a black
at the distance of a mile. We were at this time
sﬁread along. He made a sign to us, and all made in
the same direction. He came up to the person (an old
woman,) quite a cripple. She had no toes on one foot.
We then saw the remainder of the tribe about a mile
further on. We made towards them, and got up to
them about one o’clock p.m. They seemed quite dpleased
with my natives, who could partially understand them.
They sang and danced for them. I found them to be
only women and children, twenty of the former, and
twenty-four of the latter. The women were all of a
small size, and every woman had a child at her back
except one, who was quite a young woman, and very
good looking.”

How sad a tale is now told of the natives! Not
nineteen out of twenty women can now exhibit an
infant. Not one out of twenty? Not one out of a much
larger number!

e explorer brought the ladies to the depét of the
arty, and gave them handkerchiefs, bead necklaces,
ooking glasses, and sweet sugar and apples. Asagallant

man he a word more about the apparently unappro-

a
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priated maiden :—* The young woman whom I have
spoken of before, gave me a very handsome basket of her
own make.,” Thirty miles finished this ramble, the
next morning he was off again on his journey, hoping
to fall in with the savage lords of his female friends. -
His curiosity was attracted by the skeleton of a curious
animal, which he resolves to save “for a learned gentle-
man _to study over on my return to Van Diemen’s
Land.” Again he traverses rich and almost treeless
plains ; he ascends Mounts Cottrell and Connelly to see
the country round. He saw the smoke of native fires
under one of these hills, and makes up his mind to a
long ramble inland, meeting the vessel again at the head
of the bay.

On Tuesday, June 2, he approached what, from its
description, may be supposed to be the site of Williams-
town, and prepared for a run up the Saltwater river.
The next da ﬁe is off on his expedition with some of
his Sydney blacks. Walking many miles and wanting
fresh water, Gumm manages to find some by digging a
little well with a stick, On Thursday morning, Batman
names Mounts Wedge and Sams, after two others of
the Association. Again he cries out, “ Most beautiful
pasturage I ever saw in my life.” He sees marsh-
mallows with leaves as big as ca‘bbqﬁe leaves, and as
high as his head. He traverses the Keilor plains and
drinks of the Deep Creek, and calculates he has been
thirty miles that day.

Friday finds him taking a west-north-west direction,
crossing more creeks, one of which he calls after his
wife Eliza. Smoke is seen to the eastward, and he
travels round to it.

The 6th of June has arrived, and they started at last
with the expectation of coming up with the natives.
They were alongside Merri Creek—called Lucy after
Batman’s daughter. And now comes the interesting
entry about the wild man :—

“ We walked about eight miles when we fell in with
the tracks of the natives,and shortly after came up with
a family—one chief, his wife, and three children. I

ave h#m a pair of blankets, handkerchiefs, beads, and
‘Ell'ee knives. He then went on with us, and crossed a
freshwater creek. The land on each side excellent. He



THE FOUNDER OF VICTORIA. 19

took us on, saymg he would take us to the tribe, and
mentioned the names of chiefs. 'We walked about eight
miles, when, to our rise, we heard several voices
calling after us. On looking back we saw eight men,
all armed with spears, &c. When we stopped théy
threw aside their weapons, and eame very friendly up
to us. After shaking hands, and my giving them
tomahawks, knives, &c., they took us with them, about
a mile back, where we found their huts, women, and
children.”

It was here, on the banks of the Merri, or Lucy
Creek, about the site of Northeote, and overlooking the
adjacent lands of Collingwood Flat, that he made his
memorable treaty with the aborigines, to which we shall
hereafter refer.

Leaving Batman’s Creek, called “ after my own good
self,” and the kind-hearted chiefs with whom he had
made his treaty, he passed along Maria's valley, named
after his eldest daughter, and reached a forest. This,
from the description, must be what we now call the
Royal Park, by the University of Melbourne. “A
forest,” he says, “ thinly timbered with gum, wattle,
and sheoak. 'The land, for the first time, was rather
sandy, with a little gravel.” He had, in fact, left the
rich soil on -the basaltic rocks, and now walked on
one of the palmozoic hills forming Melbourne east,
Melbourne west, Fitzroy Hill, Carlton Hill, Richmond
Hill, Northcote, and University Hill. Anxious to get
to his vessel, lying at the mouth of the Saltwater
River, he found as he descended from the high land
of North Melbourne that he would have to cross what
is now known as Batman's Swamp. This being an
additional proof of his having seen and visited the site
of Melbourne five months before Mr., Fawkner came,
the i’aurnal story must be cited :—

] crdssed, on the banks of the river, a large marsh
about one mile and a-half wide, by three or four miles
long, of the richest description of soil—not a tree. When
we got on the marsh the quails befan to fly, and I
think, at one time, I can safely say I saw a thousand
quail flying at one tim uite a clond. I never saw
anything like it before. shot two large ones as I
walked along. At the upper end of the marsh is a

ca
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large lagoon. I should think, from the distance I saw,
that it was upwards of a mile across, and full of swans,
ducks, geese, &c. After crossing this marsh we passed
through a tea-tree scrub, very high and thick. We -
expected, on gefting through this, to make the vessel
in an hour or two, but, to our great surprise, when we

t through the scrub we found ourselves on a much
fﬂc;'ger river than the one we went up and had just
come down.” .

The scrub was that from below the Melbourne Gas
Company’s works, alongside the Yarra to Saltwater. We
discover from the journal that he followed the edge of
this Yarra to its junction with the river he had before
known—the Saltwater. Sending Bullet and Bungett

swimminiover to bring up the boat, he thus proceeds:
“ T was glad to see them, as we had got on the point a¢
the junction of the rivers, where the tide had now risen
up to our ankles.” He F)t safely on board, “ where,”
says he, “m{ travelling, I hope (on land) will cease for
some time, having done everything I could possibly
wish.” Not bad work either; for aﬁhaugh he gg:s not.
tell us every day’s work, he gives one day twenty miles,
and two or three days thirty each.

It was on Sunday, June 7th, that he walked along by
the Yarra. He determined to leave three white men,
Gumm, Dodd, and Thompson, with the three SLd!.‘ntg
natives, Bullett, Bungett, and Old Bull upon In
Head with three months' supply, while he returned to
Van Diemen’s Land. Taking with him, therefore, on
board, the Port Phillip presents of spears, wommeras,
boomerangs, and stone tomahawks, he tried to get
from the Williamstown waters. But the winds were
as unwilling for him to quit the land as they had been
for him to visit it. Too active to lose time, he took a
row up the Yarra. This is his story. .

“ The boat went up the large river I have spoken of,
which comes from the east, and I am glad to state,
about six miles up, found the river all good water, and

very deep. This will be the place for a village.”

astening back from the future Melbourne Wharf,
he landed at Indented Head on the Tuesday. All his
Sydney men wanted to stay, so he permitted Pigeon and
Joe the marine to remain with the rest, eight in all.
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They were directed to plant garden seeds, fruits and
tatoes. To show his faith in his work, he says: “I
eft apples and oranges with them, also the six dogs,
and gave Gumm written authority to put off any person
or persons that may trespass on the land Iphave
purchased from the natives.” Shakililf hands all round,
the sea party got through the Heads on Sunday
evening, ran eighty miles that night, and entered
George Town at six on the Thursday morning, * with
a fair wind up the 1'ive&"e’dto Launceston. i
Thus propitiously ended the vo; 80 inauspicious
n. pLiEa the 37]1(51‘1:)(35 of anc{:n.g: histary,phe ha.i
conquered the fates by his courage.

OFFICIAL CORRESPONDENCE OF
MR. BATMAN.

IMMEDIATELY upon the return of Mr. Batman with the
brave news of the new country, a consultation of the
associated friends took place, when it was resolved to
make a formal address to the Lieutenant-Governor of
Van Diemen’s Land, in the shaEe of a letter from Mr.
Batman. Again was the ready hand of Mr. Gellibrand
called into requisition, as can be detected in the flowing
diction of the following document, manufactured from
the explorer’s simple journal. It is dated a few days
after the return of the Rebecca.

Hobart Town, 25th June, 1835,
81r,—1I have the honour of reporting to your Excellency for
the information of His Majesty’s Government the result of an
expedition, undertaken at the expense and in con}:nction with
several gentlemen, inhabitants of Van Diemen’s Land, to Port
Phillip, on the south-western _poi.nt of New Holland, for the
e of forming an extensive pastoral establishment, and
comﬁining therewith the civilisation of the native tribes who
are living in that part of the country.

Before I enter into the details, I deem it necessary to state
for the information of Ilis Majesty’s Government, that I am a
native of New South Wales, and that for the last six years I
have been most actively employed in endeavouring to civilise
the aboriginal natives of Van Diemen’s Land; and in order to
enable the local Government of this eolon{ to carry that
jmportant object into full vffect, I procured from New South
Wales eleven aboriginal natives of New [lolland, who were,
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under my guidance, mainly instrumental in carrying into effect
the humane object of this Government towards the aborigines
of this island.

I also deem it necessary to state that I have been for many
years impressed with the opinion that a most advantageous
settlement might be formed at Western Port, or Port Phillip,
and that in 1827 Mr. J.T. Gellibrand and myself addressed a
joint letter to the colonial Government of New South Wales,
soliciting permission to occupy land at Port Phillip, with an
undertaking to export to that place stock to the valne of £5000,
and which was to be p'lacec{) for a certain number of years
under my personal direction and superintendence. This appli-
cation was not granted by the Sydney Government, because the
land was beyond the limits of that territory, and the cccupation
of Western Port had been altogether abandoned.

It occurred to myself and some of the gentlemen who are
associated with me, that inasmuch as the Sydney natives who
were living with me had become well acquainted with the
English lan and manners, and had uired habits of
industry ang agricultural pursuits, they might therefore be
considered partially civilised; and as the available lands in this
colony were occupled by flocks of sheep, and fully stocked, it
would be a favourable opportunity of opening a direct friendly
intercourse with the tribes in the neighbourhood of Port
Phillip, and by obtaining from them a grant of a portion of that
territory upon equitable _princ'rr]es, not on_l'y might the resonrces
of this co onye%e derably extended, but the object of
civilisation be established, and which in process of time would
lead to the civilisation of & large portion of the aborigines of
that extensive country.

In pursuance of arrangements based \B::gn these principles I
Fmeeded on the 12th {of May, 1835, in a vessel from
ton, ied by seven Sydney natives, and pro-
ceeded to Port Phillip, on the south-western extremity of New
Holland, where I landed on the 26th day of May.

On the evening of our arrival at Port Phillip, we saw the
native fires at the distance of about five milea; I then made my
arrangements for the purpose of opening an interview with the
natives by means of those under my charge. I equipped them
in their native dresses, and early in the morning we landed. I
desired the natives to proceed unarmed, and they ed me
a few hundred yards. When we had advanced within half-a-
mile we saw the native huts and smoke. Hti natives then

roceeded quietly up to the huts, ex ing that we should

the tribe asleep, but when they got to the huts it
appeared that the natives had fled a few hours previously,
leaving behind them some of their buckets and other articles.

I concluded from this that the natives had discerned the
vessel, and had quitted their huts through fear; and as I
t.hou,th it probable they might in consequence quit the coast
for a season, I determined immediately to put my natives upon
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the track, and, if possible, overtake them, and at once obtain
their confidence.

My natives followed the track, which appeared to have been
very circuitous, and after we had proceeded about ten miles we
at le saw & tribe consisting of twenty women and twenty-
four children.

My natives then made to them some of their friendly signals,
which it appeared were understood, and in the course of a few
minutes my natives joined the tribe, and after remaining with
them as I judged sufficient length of time to conciliate them
and explain my friendly disposition, I advanced alone and
joined them, and was introduced to them by my natives, two
of whom spoke nearly the same language, and 80 as to be
perfectly intelligible to them.

The two interpreters explained to them by my directions
that I had come in & vessel from the other shores to settle
amongst them and be upon friendly terms; that I was, although
a white, a countryman of theirs, and would protect them, and
I wished them to return with me to their Euts, where I had
left some presents for them.

After some couversation the whole party, women and
children, returned with me and my natives towards the huts
until they came within sight of the shore, they then stop
and hesitated in proceeding, and as I understood from the
interpreters were afraid I should take them by force and ill-use
them, as some of their tribe had been already ill-treated.

After the strongest assurances on my part of m{:iumrity
and friendly disposition, and that no harm should be done to
them, they proceeded to the huts, where I gave them a pair of
blankets each, tomahawks, knives, scissors, lookjnggn.l 8;
and I affixed, round the neck of each woman and child, a
necklace.

As soon as I had distributed the presents, they were informed
by the interpreters that they might depart and join their
fll'"iiends, and le‘ft them s;d proeo:g?;i tc}n]ln bogﬂ[:‘l h{i e v:l;:h
They appeared, hy my conduct tow em, hi grati
and exl-::nt.ed, andyahgwed by their manner that tia fullest
confidence existed.

On the next- and five following days I employed myself in
surveying the country, and although 1 saw several native fires,
I abstained from intruding upon them, leaving the interview I
had had with the women to have its full effect upon the tribes,
before I visited them again.

On the seventh day % roceeded towards the place where I
had seen the fires, and where I had reason to believe the tribes
were, and I sent my natives forward with the same instructions
as upon the first i We remained up the try
night and proceeded early the next morning, under the expect-
ation of meeting the tribes. After we had proceeded about
seven miles, we fell in with a native man, his wife, and three

i who received my natives with apparent cordiality,
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and informed them that the women to whom I had given the
presents, although belonging to another tribe, had communicated
to them the reception they met with from me.

I learned from this native where the chiefs of the tribe were
stationed, and also their names, and this man most readily
offered to act as our guide and take us at once to the spot. We
then proceeded with the man, his wife, and children, towards
the huta of the chiefs; but it appeared that the guide took us

st the spot where the chiefs were, and some of the children,

aving observed a white man, gave the alarm, and almost
immediately we found the tribe in our rear, advancing towards
us with spears and in a menacing position. My natives, with
the man, woman, and children, then called out to the tribe,
and tlLey immediately dropped their spears and other imple-
ments in the grass, and the two sable parties advanced towards
each other, and I shortly followed them.

Some conversation then took place between my natives and
the tribe. The object of my visit and intentions were then
explained to them, and the chiefs then pressed me to proceed
with them to see their wives and children, which is one of the
strongest demonstrations of peace and confidence. Upon my
assenting to this request, the chiefs then inquired of my inter-
preters whether I would allow them to take up their implements
of war, which I immediately assented to, and the principal
chief then gave me his best spear to carry, and 1 in return gave
him my gun.

We );.Een proceeded towards the huts, and when a short
distance from them, the chief called out to the women not to be
alarmed, and I was then introduced to the whole tribe,
consisting of upwards of twenty men; containing, altogsther,
fifty-five men, women, and children.

I joined this tribe about twelve o’clock, and staid with them
until about twelve o’clock the next day, during which time I
fully explained to them that the -object of visit was to
purchase from them a tract of their country, that 1 intended
to settle amongst them with my wife and seven daughters, and
that I intended to bring to the country sheep and cattle. I
also explained my wish to protect them in every way, to
employ them the same as my own natives, and also to cfot.ha
antr feed them, and I also proposed to pay them an annual
tribute as :f compensation i’tm-f ‘:.ll:ie nat;l;iclyxneni;:I of ;he land. 5

The chiefs appeared mos ¥ to comprehend my proposal
and much di ted with the ect of having me to live
amongst them. I then explained to them the boundaries of the
land which 1 wished to purchase, and which are defined by
hills, to which they have affixed native names: and the limits
of the land purchased by me are defined in the chart which I
have the honour of tr itting, taken from personal survey.

On the nexi day the chiefs proceeded with me to the
boundaries, and they marked, with their own native marks, the
trees at the corners of the boundaries, and they also gave me
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their own private mark, which is kept sacred by them, even so
much that the women are not allowed to see it.

After the boundaries had been thus marked and described, I
filled up as accurately as I could define it, the land agreed to be

urchased by me from the chiefs, and the deed, when thus
ed up, was most carefully read over and explained to them by
the two interpreters, so that they most fully comprehended its
urport and effect. T then filled up two other parts of the
ge;gn so a8 to make it in triplicate, and the three principal chiefs
and five of the subordinate chiefs then ted each of the
deeds, each part being separately read over, and they each
delivered to me a piece of the soil for the purpose of putting
me in possession thereof, I understanding that it was a form by
which they delivered to me the tract of land.

I have the honour of enclosing herewith a copy of each of
the deeds executed by the natives to me, which I confidently
trust will most clenrlz manifest that I have proceeded upon an
equitable prineigle, that my object has not been possession and
expulsion, or what is worse, extermination; jion an
civilisation, and the reservation of the annnal tribute to those
who are the real owners of the soil will afford evidence of the
sincerity of my professions in wishing to protect and civilise
these tribes of benighted but intelligent people, and I confidently
trust that the British Government will duly appreciate the
treaty which I have made with these tribes, ani will not in an
manner molest the arrangements which I have made, but that
shall receive the !up{ort and encouragement of not only the

Government, but that of the British Government in
carrying the objects into effect. \

I quitted Port Phillip on the 14th day of June, having parted
with the tribes in the most friendly and concilistory manner,
leaving five of my natives and three white men to commence a
garden near the harbour, and to erect a house for my temporary
occupation, on my return with my wife and family.

I arrived at Launceston after a passage of thirty-six hours,
which will at once show the geographical advantages of this
territory to Van Diemen’s Land; and in a few years, I have no
hesitation in affirming, from the nature of the soil, that the
exports of wool and meat to Van Diemen's Land will form a
considerable feature in ite commercial relations.

T traversed the country in opposite directions about fifty
miles, and having had much experience in lands and grazing in
New South Wales, and in this colony, I have no hesitation in
asserting that the general character of the country is decidedl
superior t0 any which I have ever seen. It is interspersed wi
fine rivers and creeks, and the Downe were extended on every
side as far us the eye could reach, thickly covered with grass of
the finest description, and contaning an almost indescribable
extent of fine land fit for any purposes.

I have finally to report that the following are the gentlemen
who are associated with me in the colonisation at Port Phillip,
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many of whom will reside with their establishment at Port
Phillip, and all of whom are prepared, and intend immediatel
to export stock, which will be under my general guidance an
immediate superintendence :—

C. SwansTON, J. T. GELLIBRAND,
JaMEs SiMPsoN, , — M‘ARTHUR,

J. AND W. RoBERTSON, | J. SiNCLAIR,

T. H. Wepaz, A. CoTTERELL,

J. T. Corvricorr, M. CowoLry,

W. G. Bams, GEo. MERCER.

TroMAS BANNISTER,

The quantity of stock exported this year will be at the least
20,000 breeding ewes; and one of the leading stipulations will
be, that none but married men of good character, with their
families, will be sent either as overseers or servants, so that by
no ibility any personal injury shall be offered to the natives
or their families; and it is also intended for the purpose of pre-
serving due order and monl.ity that a minister or catechist
shall be attached to the establishment at the expense of the
association.

The chiefs, to manifest their friendly feeling towards me
insi upon my receiving from them two native cloaks an
several baskets made by the woman, and also some of their
implements of defence, which I b:g to transmit.

he women genenlldy are clothed with cloaks of a description
somewhat similar, and they oertninl{‘:ppear to me to be of &
superior race to any natives whom I have ever seen.
T have the honor, &ec.,
BATMAN.

‘When the Proclamation of the New South Wales
Governor-General Bourke thundered forth its dis-
approval of the settlement, in spite of the appeal of
the deputation of contemplated settlers, the Tasmanian
Association bravely contended for their rights, and
Mr. Batman was advised to write to Governor Arthur,
of Van Diemen’s Land, who had long been personally
favourable to him, to enlist his sympathy, by showing
more definitely the views of the Company. This was
the communication :

Launceston, October 23, 1835.
S1R,—I had the honour in the month of July last of trans-
mitting you a report of my proceedings at Port Phillip, for the
purpose of effecting an amicable settlement with the natives of
that part of New ﬁolbmd, and of the treaty concluded by me
for the occupation of a certain tract of country under a certain
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annual tribute, and to be used for pa m'&oeeuandm
that report 1 mmmumua.ted to your Exeellenc e names of
the gentl who are ted with me in form: the settle-

ment. At that time it was considered by the mem of the
association that the territory in question was beyond the juris-
diction of his Excellency the Governor of New South Wales,
and the report was therefore addressed to your Excellency for
the pw of being transmitted to tha Bntmh Government,
under the expectation of the Crown confirming the land thus
ceded upon such terms as mlght. u.ppm equitable md u.st and
for that purpose full instr t: by the
gnnt.lemen of the association to mponmble agents in London
“i)resant their interests with the British Government, and
fil such conditions as they might agree with the Crown
for a full confirmation or grant of the territory in question;
but as it now appears, by the Governor-in-Chief’s pmc%matmn,
that his Excellency exercises jurisdiction over the territory
question as part of New South Wales, I have the honour to
solicit that you will be pleased to fully inform his Excellency
General Bourke of the proposed plans of the association, their
ity to carry them into execution, and the Emmples under
which they wish to establish a colony at Port I have
the honour to inform your Excellency that the aanoclahon does
not possess any oomm\lmty of interests, but the stock will be
the separate propert pn.r:E shipping, and be
upon separate estabhshments, and that as soon as the pleasure
the British Goverment is knowu with regard to the terms
upon which the terri granted that a division of the
lands will then be formaﬁ(y made and from that period each party
will have a separated and distinct permanent establishment,
furma.h a proportion of quit rent or tribute payable for the
same, and also of other expenses which will be necessarily im-
posed i Ln carrying the objects of civilisation into effect.

The parties have engaged two ships for the transmission of
stock and mpﬁlm, and in the course of six months they will
have property there to the value of £25,000 at least, and there
can be little doubt that in a very short space of time a colon tg
of great im ce not only to the mother country but to bo
colonies will be established,

The association has already felt some inconvenience by indi-
viduals who have recently quitted the port of Launceston,
in defiance of our occupation of the land from the nah\fea have
fixed themselves onipart of the territory, and serious a prehen-
sions are entertained that they will materially check if not
destroy the principles of civilisation unless controlled by com-
petent authority, and I am therefore requested most respectfully
to suggest the riety of pro'fer authority being given to
some individual for the pu bling the members of the
association to carry on the principle of colonisation and civilisa-
tmn until ths leasure of tﬁe Bntlsh Government may be com-

maturer plans be adopted ; and I am authorised
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to add, that the members of the associntion will most cheerfully
defray such portion of the expenses attendant on the measure as
the local government may consider fair and reasonable. I pro-
pose immediately to proceed with my family to Port Phillip, to
take, with Mr. Wedge, the direction of the affairs of the associa-
tion and the arrangements with the native tribes, and aa the
vessel will be engaged for the next six months in carrying
stock to Port Phillip, the association will be hap]!l-y to carry
into effect any arrangements for building for such persons as
the Government may think fit to send. I have the honour of
reporting the progress made by the association since July last
with the native tribes from that period up to the commencement
of this month, when Mr. Wedge left Port Phiﬂis‘ The intér-
course has Peen kept up upon the most friendly terms, and
from eighty to a hundred natives have been clothed and supplied
with daily rations at the expense of the association. The
natives’ have been partially occupied in habita of industry,
and I have not the least hesitation in affirming that, if no
unforeseen obstacles occur, a gradual system of civilisation will
obtain,

In the report the association communicated their intention
of engaging a surgeon and catechist. This pledge has Leen
realised, and Dr. Thomson proceeds with me to execute the

duties.
(Signed) J. BATMAN.,
To his Excellency Govérnor Arthur,

There is yet one more letter written by Mr. Batman,
on the occasion of his return from Port Phillip on
another occasion. Through the courtesy of Mr. Sams,
of Launceston, I have been furnished with a copy. It
is directed to Mr. Montague, then Colonial-Secretary of
the island, and in the same position upon my arrival in
Hobart Town. The simple brevity marks it as the
work of honest John himself, without the help of his
legal friend.

Launceston, 30th November, 1835.

S1r,—T beg to aequaint you, for the information of his Excel-
lency the Lieutenant-Governor, that on Thursday last T arrived
at George Town, in the barque Norva/, from Port Phillip, after a

sage of about thirty hours (the same space of time having

en occupied in my passage there.) On my arrival at the
station of the Association on Indented Ilead, where only two
white men with two Sydney natives are now staying, I was
hsspy to find that a most friendly feeling existsd between them
and the aborigines, between sixty and seventy of whom were
also there, in proof of which feeling I need only acquaint your
Excellency that my party had been for many days withoug
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rations; but, by the kindness of the friendly natives, had been
well supplied with the roots on which they chiefly subsist, and
which my people assured me they found nutritious and agree-
able. It is gratifying to know that should supplies at any time
fail, nature has provided that which will secure them from
want. I then proceeded to the north-east of the port
where the settlement is formed, where I landed the cattle and
sheep, and found everything progressing in a way beyond my
most sanguine expectations; so favourable arethe soil and climate
to vegetation that we found the people well supplied with vege-
tables of the finest growth and quality, the produce of seeds
sown only about ten weeks before, and they were able to supply
the ship with potatoes and a variety of other vegetables for our
return voyage. The wheat was looking most luxuriant, the .
people all well satisfied, and not one wishing to return. The
country affords them an abundant supply of fish and wild fowl,
and as regards the stock, all which were taken there ten or
twelve weeks since had improved beyond description; and in-
credible as it may appear, the change for the better, which took
place in the condition of the stock taken down by me, during
the four or five days I remained, was so great that 1 must my-
gelf have witnessed it to have believed it. The intercourse with
the natives had gone on well. Once since our establishment as
many as 400 natives were assembled for the £}1£rpoae of settling
someancient quarrel ; and, although so many different tribea were
-collected together, uniform good will was shown by all of them
towards the wirite people, and the dispute they had met to
séttle ended without any more unfortunate result than a slight
wound in the arm, which one of them received. Shortly after,
270 of them left the settlement, and were at their own request
ferried across the river in our whale-boat. Here I cannot
refrain expressing my thankfulness to that good Providence
which threw ‘‘ Buckley” in our way, for certainly he has been
the medium of successfully establishing between us and the
natives an understanding, which, without his assistance, could
never have been effected to the extent it has been, and which
now leaves no room to doubt the most beneficial results in proof
of the present favourable state of intercourse with them. I
may mention that for the trifling gratuity of a piece of bread
they are always ready to perform any useful service as far as
their ability will go. During my stay there Buckley explained
to the several chiefs our motives and intentions in settling
amongst them and the consequences which might arise from
any aggression on their part. He also explained that any ill-
treatment on the part of white men towards them, if reported
to the heads of the establishment, would meet with its proper
punishment., With this “nde“tm‘ﬁ%ey wure perfectly well
leased, and promisged to act in con! ity with it. In fact,
rlowever sanguine I may previously have been as to the com-
plete success of the undertaking, I feel now infinite reason to be
much more #0; and doubt not but the settlement now formed
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will be useful, not only to all immediately concerned, but to the
mother country as well as to this eolong‘.’
I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your obedient Servant,
(Signed) JOHN BATMAN.
[John Montagu, Esq., Colonial Secretary.]

P.8.—1 take the liberty to forward through the Commandant
& portrait of ** Buckley,” which I consider to be a very correct
likeness.—J.B.

Unlike his rival, Mr. Batman was not given to news-
paper writing, or we might have been more favoured
with his views. He was essentially a man of action,
and not of speech.

These three letters throw much light upon the trans-
actions of the period, and the character of the man. He
was no hypocrite in his profession of interest in the
natives. {'Fwa had had more of the Batman spirit of
justice and benevolence the national conscience would

ve been more pure and peaceful.

WHAT THE PRESS SAID OF MR. BATMAN'S
VISIT.

IMMEDIATELY after the return of the Rebecca the
excitement was great in the quiet little island. The
Cornwall Chronicle of Launceston was the first to give
particulars of the visit. No mystery was made of the
proceedings, and there was no necessity for Mr. Fawk-
ner to have “put a man” upon Mr. Batman, The
subjoined article appeared as early as June 13th, 1835:—

“The Tasmanian Penn, Mr. Batman, arrived yester-
day from Port Phillip, and reached his own home from
thence within little more than forty-eight hours. We
are informed that he has purchased from a tribe of
natives about 500,000 acres of land, taking his boun-
daries from a short distance in the rear of Port Phillip.
Almost immediately after landing Mr. Batman fell i
with a tribe of forty, who at first evinced a disposition to
oppose him, but after a short parley the natives he had
with him effected an understanding, and he was received
by them with open arms, and every manifestation of
good feeling.



THE FOUNDER OF VICTORIA. 31

“The peaceable disposition shown on the part of
the holders of the new country enabled Mr. Batman
to execute the object of his visit effectually and speedily.
A fine, athletic fellow—the chief of the tribe—after
being made acquainted with Mr. Batman’s wish to
P ase land, and his means to pay for it, proceeded
with him and his party, accompanied by his tribe, to
measure it off. At each corner boundary the chief
marked a tree, and tabooed it, and at the same time
explained to his tribe the nature of the treaty, and the

itive necessity on their part to observe it inviolable.
r. Batman was provided with deeds in triplicate, the
nature of which he explained to the chief as the fashion
upon such an occasion in white man’s country, who
readily signed them, and received one to preserve. The
payment of the land in part consisted of 100 blankets,
tomahawks, knives, flour, &c.; and it was mutually
agreed, that a certain quantity of clothing and arms
were to be paid each year, the amount of them about
£200 sterling. Mr. Batman reached the hill marked
out by Mr. Hume on his expedition with Howell, and
from his outer boundary he saw an immense tract o
open country. He describes the whole of the land he
noticed as being well watered and luxuriant in kangaroo
rass,and so lightly timbered and level that—to use Mr,

atman’s own expression—a horse might run away with a
ig for twenty miles on end without fear of upsetting
om irregularity of the ground.

“We regret that our limits prevent us stating more
fully the particulars of Mr. Batman’s interesting expe-
pedition.”

On the same day, June 13, is a quizzing letter,
addressed to the editor, and signed “qua.ng cawee,”
commencing—

“ 8ir,—1 am happy to inform you that the schooner
has arrived safe from Port Phillip, on the opposite side
of the straits. Mr. Batman has left Mr. Pigeon, com-
mander of the Sydney blacks (who acted under Black
Robinson in catching ti’:e blacks here,) in possession of
the territory, amounting to two millions of acres, which
he purchased from one of the natives. The site of
a township has been marked off, to be called ‘ Batmania,’
at the head of Port Phillip, well supplied with a running
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stream of fresh water. I have not time to add another
line, but I will give you further particulars in my next.”

The Hobart Town Courier of the 26th of June has
an article upon the matter, which, while having a flin
at the romance of the transaction, admits the facts, an
is prompt in acknowledgment of Mr. Batman's efforts:—

“The return of Mr. Batman from his expedition to
Port Phillip with the favourable result of his interview
with the aborigines there, has, we learn, induced above
a dozen of our wealthy and influential capitalists, both
here and at Launceston, to join him in the enterprise.
So far as placing sheep on this fine pastoral country,
and bringing it for the first time into a productive state,
and of which this colony will mainly reap the benefit,
we cannot but applaud the measure. The spirited
individuals who embark in it will not only explore and
bring out the resources of a hitherto almost unknown
country, but the compact which Mr. Batman has so
wisely made with the original owners of the soil must,
to a great extent, if fairly observed by the whites, have
the most happy effect in maintaining an amicable inter-
course between the graziers and their black associates.
Happy had it been for Van Diemen’s Land if the same
step Ead been taken with the aborigines on its first
settlement by the English.”

The Rev. Dr. Lang, in spite of his ridicule afterwards of
the trea.ltf, was much struck at the effect of Mr. Batman's
visit. Here is his account in the Port Phillip History.

“ Mr. Batman's report as to the capabilities of Port
Phillip as a grazing country was in the highest degree
favourable; and that report having been subsequently
confirmed by the testimony of other credible witnesses,
who were afterwards sent across from Van Diemen’s
Land on his track, the result was as if the whole colon
of Van Diemen's Land had been suddenly electrified.
I happened to visit that island, on & clerical tour from
New South Wales, in the months of October and
November, 1835, when the excitement was at its height,
and, on traversing the island to and fro between Hobart
Town and Launcesten, I found almost every respectable
person I met with—either individually or in the person
of some near relative or confidential agent—anxious to
occupy the Australian El Dorado.”
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This conclusive testimony from the historian of New
South Wales and Port Phillip ought to satisfy us as to
the debt owing to Mr. Batman, for at the time of the
worthy doctor seeing this excitement from the report
of our explorer Mr. Fawkner had not even seen the
Yarra. Who then is the founder of the colony ?

MR. FAWKNER'S NARRATIVE.

HaviNg heard the Hon. J. P. Fawkner deliver his
celebrated lecture upon “the Reminiscences of Port
Phillip,” the same as he has been delivering at various
places for the last four years, I would repeat the leading
features brought for therein, without, for the present,
commenting upon them.

It would interest some not favoured with a personal
knowledge of the man, to have a description of his
appearance. He is small of stature, and extremely
attenuated in form. Bowed with years, oppressed
with a cough, with a few white hairs droopin,
beneath his skull cap, he has that aspect of feebleness
and age which commands at once the reverential respect
of the spectator, and the patient attention of the listener
to his weak and struggling speech. It is only when
some remembrance of ancient wrongs comes up, or the
narrative runs into the personal of his former rivals,
that his dull eye quickens into something of its olden
flash of fire, and his voice rises as if to emulate the vehe-
mence which marked his early oratory. The infirmities
of a frame in its seventy-fifth year soon reduce his
enthusiasm, and lower his tone to whispering weakness.
The distressing cough which Yollows jncreases the sym-
pathy of his auditors, and ears are brought forward with
more watchful care to catch the notes, so precious as
they seem.

part from the interest of such a man telling his tale
of our new-born history, there is much in Mr. Fawkner
to excite the wonder and pleasure of the thoughtful
observer. Without scholastic instruction, without moral
direction, without hallowing communion, exposed to the
worst of influences, associated in poverty with the de-
gradation of vicious penury, a workmate of convicts, a

D
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sawyer in forests infested with blood-seeking savages,
and subjected to the scorn and injustice of rampant
political despotism, he bears with rises through all,
torn with the struggle, and begrimed in the fight, but
a man still with 2 man's heart—a Carlyle hero in his
somewhat unscrupulous roughness and vital tenacity of
self, till he stands before us now a legislator in the senate
of Victoria, one of means as well as position, a hard
worker for the elevation of the masses, the owner of a
noble library, and a friend of mechanics’ institutes,
churches, and schools.

But to his story, as he gave it. Telling us of the
origin of the Port Phillip expedition, he introduced
his voyage with his father, mother, and sister. The
little fleet called in for grovisions at Cape Town, then
in the possession of Holland. The Dutch Governor
requested them to surrender. Captain Woodruff, puttin
his frigate in order, returned for answer, “ Come an:
take us.” The pacific commander, who preferred his
uiet pipe to the trumpet of war, finding that the
%n lish did not care about becoming involuntary Cape
settlers, permitted the headstrong people to have their
own way. So, after procuring supplies, the party sailed
off. The day after reaching Port Phillip the young
emigrant attained his eleventh year. On the abandon-
ment of the location, the Fawkner family suffered much
on their month’s voyage from the Port Phillip Heads
to the Tasmanian Derwent.

Passing over nearlty thirty years of his life, he intro-
duced the question of our colony. The desire of some
to turn Van Diemen’s Land into a large squatter’s run,
by the passing of the Im ding Act, was the imme-
diate cause, he told us, of his taking up the project of a

or man’s country elsewhere. He resolved to recolonise

is olden home of Port Phillip, and make it free for
working men. Having seen, on Captain Sturt’s map,
the route of Messrs. Hume and Howell to Geelong, wit
indications of the Yarra, he determined to make that
river the scene of his labours.

Wishing to make a tour of inspection, he sought a
passage across the straits by one of Mr. Henty’s vessels
going to Portland Bay. Failing in this, he bought the
schooner Enterprise for his purpose. The non-arrival
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of the craft from Sydney delayed his trip, and gave
time for Mr. Batman to be first in the field. He then
tried to make friends with the latter, but he refused to
admit him into the Association he had formed. Unable,
from sea sickness, to proceed with the Enterprise on
her first voyage, Mr. Fawkner says he gave the party
directions when they went off to Western Port. Sub-
sequently, towards the end of October, 1835, he became
a settler on the banks of the Yarra, near where the
Custom House now is. He refers with pride to the first
crop of wheat raised by his men, and in the con-
sciousness of how much the Port Phillippians owe
him, exclaimed, ** The country is something indebted
to me.”

He was very merry upon the subject of Batman's
treaty with the aborigines, and observed that he knew
all a.gout the transaction, for he had * put a man upon
him.” The lecrurer assured his audience that he came
here to prevent this country being a squatting station.
When he arrived within the bay he went ashore at the
old place by Point Nepean, and there he saw the re-
mains of chimneys erected in 1803, with casks fixed
in the sand to obtain water.

Reaching the Yarra he discovered that his two men,
whom he had sent two months before, had enclosed ten
acres of land, and obtained a very promising crop.
Though the new comers had been compelled to cross the
river for awhile, they were able to make peace with
Henry Batman, then in charge for his brother, by the
timely present of some gin, a fair stock of which had
been forwarded by the Launceston publican. A wonder-
ful story was told of a supposed attack of the natives,
when the lecturer gave a vivid deseription of his’ own
warlike preparations, and his shot into a tree near the
mob, which frightened them off. Then he had some-
thing to say of Mr. Wedge, and much about Mr. Bat-
man. He assured the young people present that both
brothers were dissipated men, and he enlightened them
upon the practices of one in sach language as to cause
a general titter along the lines of crinoline. As upon
his previous allusions to the first Governor’s exploits
with the wives of other people, and the first chaplain
doing ditto, much merriment was manifested. He then

i
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added, “ Where are the Batmans now? All vanished
from the face of the earth.”

‘The lecture was a rambling one in its incidents, with
a running commentary upon colonial history. .

ORIGIN OF MR. FAWKNER'S COLONISATION.

THE first settlement of this country was not done in a
corner. No secret conclave met to develop the design.
When, asearly as 1827, official letters had been written,
and a specific offer upon certain conditions made to the
Sydney Governor, by Messrs. Gellibrand and Batman,
the merits of the case had been well discussed. I have
been informed by several parties of various schemes
attempted to be floated relative to the Port Phillip pas-
tures. The one thing that frightened the Tasmanian
colonists from the venture was the knowledge, procured
from sealers and others, that the land was populous
with natives. The long and bloody war between the
settlers and the blacks in the little island had given the
former a wholesome dread of savage conflicts. Few
doubted the story of the green Jlﬂstures, but all seemed
to pause before a venture with flocks in a lone country,
without governmental ‘Bl_ftectiou, and with exposure to
blood-thirsty tribes. en the Messrs. Henty boldly
planted a whaling station at Portland Bay, in 1834,
others began to talk more resolutely.

Need it be wondered, then, that so restless and enter-

rising a man as the landlord of the Cornwall Hotel, of
unceston, should catch the Port Phillip fever, and be
foremost in the plot of colonisation.

In 1853, Mr. Fawkner gives this account of the
movement :—

“Early in_the year 1835, the writer of these pages
had arranged in his own mind a plan of colonisation for
Port Phillip, and to enable him to make good his scheme,
five residents of Launcestou were taken into his con-
fidence. 'What strange events are brought about
by small means, and from what a mixed society of
honourable men was this project carried into operation.
The ¢olonisers were six in number:—One ex-editor
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of the Launceston .Advertiser, John Pascoe Fawkner;
one architect and builder ; -two cabinetmakers and
builders; one plasterer, and one captaid in the mer-
chant service. The most of them possessing at least a
fair average share of common sense,and no little activity.
Each of them brought with them some capital in cash
or stock, and a vast amount of the very best of capi-
tal, that without which no new colony can get on
well, viz., hands used to work, and m.ind‘; resolved to
labour. J. P. Fawkner, in order to ensure the necessary
means of transit to and from Port Phillip and Launces-
ton, bought of Mr. John Anderson Brown the schooner
Enterprise, of about 55 tons burthen. But Mr. B.’s
agent had employed this vessel, which had been sent to
fetch coals from Newcastle, in the regular coal trade
between Sydney and the coal mines of Newcastle, and
thus the settlement of Port Phillip was retarded some
weeks.”

In 1862, he again claims to the merit of the company
in saying, “ During March and April I searched out and
found five persons in Launceston willing to venture
across with me as their guide. Their names and occu-
pations were as follows :— 1st, John Lancey, pilot, had
commanded one of the colonial vessels; 2nd, Robert
Hay Marr, carpenter and builder ; 3rd, Samuel Jackson,
architect and builder; 4th, William Jackson, also a car-
penter; and 5th, George Evans, plasterer. As soon as
these men had agreed to join me,I desired my broker,
Mr. John Charles Underwood, of Launceston, to pur-
chase for me a vessel,” &c.

‘When I heard him a few weeks ago give an account
of his adventures, before a public audience, he wished to
impress upon them this great fact, that he had always
been an enemy of the squatters, and that it was because
he saw the danger of this fine country being converted
by the Tasmanian squatters into & sheep walk, he
forthwith organised a party of working men to thwart
the intentions of the aristocracy of Van Liemen’s Land,
and so established here a free colony. Certainly, the

sons selected—four mechanics, a pilot, and a pub-
ican—were hardly sufficient to upset the project. Seve-
ral of these, too, intended to do the very thing they were
supposed to be formed to prevent—going squatting.
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There was this difference, however, between the parties ;
the gentlemen squatters were not going to seize the
lands without®s recognition of the claims of others,
having treated the natives honourably, and having
sought without avail the sanction of Government. On
the other hand, Mr. Fawkner's party were going to rush
the country, use what they chose, do what they pleased
with it, without the acknowledgment of any right but
that of force.

One of the so-called party of anti-squatters, Mr. Evans,
assured me that he went with the avowed intention to
run sheep. Out of the six who sought to oppose squat-
terdom, one died esriy at sea, and four at least, including
My, Fawk e squatiers.

But let us have another glance at this Launceston
company. By the general tenor of Mr. Fawkner's
remarks, it will appear to have been a co-operative asso-
ciation. Elsewhere he speaks of all others as his under-
lings; and even implies that they were his servants.
Incautiously writing about Mr. George Evans, his
daughter tiu.s indignantly denies the slander in the
newspaper of the day, 1863 :—* My father came here on
his own resources. He paid his own passage, and that
df his servant, Evan Evans. He was in every way betfer
able to emp!oy Mr. Fawkner than Mr. Fawkner him.”
Mr. Evans denies the fact of the association altogether.
The vessel was the pnvabe pmperty of Mr. Fawkner,
and the others Jm passage for themselves and goods.
There is no evidence that they ever did anything as a
company. FEach did as he pleased, and went where he
would. In fact, Mr. Fawkner elsewhere admits that he
had two servants, who broke up some land for him
before he came over. After very careful examination
of authorities, I can find no proof of the existence of any
such organisation. It is true that published testimony
at a very early date sanctions this tradition, for Mr.
Arden, in his historical sketch, in 1843, mentionsit. * It
seems,” says he,  that the success of Mr. Batman qmckly
raised up imitators of his scheme; for, as soon as
report reached Launceston, Mr. J. P. Fawkner, a party
well known as the landlord of the Cornwall Hotel, in
Launceston, organised a second company.” But this
witness will not be acceptable to our ancient colonist ;
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and the witness and aets of the supposed members mili-
tate against the theory.

There is another to introduce into the box to give
evidence—no less & person than John Batman himself.
In a remarkable letter, the original of which is now
lying before me, there is another and more extended
version of this * Association of Six.” The letter is
addressed to Mr. John Helder Wedge, and was written
' not many days after his return from his first visit to

Port Phi 'p,ﬁing dated June 18th, 1835. This is the
reference:— :

“ When in Launceston I had the honour of a call
from John Faulkner, Esq., who said he was only
waiting the return of the ship from Sydng, which he
expected hourly, and a great deal more. He wished to
be on good terms with us, and would not in any way
interfere with us, and hoped we should act in the same
way toward him—that was, that we would not encourage
his servants, &e. He offered to take anything I wished
down there, or any person. He further told me he had
fourteen families altogether going down with him, and
the rules, &c. &e. all drawn up and signed them
that each party would take five to 700 pounds with
]tlhem. Wl;;t t{ink you 31‘ a‘.g thls;v For m r% a8

e goes to the opposite side (Point Nepean, ink it
all the better forI') Puzs,l the m(Ere the better.” )'

How the fourteen jfamilies of June fell to six indivi-
duals in August, we know not. One thing is very
clear from this , that Mr. Fawkner then entertained
no such horror of Mr. Batman and his squatting asso-
ciation as he afterwards affected to feel. Curiously
enough, this attempted fraternisation referred to in the
letter is substantiated in a ing remark by Mr.
Fawkner, that he rode over to Ben Lomond to see Mr.
Batman, and asked to be admitted a member of his
party, but was refused. What, then, becomes of the
virtuous ground of his association, and his own heroism in
the cause of the poor man in opposition to squatterdom ?

In a public meeting I ]uaﬂ.rtlJ that gentleman go further
back into the causes prompting his foundation of the
colony. The “ Impounding Act” of Van Diemen’s Land
E'reaaed very haml?l‘;r upon the small herdsman, hereto-

e running a few cows on unenclosed public grounds
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without payment. By that act, and the subsequent
seizure of stock, a great reduction in the value of-
animals took place, to the loss of the poor and gain of
the rich. This, said Mr. Fawkner, made him resolve to
establish a colony where the rights of the poor should
be regarded.

But having had to question the strict aceuracy of
Mr. Fawkner's written statements, it is with sincere
satisfaction that I am enabled to support one part of his
story, so often questioned by others. Mr. Arden is only
one of many attributing Mr. Fawkner’s presence wholly
to the report of Mr. Batman. Even Mr. Evans would
" sanction such an interpretation. But as the historian

of the era in question, I feel quite convinced that Mr.
Fawkner had privately resolved to get up a movement
for the new place, and had made arrangements accord-
ingly, before the passage of the founder of the colony—
Mr. John Batman. ough quite agreeing with Cap-
tain Robson and others, that Mr. Batman paved the way
for Mr. Fawkne:, I can well believe that the latter's visit
was not wholly formed on the report to the Governor.
Here is evidence to the contrary. It is contained in the
Launceston Advertiser of May 21st, after the sailing of
the Rebecea, but before the return of Mr. Batman :—

“The Enterprise, daily expected from Sydney, will
be immediately laid on for New Holland, to convey an
exploring party of gentlemen to the ‘new country.’
Mr. Batman, with a number of attendants, including six
Sydney natives, that have some time resided here, left

eorge Town this week in a small vessel, commanded
bg r. J. P. Harwood, for the purpose of exploring part
of the same country.”

It may be true, as Mr. Newton, his old friend of the
early days, thus expresses it in his letter to me; “1I do
not think that Mr. Fawkner was induced to fit out his
exploring expedition fiom knowledge which may have
oozel out from Batman's followers—aboriginal or Euro-
pean—for 1 believe that in those days he knew from the
same' sources 28 Batman all that was to be known of
the country of Port Phillip, and that had circumstances
favoured him, he would probnb?' have been in Hobson’s

- Bay as soon as Batman, instead of being there a short
time after him.”
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WHERE DID MR. FAWKNER INTEND TO
SETTLE?

S0 much has been said of that gentleman in connec-
tion with the Yarra, that the public have been led to
believe that he came over expressly to form a settlement
upon this river. So often and so publicly has he derided
the idea of any other place being suitable for a colony,
and so often and so publicly asserted the claims of his
own party directly, and himself indirectly, for the first
and real re-discovery, for settlement purposes, of the
river, that it would appear absurd to suppose any
other site was entertained at all. But what says
history ?

Two ideas of place, and, apparently, two only, were
prominent in the mind of Mr. Fawkner :—the site of the
old settlement of 1803, just inside Point Nepean of Port
Phillip Heads, and that of the old settlement of 1826,
in Western Port. The first was abandoned in 1804,
after a few months’ trial ; and the other, attempted from
Sydney, was equally unsuccessful. Both were convict
colonies, under Government control.

It was natural that Mr. Fawkner, who accompanied
his father to Port Phillip in 1803, should like to revisit
the old spot. Doubtless a gleam of ambition stole across
his thoughts, that he might be the successful reviver of
a colony so ignominously deserted. No one could have
bestowed more ridicule and contempt upon an effort
than he upon this signal failure. He has shown up the
stupidity of the oﬂ?meia.l plans, the ignorance of the
country, the wilful negligence of the authorities, and
the cowardice of retirement. He has laughed at the
selection of barren sands and waterless wastes, and has
in plain terms asserted that the Governor acted thus to
obtain five hundred pounds’ compensation, to be given
him by Government if obliged to change his position.
He declares that Colonel Collins only staid long enough
to prove the unsuitableness of Port Phillip, and gain
information of the banks of the Derwent. And yet this
was the spot in the mind of the reputed Father of
Melbourne.

He knew, however, reasons for such a view. In the
first place he saw a powerful confederacy already esta-
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blishing itself on the western side of Port Phillip Bay,
from tﬁe Heads to the Yarra, with presumed vested
interests in the soil, and believed to be such by himself
at that time. This left the eastern side of the bay free
for any one, -

But there was another reason. The presence of
Arthur’s Seat, and mounts Martha and Eliza, gave a
guarantee of fresh water, the great desirability, and a
promise of tolerable land. Ihave heard Mr. Fawiner say
that he remembered, as a boy, that the first settlement got
timber from Arthur’s Seat, that the vessels watered at its
base, and that the report of good soil there was credited.
There was, therefore, nothing unreasonable in the selec-
tion of Point Nepean side for a colony.

Butin favour of Western Port there were even stronger
arguments. The Launceston men knew much of that
district from sealers, who, though not gifted with farming
observations, knew the virtue of fresh water, and appre-
" ciated the general look of a park-like country. Many

ears ago, my friend Captain Sinclair told me of Mr.
iffith’s ship Ellen, of Launceston, sealing in the Straits,
going into Western Port as early as 1825, and shooting
wild cattle there. The very abandonment of the settle-
ment, attempted in 1826, seemed rather favourable than
otherwise to fresh projects. Colonists have not much
faith in such governmental enterprises, and are ready to
believe that tgtt;ir failure arises less from the country’s
fault than the management.

There was yet another strong reason. Mr. Fawkner
knew that eight years before this Mr. Batman had
Mr. Gellibrand to join him in an application to
Sydney Government for permission to settle at Wes-
tern Port.  Although the government gave no
encouragement, and 519 prcolj&ct was abandoned, Mr.
Fawkner knew that so good a judge as Mr. Batman
was worth following. As, therefore, he followed in
his wake in coming to Port Phillip, he had intended
evidently to have carried out the shrewd Batman’s
plans about Western Port. The vessel, therefore, of
the Launceston six passed over to Western Port. Mr.
Fawkner’s account refers not merely to Western Port,
but to the Point Nepean side of our bay.”

“The Enterprise was conducted by Captain Hunter, as
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master of the vessel, along the southern channel, and the
men landed each day to examine the country from five
to ten miles inland, the vessel only mooring a short dis-
tance until they returned on boa.rg, and pushing a few
miles further by night, in order to examine new lands
the next day. No eligible spot was found on the east
side of Port Phillip Bay.”

This thoroughly coincides with the account given by
Mr. George Evans to me. It clearly proves that there
was no intention to come within the boundaries of the
Batman Association. Not until the party found them-
selves on the beautiful banks of the Yarre, after failing
everywhere else in finding good land and fresh water,
did they make up their minds to dare the rights of the
others, and seize what they could. But of all this reso-
lution, Mr. Fawkner was in utter ignorance, as he was
then in Launceston, believing his friends to be, perhaps,
in Western Port. For Mr. Arden, in his History of
Port Phillip, says :—* They first directed their course
to Western Port; but as the natives there were not
sufficiently obliging to meet the strangers and sell them
their right of property to the adjacent lands, and as the
country and port were not so inviting as was expected,
the Enterprise bore up for Port PhilEp.” Captain Rob-
son also mentions it in his story of the Enterprise :—
“She had been bound to Western Port to form a settle-
ment there, but went into Port Phillip instead. Mr.
Fawkner was not on board.”

But Mr. Fawkner himself, in 1853, gave so circum-
stantially a statement of this Western Port exploration
that it must be mentioned here:—

“Landingoneofhishorsesat George Town, John Pascoe
Fawkner proceeded overland to Launceston,and the En-
terprise passed over to Western Port. This Western Port
was to be carefully examined by a series of triangular
marches each day, the bay forming the base, and ten
mles or more was the distance they were to march inland,
returning from’ four to five miles further west, or nearer
the West Head, until the whole bay was examined.
They entered Western Port on Sat g. the 8th day
of j{u , and left it and passed into Port Phillip on
Saturday, the 15th day of August. After «carefully
examining the lands around Western Port, and giving
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them up as not likely to form a good site for any dense
population, the Enterprise pushed out of Western Port
on Saturday, the 15th of August.”

In 1862, he distinctly writes, “I put the land party -
and instructions under the charge of Captain J. Lancey,
one of the six associates, directing them to visit Western
Port first.” Mr. Evans assured me that he was about
the only one of the party able to form a judgment upon
the character of the country they surveyed. AEI;JE,
with the others, contemplatclzﬁomg sheep farming, that
which was looked for was good grass and fresh water.
These not being found, though he is perfectly ignorant
concerning the triangular marches of five or ten miles
inland, he counselled the movement westward to Port
Phillip, to the other proposed place—Point Nepean.

The ultimate choice of the Yarra was an accident of
the party, independent of Mr, Fawkner, unknown to
him, andy in opposition to his reputed instructions. He
]:ms not, at any rate, designedly the founder of Mel-

ourne.

MR. FAWKNER’S STORY OF MR. JOHN
HELDER WEDGE.

THESE two gentlemen are respectively honourable in
their own colonies—the one being a member of the
Victorian Council, and the other of the Tasmanian
Parliament. :

The attack upon Mr. Wedge was certainly unpro-
voked. He had never crossed the path of the Launces-
ton settler, but had really advocated a liberal and
manly course of treatment towards him. How fas,
after the lapse of many years, Mr. Fawkner drew upon
his imagination for the incidents to which he refers
so recently, it is not for the historian to discuss. At
the time of penning the slander the object of it was at
a distance, and was living, as he always had done, the
consistent life of an honest and educated English gentle-
man.

In 1853 he published the following :—

“On Wednesday, late in the evening, Mr, John

Helder Wedge, a Van Diemen’s Land surveyor, came to
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Melbourne, brought by the blacks in & whale-boat Mr.
Batman had left at Indented Head. Strange to say,
that, although he only came thirty miles and must
have known that he would have to return, he trusted
to our people’s hospitality to feed him there and find
him food for his return voyage, although he made the
trip inorder to warn off our party. He was also guilty
of something very like double dealing; he got into con-
versation with Captain Lancey, who had charge from
J. P. Fawkner of the direction of all matters on land
concerning the adventure. Pumping (as it is called)
him of all the occurrences of the trip, and stating-that
he was only out overlooking the country, that he was not
interested, &c. &e. Although he was one of the greedy
seventeen, he kept up his tone all the afternoon and the
next day, until he had got a supply of food wherewith
to return to the Indented Head, and then he changed
his tone, told Captain Lancey and the other colonists
that he had come expressl{utlo warn them off, as the
whole of the lands of Port Phillip had been bought and
paid for by him and his co-associates (and a pretty
medly lot they were) and finished by handing over to
Captain Lancey a written order for him and all his
party to leave their (the company’s) landed estate.
CaLFta.in Lancey handed the paper back to J. H. Wedge,
telling him he might want such a piece for some neces-
sary occasion, which would be the full worth of such a
notice, not forgetting to tell him of the change in his
story of the morning for the one at night, taunting him
with his two-faced dealing.”

In his “Reminiscences of Port Phillip,” delivered as
a lecture between 1862 and the present time, he went
into further particulars, and agreeably entertained his
audiences with another version of the story.

“ But Mr. J. H. Wedge, under a pretence of being
glad to see some fellow countrymen, obtained their
confidence by pretending he had nothing to do with
Batman or his co-partners. He thus wormed out the
plan of proceeding of our party, obtaining ample refresh-
ments for himself and boat’s crew; and, after stopping
one or more nights, upon going away, he handed to
Captain Lancey, as manager, a written notice. So!

I am that Captain Lancey did not retain it; it would
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have been a curiosity. Now, in this notice, he warned
our party off the land, claiming the whole country for
himself and brother squatters. Lancey’s reply was
more brusque than polite. He told him to take it with
him when next he had occasion for waste paper,
adding, ¢ You are no gentleman, whatever your claims
may be, for you distinctly lied to us yesterday. If
what this paper conveys 1s true, you distinctly stated
that you were not concerned in the company, obtained
food for the time, and a supply to enable you to return
to the Heads; and here you distinctly deny your
yesterday’s assertion, and after serving your turn of
want out of our resources, you order us off the waste
lands of this free country. Tell your confederates that
Jack Lancey and his %zrty treat your pretensions with
contempt; and now off, for fear your untruthful
conduct tempts us to give you the deserts your lying
tonﬁ: deserves.'”

"This elaborate and circumstantial account requires a
few observations. How strange it appears that Mr.
Lancey should be so ignorant of Mr. Wedge, or so
credulous of his tale, when he knew that the day before
the Enterprise sailed, one of the association ships went
out of the same harbour of Launceston, having on board
thereof Mr. Wedge, as the recognised surveyor, in
company with Mr. John Batman’s brother Henry, and
a fu?l complement of working men, &c. How strange,
too, that Mr. Fawkner should speak thus of one of Dglce
best-known members of that asa}:){ci.a;i‘on ].;11'1 squatters, to
oppose whose grasping policy, Mr. Fawkner says, was
hfs main object in gettl'Ir)lg up his own little opposition

Paﬁ. Fawkner, at the best, onl{ goes by hearsay. Let
us, then, take the word of one of the principals mn the
affair, Mr. Wedge himself. In one of his letters to me,
dated May 24, 1856, he thus calmly and gentlemanly
replies to Mr. Fawkner’s charges :—

“ They,” alluding to some documents forwarded to
me, “ will show the degree of credit that is to be
attached to that gentleman’s statement, that I had exhi-
bited a hostile feeling toward him. I should have
allowed it to pass for what it was worth without
notice, only that I think it due to the late Mr. Lancey
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to say that I experienced mothing from him but
politeness and civility, and no coarse expression of the
nature imputed to him by Mr. Fawkner was made use
2‘; tn my hearing; and from my recollection of Mr.
neey, 1 do not belicve that he was capable of such gross
vulgarity. .
“ Now that the subject is brought to my recollection,
I believe that I did, either by writing or verbally, com-
municate:to Mr. Lancey that he had encamped on a
gortion of the land ceded, or then auﬂpo&ed to have
een ceded, to the association to which I belonged by
Mr Batman's treaty with the natives; and, in doin
this, I believe that fexpresaed the hope that he woulﬁ
not interfere with us, and referred to the unoccupied
land on the opposite bank of the river, as affording
ample scope for the enterprise of “himself and party.
He took the communication in good part, and apparen {
assented to the propriety of my suggestion, and I thin
he said he would write to Mr. I‘Zawkner upon the subject.
I do not profess to state the precise words that were
made use of by me on the occasion; but I can and do
assert that in making the communication, it was with
no unfriendly feeling toward Mr. Fawkner and his
coadjutors.”
¢ Before I conclude these remarks, there is one subject
referred to by Mr. Fawkner which I will briefly advert
to. That gentleman, it seems, has stated that 1 came
down to warn them off, after seeing them come in; that
I feasted at their expense on the Yarra, got provisions
for my trip back, and then in a two-faced way turned
1'mmtf;r upon them, and ordered them off, &e. &c. What
I have already said respecting my interview with Mr.
Lancey will show the degree 0% credit due to Mr.
Fawkner’s statement in reference to what then occurred,
and I have no hesitation in saying that his assertion—
that I came down to warn them off, after seeing them
come in—is incorrect, and altogether a misapprehension
on his . I had not the least idea, nor a susp icion, of
the arrival of Mr. Lancey’s vesselin the port ; nor was I
aware of such fact having occurred until my arrj val on
the present site of the city of Melbourne, as1 ex plained
to you in my former letter. I am glad of the opportunity
of recording my thankfulness for the friendliness
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evinced by the late Mr. Lancey b{hm hospitably sup-
plying me and m{ small party with a meal and some .
provisions, to enable us to return by a circuitous route
to my encampment at Indented Head.”

But still further to show the baseless character of the
charges brought by Mr. Fawkner, I give an extract
from one of Mr Wedge's letters, written to me February
23rd, 1856, he then being wholly ignorant of the
shameful slander so publicly and shamelessly made.
Written when unconcious of what Mr. Fawkner had
said of him, the language displays a kindly feeling
towards the rival expedition, a.ng bears a simp?:a truth-
fulness upon the very face of it.

“ The last journey I made was for the express pur-
pose of ascertaining where the principal rivers dis-
charged themselves into Port Phillip, with the view to
determine the most eligible site for a permanent estab-
lishment. It was with no little surprise, on arrivin
at the place where Melbourne now stands, that

_observed in the basin, just below where the Prince of
‘Wales’s Bridge spans the Yarra Yarra with its noble
arch, a vessel quietly and securely moored. The sight
was so unexpected that at the moment I fancied I had
come upon an unknown settlement; and it was with
no little interest and anxiety that I advanced to intro-
duce myself to the party in charge of the craft. It
turned out to be a vessel (I believe the Enterprise)
belonging to Mr. Fawkner, which he had sent thither
in charge of Mr. Lancey, to form an establishment, on
the strength of Mr. Batman’s favourable report of the
country.

“ She had crept into the Port, and proceeded up the
Yarra Yarra, unobserved either by tﬁe party left at
Indented Head by Mr. Batman, or by the tribe of
natives who were alsoencamped with them. The Enter-
prise (if that was her name) was certainly the first vessel
that had ever worked her way up to where the Queen’s
‘Wharf has since been built. It was on this occasion
I gave the river the name of ‘ Yarra Yarra,’ from the
foﬁanwing circumstance:—On arriving in sight of the
river, the two natives who were with me, pointing to
the river, called out, ¢ Yarra Yarra,’ which, at the time,
I imagined to be its name ; but I afterwards learnt that
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the words were what they used to designate a waterfall,
as they afterwards gave the same designation to a small
fall in the river Werribee, as we crossed it on our way
back to Indented Head.”

“ On my return to my head quarters, I immediatﬂﬁ
broke up the establishment, and removed it to the no:
bank of the Yarra Yarra, and encamped, if not at the
very place, not far from where St. James’s Cathedral
now stands.”

Having received a letter from the Hon. J. H. Wedge,
dated Leighland, Tasmania, Nov. 16, 1866, I am able
to give a reiterated detail of the facts. It is in'reply
to Mr. Fawkner's lecture, ‘.

“There is some truth mixed with misrepresentation
in what he says of myself, the latter very much pre-

- dominating. 1 had neither a boat nor boat’s crew with
me, having travelled by land from Indented Head round
by Geelong, passing to the west of Station Peak, cross-
ing the Werribee a little to the southward of Mount
Cotterell, the Saltwater river about a mile above the
flow of the tide, and then straight to the present site of
Melbourne; soit is obvious that Ihad no boat’s crew. In
fact, my party consisted of only one white man, two
Sydney natives, and two of the Port Phillip aborigines.
I never pretended that I had nothing to do with Batman
and his party in my interview with Mr. Lancey. As to
‘ worming out the plan of the proceedings of the party,,
I was not then, nor am I now aware that there was
anything to ‘ worm out.’” I took it for granted that
their plan was to take possession of land as squatters.
I received nothing but civility from Mr. Lancey; he
receiving in part the written mfa]iler I gave him,
explaining that Batman had secured the land on the
north side of the Yarra from the natives, and reque sted
him not to interfere with it. I believe it was on
this occasion that Mr. Lancey told me that they were
goin.g to take possession of land on the south side of the

arra. There was certainly no bad feeling evinced by
Mr. Lancey %! the use of such language, as imputed to

. him by Mr. In fact, it &8 purely the tnvention of his

own refined mind!”
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THE CAPTAIN'S STORY.

THE most important testimony of a living witness has
just been furnished me by my talented friend—the
hev. R. K. Ewingl; Presbyterian minister, Launceston.
At my request, he got the subjoined account from
Captain Robson, the then mate of the vessel that
brought our hero, John Batman, to these shores. The
clergyman prefaces the story with these remarks:—
“The following statement was made to me by Robert
Robson, on 27th September, 1866. I wrote it from his
dictation. No questions were put me. I let him
tell his tale in his own way. Before he began I merely
gave him directions to introduce nothing round-about,
and in as few words as possible to give me what he knew
of the time and circumstances connected with the late
Mr. Batman’s visit to Port Phillip (now Victoria.”)

As this tale is told thirty years after the transaction
recorded, allowance must made for some la or
corruption of memm?. No one, perbaps, coul deg
critical examination of a relation made so long a peri
after date. 'With this apology, let the captain have his
simple story.

“] left in the Rebecca, in April, 1835, from Laun-
ceston for Port Phillip. On board were some Sydney
natives, three white men called Alexander Thomson,
James Gumm and William Todd. Mr. Batman was on
board. The vessel was chartered by him for six months.
She was twenty-three tons. The crew consisted of
four men and myself. I was mate, and afterwards
master of her. At this time, Mr. Fawkner had not
visited Port Phillip, as ’ * d .
‘We reached Port g‘hillip about the very end of April
or the beginning of May, and first landed on Indented
Head, near Queenscliffe. 'We saw many footprints in
the direction of where Geelong now is, to which place
we went first. In beating up to Geel at night, we
saw a fire—that is, we went on board r seeing the
footprints, and beat up to Koria (Corio) Bay that night,
landed at two o’clock in the morning up to our middle in
water, Batman and I. 'We reached the native fire before
daylight, but the natives had gome. The next day
Batman tried to cross the Barrabool Hills, but was
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driven back by a hailstorm. There were forty-two
natives at Gee onf, all women and children, who told
us all the men had gone up the country to a fight. We
went on board again, and};:ro ht up at Williamstown,
that is, where it now is. We landed next day, in the
morning, at the upper side of Saltwater Creek, three
white men, the BSydney natives, and Batman, who
carried his swag the same as the rest, all armed. They
were away five days and could not find the natives, and
returned on . We stood out in the bay to see if
we could see any smoke ; saw some; took bearings and
landed next morning.. The second day after the landing
saw an old man and woman. We caught them, gave
them presents, and in about two hours theﬁ'towed us
the natives, about five or six hundred. natives
yelled, showed fight, and tried to surround us. The old
‘man and woman spoke to them, and they at once put
up their spears in a heap. Batman then made friends
with them, and remained two nights with them. He
came on board again with the shore party. We entered
the Yarra, and watered near where Mel e now is;
then sailed for Indented Head, intending to make the
settlement where Melbourne now is as soon as Batman
-could get more persons there. We left three white
men, four blacks, a whaleboat, and stores, with instrue-
tions to build a sod-hut, loopholed and roofed with sods,
and to be kind to the natives and allow them provisions
—a d a-day. Buckley then came. He had heard
in Western Port white men were there, and made his
way round. This was after Batman had sailed for
Launceston, after leaving the men, and food and boat.
‘We returned to Port Phillip in about three weeks, and
took in a large quantity of fruit trees; landed at Indented
Head. We took over also about thirty men. We left
Launceston this time, I think, about latter PTurt of June,
1835, Henry Batman and family were with us. He
was to be managing man on shore. Batman was to go
the trip on Indented Head. We landed all we had, and
came back to Launceston. We saw Buckley on this
visit; he had then left the natives and taken up with
the whites. After landing what we had on Indented
Head, we left for Launceston; and during our passage
the Enterprise entered Port Phillip Heads, She had
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been bound to Western Port, to form a settlement there,
but went to Port Phlill:.l"lp instead. Mr. Fawkner was
not on board. He heard from Batman himself
about the glowing countﬁr of Port Phillip. The master
of the Enterprise, Mr. Hunter, had heard from myself
the particulars of the Yarra, and about fresh water.
About a month after we went over again; Mr. J. H.
‘Wedge was with us at this time. We removed Mr. Bat-
man and other ns, and property, and a number of
natives, from Indented Head to where Melbourne now
is. Mr. Fawkner and his men were there then. The
- natives we took off from Indented Head were the first
they had seen. Batman putup a hut on the rising ground
on the western side of the river, at some distance from the
bank. Fawkner had a hut not far off on the same hill.
All my Ipersonal knowledge of Mr. Batman on the
voyage I had with him, the landing of natives, and
exploring, was this: of a kind-hearted, heroic, and
trut}aﬂt man. BATMAN PAVED THE WAY FOR FAWKNER, .
and it was the knowledge of water, from Batman and
E'a.rty, t.hﬁy got, which induced Fawkner to try the
arra. He knew nothing of it till he heard of it from
Batman and his party. Henry Batman and Fawkner
quarrelled at the trickery of Fawkner in taking advan-
tage of the information he had got, and oi.nF to the
Yarra, when Batman was preparing on fie ndented
Head to go and form the settlement where Melbourne
now is. e had waited, after having been, as I have
said, up the Yarra, at Indented Head to get the party.
« &« » ¢« * He wanted more stre , 80 as to
safe from the natives, before he settled down and left
Indented Head.
(Signed) “ ROBERT ROBSON.”
“I hereby tean:i;rihat the foregoing statement I
wrote from the de tion of Captain Robson; that I
"did not prompt him by asking any leading questions;
that I let him tell his own tale; that he is a person of
good character, usually regarded as a man of truth;
that he is a very intelligent man, and that his manner
' bore all the appearance, in telling his tale, of earnestness
and veracity.
“R. K. EWING, Presbyterian Minister.
“Launceston, 27th Sept., 1866.”
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MR. GEORGE EVANS IN MELBOURNE.

HaviNg had several conversations with this a
Ei:neer of the colony, I feel no hesitation in snym%‘ at

is honest-looking countenance, his frank simplicity,
and his general consistency of narrative would strongly
incline one to faith in his tale of the past.

The old man has evidently sought a quiet and un-
obtrusive career; and, without the qualifications for
public dignity, has had the sound sense to pursue the
even tenor of his way. This very placidity, so removed
from ambitious resolves, has kept his name from becom-
ing a household word in Melbourne, on whose primitive
soll he erected the First Hut of Civilisation.

Our worthy is no juvenile. Sixty-five years ago he
fought under the victorious flag of Nelson, at Copen-
hagen, and having known Colonel Arthur at home, he
was led to follow that gentleman when placed as
Governor of Van Diemen’s Land. As a meechanic, he
naturally took to his trade upon arrival in the Isle of
Beauty. He was a bricklayer, as Buckley, the Wild
‘White Man, had been. An industrious and prudent
man, he gradually pros In that aborigina f;er'md
of colonial history cash was not very plentiful, and
George Evans found himself with a nice flock of sheep,
besides sundry eows and horses, taken in barter for
labour. Through the influence of Major Abbott, com-
monly called Judge, the Commandant of Launceston,
he procured a free grant of land on which to depasture
his woolly charge. But he, like many others, deploring
the want of more extensive grass in the island of rock
and scrub, sighed for fresh meadow lands.

It was at this time that Mr. Batman went on his
interesting mission to Port Phillip. Others had fwgad
there might be a sheep country across the straits, but
he had the courage and enterprise {0 go and see. Some
jeered at him for his folly or smiled at his simplicity ;

ut all waited with avowed or secret interest the retura
of the bold adventurer.

It was early in June, 1835, that a company met, as
usual, to gossip in the parlour of the * Cornwall Hotel,”
in Launceston, while discussing the good liquor of the
landlord, Mr. John Pascoe Fawkner. George Evans
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was among the number. All at once John Batman

walked into the room. Throwing up his arms, he ex-

claimed, “ I am the greatest landowner in the world.”

Seating himself in the midst, he told Mr. Fawkner and

l}il‘l;ccustomefrs the Eat,ory of his tn;%éol'nf;ort Phillipi}::l;
iscovery of magnificent pastures, is large purc

of land?"mm t?]‘ia natives. '

Such a story of an Eldorado had never before burst
upon the colonial ear. No wonder then that our brick-
laying friend turned to the landlord and cried, “ Well,
Fawkner, what do you say about going to Port
Phillip ?” Others were equally smitten, and two re-

table tradesmen, Messrs, Samuel and William
ackson, agreed to join the other two in the venture.
Mr. Fawkner had got a small ship for about £150, and
determined to go with two working men in his employ.
Mr. Evans engaged a servant man, one Evan Evans,
who subsequently had the honour of making the first pair
of boots for Buckley after his release from the blacks. A
blacksmith was to be the only favoured man to take a
wife, the pair being engaged by the spirited landlord.

No partnership existing, each was to pay for his

in the 752, and also was to render
mutual assistance., r. Fawkner hoped for trade in
the forthcoming settlement, and Mr. Evans sought a
run for his flock. Captain Lancey went in the interest
of Mr. Fawkner, but Captain Hunter was responsible-
for the vessel. Three sailors and the wife of one man
{the blacksmith) accompanied the ¥-

They left Launceston, saili wly up the Tamar.
On arriving off George Town, they found the sea rather
rough, and the wind decidedly contrary. Mr. Fawkner
was seriously inconvenienced by the motions of the
little craft, and entreated to be put ashore. The others.
objected to the del:ﬂ, but the captain, obedient to-
command, res e orders of owner, and ran
back to lan Putting off immediat.elz they bade
farewell o their mate, who, throwing up his arms, gave
his parting blessing and direction in these words, “Go-
on, my , do the best you can, but look out for fresh
water.

On went the adventurers, and gmned the (vgﬁosite
land of New Holland. When creeping up Part Phillip-
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Bay, they were hailed by a boat which put off from:
In ntedy Head, and Henry Batman, in the absence of
his brother, gave the intruders orders to move off from
the new company’s territories. =~ To the question,
“ Where are you going to?” they returned the simple
reply of, “We don't know ourselves.” Evans and
others were for going on; but the prudent, quiet Captain
Hunter was for peace and retirement. Turning to his
companions, he said, *“I have often been into Western.
Port gathering bark, let us go there and be first
settlers.” Acenrdinw, they turned towards the ocean:
again, and entered Western Port. Mr. Evans, who:e
object was squatting, saw the soil would never suit his
purpose, and the grass was poor and coarse. That
place would never do. The gentle Hunter yielded to
the pressure, and agreed to run the blockade of Port
Phillip, and dispute the monopoly of our fair pastures.

They looked on the east and on the west, but did ot
like the country. They reached, at last, the point we
now call Williamstown, and anchored. Getting out
the whale-boat, and going ashore, the rocky ap nee
of the places again disheartened them. But there waa
Saltwater River, and they may do better there. The soil
pleased them, but the parting injunction of Mr. Fawkner
about freshwater made them turn reluctantly and disap-
pointed to the ship. Next day Evans and some others
resolved to follow up the other stream which made a
junction with the Saltwater River. After rowing a few
miles between the mangrove banks, they sighted the
beautiful rises of Melbourne, Batman’s Hill, and Emerald
Hill, with glorious pastures in the flats below. Better
than all, & reef of rocks ran across the river, stayed the
advances of the salt tide, an1 gave these weary mariners
a delicious draught of fresh water. * Here,” said they,
“1is the very place, and here we will stay.” Witht
aid of their two boats they brought the Enterprise up
the Yarra, and laid quietly beside what is now the
wharf of Melbourne.

The joyful news must be carried home at once ta
Launceston. Captain Lancey was to stay with Mr.
Fawkner's two men in charge of Mr. Fawkner's
interests. Mr. George Evans and his man —Evan
Evans—remained also. Mr. Marr, a publican, re-
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turned to look after his business.. 'While the others
were content with a tent, Evans, as a builder, resolved
to have a house. They constructed a sod-hut. While
putting on the r & rodfing, a herald appeared.
“ What do you here?” was the cry. “I have as good
aright here as you,” was the reply. “But,” added Mr.
Surveyor Wedge, all this land belongs to-John Batman
and the association. I go by the'chart.” “ Well;and I
go by the chart,” said George, meaning the ship’s chart.
“ But come along, old fellow,” continued he, * come and
have-a-bit of'bread and cheese and a drop of grog.”
The entertainment followed. They separated as frieni‘ia.
thoufh the surveyor gave the party written notice to

uit, and Hen ]g'atmnn came across and erected on

atman’s Hill his post of observation over against the
intruders.

All knew now that there would be a rush to this
lend of  promise, already, in imagination, flowing with
milk and honey.  Our friend George prepared to start
back to get his sheep from the island colony. One of
the association’s crafts was returning for stock, but
would not suffer such a Jonah as he to have a passage.
He was forced to wait, but not long, for the brave news
had caused a re%'ular stampede for Port Phillip. E
one who had a few pounds and some sheep hasted wi
a tub of a vessel across the Canaan. In one of these
little schooners Mr. Evans got safely home again.

Now came more adventures to Original Yarra
Settler. An English brig, the Chili, arrived from
London, was engaged to carry stock, partly by Messrs.
Jackson and Evans and partly by Batman’s Association.
Just leaving the port, 2 vessel came in from Europe.
The captain of the Chili, expecting important news,
turned right about for his letters, and in his haste and
ig:omnoe ran upon some bank. To lighten the ship,

sheep were pitched overboard, and many were
drowned in the attempt to reach the shore. When
the brig was extricated from her perilous position,
:llzzkbricklayer-wm-sqnatter got away with his little

On arrival at the Yarra he found a great change.
The land at the foot of Batman’s hill had been ploughed
and sown by Mr Fawkner’s men ; and, by the time of
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that gentleman’s first appearance here, a fine crop
greeted his eyes.

Then began the famous feud of Batman and Fawkner.
Evans and the others sought the country pastures. But
the two opposing chiefs remained in strife. Onesought
to retain his assumed possession by right of treaty
with the natives, on behalf of the Port Phillip Asso-
ciation. The other, with an eye to business, in conveying
wods and passengers to and fro from the point, now

illiamstown, resolved to stay. However, hostilities
were suspended a while by the payment of twen
E;muds compensation. For this Mr. Fawkner abandon

is claim to the northern shore, relinquished his crops,
and retired to the south side, where he at once drove in
the plough and raised wheat on the flat by Emerald
Hill; though seeing afterwards that others braved the
Batman rights, he crossed again, and put up his hut in
Melbourne.

Such is the story told me by the old settler. Other
information obtained from him may be seen in the
ﬁthor's work on the life of *“ Buckley, the Wild White

an.”

MR. SAM'S PART IN THE SETTLEMENT.

HAVING received a communication from the worthy and
respected Under-Sheriff of Launceston, William Jardine
Sams, Es?., iving his story of the Port Phillip enter-
prise, I gladly lay it before the public. Though the
circumstances may appear both homely and trivial, all
who value historical truth will ag}}:rec‘iate a record,
even of the domestic character, which will throw ligﬁ:.
;ixm the beginning of our colony. How much before thi

r. Batman had thought of the affair Mr. Sams stays
not to inquire; his purpose is to speak of his own con-
nection with the movement. Here is the tale.

“At the latter end of the year 1834 the late Mr. John
Batman, who was then the owner of a very fine estate
in this colony, ‘Kingston,’ near Ben Lomond (a moun-
tain 5019, feet highssinvited a party of friends to his
house, I being of the number. We there found that
B:;}:arations lg;ad been made for an excursion to ascend

Lomond, and on the summit of that majestic moun-
tain to pass the last night of the year 1834 and welcome
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the sun’s rising on the new year. Three or four days
were to be occupied in the excursion, preparations for our
comfort and enjoyment having been previously made
our kind host, aided by a Enrty of New South
ales natives, ten or twelve of whom had been brought
from Sydney by Mr. Batman, and were domiciliated on
his estate. On the second day the part}i‘gained the
tng of the mountain with the exception of Mr. Batman,
who had stayed behind at a resting place, two-thirds of
the way up the mountain, with three or four of his
natives, his youngest child and its nurse (all his chil-
dren, eight in number, were of the party) intending to
follow us up, after having rested awhile. When the sun
was fast sinking, and we were anxiously expecting Mr.
Batman, two sable messengery arrived, bearing a note
from their master to Mrs. Batman, the purport of which
was to inform her that he had been seized with illness,
and requested her to go to him. Wherefore Mrs. Bat-
man immediately left the party, I accompanying her,
guided by the two natives, who each carried a
stick, the night being dark. After a long and
ﬁri.lous descent we reac]:?dyt.he resting-place, and there
ppily found Batman comparatively well, he ha.v}'ju;s
been attacked with cramp 1n the stomach, which
i.;'.ss:rr'i;euly alarmed him as to ggduce the summons for
“ A fire having been lighted a short distahce from the
camping ground, where Mrs. Batman, with the child
and its nurse passed the night, Batman and I sat by
the fire, whiling the time away in conversation on our
several prospects in the colony. It was then that L
first heard Port Phillip spoken of as a desirable place
for a settlement, Batman telling me that when he was
in Sydney he had heard from a schoolfsllow (Hamilton
Hume, who with Captain Hovell, had explored the
neighbourhood of Port Phillip) that the country there
was of the finest description, and that this information
had dwelt on his mind, and made him anxious to verify
the truth or otherwise of the report. It then oceurred
to. me to suggest the formation of a company, in order
that.the expenses incidental to the exploration should:
be light, wken borne by a number. This idea was at
once agreed upan, and forthwith proceeded with.
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“The following are the names associated :—*John
Batman, Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand,
James Simpson, John and William Robertson, *John
Helder Wedge, *Anthony Cotterell, George Mercer,
Thomas Bannister, *Henry Arthur, John Sinclair, John
Thomas Collicott, Michael Connelly, and *William Jar-
dine Sams. (Those names at which I have placed a *
were of the party on the mountain.) Batman very
shortly after began to make preparations for the expe-
dition, and on the 12th May, 1835, he sailed for Laun-
ceston on board the schooner Rebecca, taking with him
three white men and seven of his New South Wales
natives, I accompanied them a few miles down the
river.”

“On landing he came to my house. It was then
evening. I very naturally looked to be informed of the
results of the expedition, but Batman would not satisfy
my curiosity that night, except on the condition that I
accompanied him home, which I did. We arrived there
about three o’'clock in the morning, after a frightful ride
of upwards of thirty miles through incessant rain and
darkness, much of way by wild bush tracks. After
having changed our wet ci}t esand taken refreshment,
Batman then related the whole of his proceedings from
El;: giay of his departure, referring from time to time to

a .”

Thi.sr{mouut I esteem greatly, because derived from a
gentleman of methodical, official habits, keeping notes,
and accustomed to observe with intelligence, and
express with caution and exactness. He possessed edu-
cational advantages not favoured to George Evans, and
his recital is, therefore, more valuable for ita precision.

THE PORT PHILLIP ASSOCIATION,

ABOUT this celebrated company that established, through
Mr. Batman, the colony of Port Phillip, now Victoria,
some obscuarity of origin is to be noted. All admit that
John Batman was the ruling spirit—the moving soul of
the adventure; but a difference exists as to the propor-
tion of credit due to other members. Mr. ex-Sheriff
Sams, of Launceston, talking with our hero about the
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trip when going up Ben Lomond. Mr. Wedge had
made definite arrangements as soon as any, perhaps.
Mr. Robertson of Ho%:rt Town, now of Colac, in a drive
one day, urged Batman to prompt and decisive action,
and that before the arrangements for the Dutigalla
Association were formed.

No formal eng ent took place until after Mr.
Batman’s return m Port Phillip, in June, 1835.
Even then the Association secmed active only to pro-

cure, if possible, Government sanction to their contem °

lated movement. With this view, Mr. Gellibrand
grew up what is called Mr. Batman's account of his
visit, extracted from, and manufactured out of, the

explorer’s simple story in his journal; and this well-

mamd letter was duly laid before the Governor.
ed with it, also, the deputation of Messrs. Gelli-
brand, Batman, &e., went to Sydney to seek the aid of
the king's representative there.

The Association addressed the following letter to
Lord Stanley, then principal Secretary for the Colonies.
‘Without space for tﬁe whole correspondence, room must
be made for this first and most interesting document:—

: “ Hobart Town, 27th June, 1835.

“ My Lord,—We have the honour of enclosing copy
of a report made by Mr. Batman, to his Excellency
Governor Arthur, detailing the result of an expedition
conducted at our joint expense, to Port Phillip, on the
south-eastern extremity of New Holland, for the purpose
of eflecting a conciliatory intercourse with the native
tribes in that part of the country, and afterwards of
purchasing from the chiefs, upon equitable principles,
a portion of that territory for pastoral and agricultural
pur ]

“We are full rsuaded that the perusal of that
report will clearly Eeemonstrate that an intercourse has
béen established by our means, which promises the
most happy and philanthropic results, and that the
portion of the country granted to Mr. Batman, as our
representative, has been obtained upon terms more
equitable and just to the aboriginal possessors of the
soil than any which the history of the British plantations
can produce. >

“ We have not contented ourselves with merely pur-

.
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chasing the land in the first instance; but we have
reserved to the chiefs an annual tribute for ever, of
the value of at least £200. By means of this annual
tribute the friendly intercourse with the natives must
of necessity be kept up, and will lead to gradual civili-
sation.

“ This tract of country is some hundred miles beyond
the jurisdiction of New South Wales, but within the
ima%'nary lines leading from the Australian Bight to
the Gulf of Carpentaria, and which define the limits of
Australia.

“ We might, therefore, have contented ourselves with
this treaty with the aboriginal tribes, and quietly have
taken possession of this land, without any official notice
either to the British or Colonial Government; but, in -
the first instance, we were desirous of communicating
the happy results which have attended the intercourse
with the natives; and, in the next place, of at once
apprising His Majesty’s Government of the nature of

e grants which have been obtained, and the terms
under which the land has been nted, because we
feel confident that, having obtained from the chiefs of
the tribes—who are in fact the owners of the soil—a
title based upon equitable principles, the Crown will,
under your Lordship’s advice, relinquish any legal point
of constructive right to the land in question, especially
as the destruction of our title would be taking away from
the natives the tribute which is thus secured to them
for ever.

“We therefore with confidence appeal to your Lord-
ship to advise the Crown to grant to us such rights as
the Crown may be adviéed that it possesses to the
tract of land in question, upon such equitable pnn ciples
as your Lordship may conceive the justice of the case

requires. :
#“We have the honour to be, &e.,

“ G, SWANSTON. Joan Tromas CoLLIcOTT
T. T. GELLIBRAND. Joanw H. WEebGE.
W. J. Sams. JoHN SmNcLAIR.
T. & W. RosERTSON. ANTHONY COTTERELL.
Jawes SrMpsoN. HENEY ARTHUR,
TaomMAS BANNISTER, MicEAEL CONNELLY.

JorN BATMAN. GEorGE MERCER.”
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In the meanwhile rival companies were forming to
reap where Mr, Batman had sown. One, at least, in
Hobart Town, and one, with Mr. Fawkner, in Laun-
ceston, together with mnnL!i individuals, were prepared,
and hasting away to the t{ﬂian fields. Still pursuing
then their correspondence, the Association rushed at last
to the work of colonisation, and despatched surveyor,
architect, workmen, flocks, aad material to the scene.
Mr. John Helder W\ was surveyor and manager,
as well as partner. The really esteemed and deeply
lamented Dr. Thomson, late oly Geelong, was the first
catechist and doctor.

Much odium has been cast upon these gentlemen,
especially by Mr. Fawkner, who calls them a ing
set of squatters, anxious to meke Port Philhip what
theyhﬂ made of Van Diemen's Land—a sheep-walk
for their own special benefit. :

Let us look at this charge. So far from betur;i squat-
ters, almost all of them were 'professional men, esmen,
or officials of Government. That they sought to procure
land in an unoccupied country was a crime with which
Mr. Fawkner stands equally chargeable. That they
sought to benefit themselves by such an undertaking
was no less a fact than the intentions of that same
gentleman. But there the parallel ceases. The Asso-
ciation desired to act with deference to the laws; the
Launceston party in defiance of them. The Association
honourably and openly applied for official countenance
and leave; the others heeded nothini of authority.
The Association tacitly acknowledged the rights of the
Crown in their appeal to Government; the rest were
resolved to own no such loyalty. The Association,
with chivalrous and righteous care, paid homage to
native rights in the soil; the Fawkner party grasped
and divided lots without a thought of such equity.
The Association, with all their interestedness, provided
for the welfare of the aborigines, and contemplated their
advancement to civilisation and Christianity; the others
derided such folly, and were bent only upon their own
- seltish purposes of aggrandisement and wealth.

Mr. Fawkner has chosen to stigmatise these gentle-
men as creatures of Governor Arthur, and as carrying
out his policy. He holds them forth—more esnecially
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Mr. Batman—as toadies of the Government. That they
were so cruelly disappointed in their hopes by the
voldness and opposition of the officials is not the best
evidence of their being creatures of the great authorities.
Mr. Fawkner has again and again declared that Colonel
Arthur was a shareholder, and that in the name of his
" lady, who afterwards sold her ahf.lre to MréMit.chell.
Tasmanian newspa strongly deny the Governor's
interest in the gpgceSat\ion. g&min{y he took very
little pains to get common justice done for the Associa-
tion by the Home Government. The colonel’s nephew—
a8 ggersonnl friend of Mr. Batman’s—was a shareholder.
lsewhere, in the “ Discovery and Settlement of Port
7Phi]lip,” the reader can refer to the interesting corre-
spondence between the Government and the Association.
rom the first, the latter were disowned by the autho-
rities, and ultimately had to ¥ielcl their pretensions.
Their freaty with the natives of Port Phillip was held
invalid. It is to see why an arrangement with
the feeble tribes of Australia should be worthless and
improper, while that with the warlike and numerous
Maories should be valued and acknowledged. Mr. Mel-
ville, in his authentic work on Australasia, admits the
good offices of the Association, but shows how read
others were to take advantage of their enterprise, an
ride upon their failure, * They had, it is true, no right
acco to English law to any possession, consequently
othﬁrsadammdm'e‘; i.nl:;n Die;nen;l;1 Land, lea.:t'n.i.u'f l ho(:i
we t e was for -farming, follow
their exa.l:;nple, anlt;. before long a v:fzpole tribe of settlers
poured down with their flocks and herds.” -
The first trouble of the Association came from Syd-
ney. It was the following positive prohibition of pro-

o ® PROCLAMATION.

“By His Excellency Major-General Sir Richard
Bourke, K.C.B., commanding His Majesty’s forces,
Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief of the Territory
of New South Wales and its Dependencies, and Vice-
Admiral of the same, &c. &e.

“ Whereas it hath been represented to me that divers
of His Majesty’s subjects have taken possession of lands
of the Crown, within the limits of this Colony, under
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the pretence of a treaty, bargain, or contract, for the
purc thereof, with the aboriginal natives, now,
therefore, I, the Governor, in virtue and in exercise of
the power and authority in me vested, do hereby
proclaim and notify to all His Majesty’s subjects and
others, whom it may concern, that every such treaty,
bargain and contract, with the aboriginal natives, as
aforesaid, for the possession, title or claim, to any lands
lying and being within the limits of the Government of
tEa go}ony of New South Wales, as the same are laid
down and defined by His Majesty’s Commission, that is
to say, from the Northern Cape, or extremity of the
coast, called Cape York, in the latitude of 10 degrees
37 minutes south, to the southern extremity of the
said territory of New South Wales, or Wilson’s
Promontory, in the latitude of 39 de; 4 min. south,
and embracing all the country inland to the westward,
as far as the 129th degree of east longitude, [reckoning
from the meridian of Greenwich, including all the
islands adjacent to the Pacific Ocean, within the
latitude aforesaid, and including also Norfolk Island, is
void, as a.im'mt the rights of the Crown; and that all

rsons who shall be found in ion of aty such
ands as aforesaid, without the 'Ecense or authority of
His Majesty’s Government, for such purpose first had
and obtained, will be considered as tres rs, and
liable to be dealt with in like manner as other invaders
upon the vacant lands of the Crown within the said
Colony.

“ Given under my hand and seal, at Government
House, Sydhey, this 26th day of August, 1835,

ﬁjﬁned,) “ RICHARD BOURKE.
(By His Excellency’s command)
(Si ) “ALEXAMDER M‘LEAY.

“ GOD BAVE THE KING!”

In the meantime the Association sought the opinion
ot the highest legal authorities in Britain, as to the
validity of their treaty with the aborigines. Mr.
Burge was then considered the best counsel upon colo-
nial law, and to him, as well as to Messrs, Pemberton
and Follet, the question was referred.

After the citation of a number of cases, chiefly in
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Indians, we have the following:—
“] am of opinion that the Crown can legally oust
the Association from their possession. The enterprise

manifested by the expedition, the tesgec‘tablﬁty of the
parties em, yd in it, and the equitable and judicious
manner in which they conducted the mtercouree with
the native tribes, and made their purchase, afford a
strong ground for anticipating that the Crown would,
in conformity with its practice on other occasions, on
a proper application, give its sanction to, and confirm
the purchase’which the Association has made. Lord
Hardwicke, in the case which has been referred to,
axpressed a very strong 01?“1011 that the possession of
lgul g these settlements ought to receive the
lest protectw . There is no ground for consxdcntréﬁ
that the lands comprised in this purchase are affec
by the Act erecting South Australia into a Provinee,
4 and 5 W. IV, c. 75, They are clearly not within
the boundaries asslgned to the territory which is the
subject of the Act, and therefore the Crown is not pre-
cluded from confirming the purchase. I am of opinion
that the Association anuld make an application to the
Government for a confirmation of the above purchase,
and accompany it with a full communication, of not
only all the documents now laid before me, but of every
other circumstance connected with the acqummon.
“ WILLIAM BURGE, Line. Inn.
« 16th Jan., 1836.”
“We have perused the extremely able and elaborate
opinion of Mr. Burge, and entirely concur in the con-
usions at which he has arrived upon each of the
queries submitted to us.”
« THOS. PEMBERTON.
“W.W. FOLLETT.
“ Jan. 21, 1836.”
Some leg'l.slstors wnrm]y espoused their cause, and
that similar colomising movements had else-
where received official patronage; and that this, from
the respectability of its members, the worthiness of its
objects, and the success of its scheme, was deserving of
favour and protection. After years of contest, some
consideration was shown to the adventurers; they were
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allowed, at the first land sale in 1838, to purchase lands

to the west of Geelong at the then ufset price of five

shillings an acre, up to the extent of seven thousand

pounds, That sum was to be allowed them as compen-

_ sation for their outlay and loss in the foundation ofPf;e
colony.

'l'h.IJ; was a poor return. Several of the Association
have assured me that such an allowance left no margin,
as the expenses far exceeded the sum named by Govern-
ment. It is singular, that of the original fifteen in the
Association, several took no part in the settlement, nor
had further direct advantage from the good and early
times of cheap grass. Poor Mr. Gellibrand, with his
friend Mr. Hesse, were lost in the bush towards the
Cape Otway countryin 1837. His attached companion,
Mr. Batman, survived him but two years. Worthy
Dr. Thomson has but recently left us. Three-fourths
of the Association are deceased. They who regard the
squatter now, at ease ih his possession, can but little

appreciate the ﬁenls, privations, sufferi and cares
LEx-ough which the pioneers of the wlomd to pass.
These who now enjoy their wealth well deserve their
prosperity.

MR. BATMAN'S TREATY WITH THE NATIVES

THIs is too important a subject to be ].i%vhtly treated
and must, therefore, be fully discussed. e will first
have Mr.-Batman’s story about it, as conveyed in his
journal. Describing his native friends, whom he met
not far from the site of Melbourne, on Saturday, 6th
June, 1835, he thus proceeds:—

“ After some time, and full explanation, I found
eight chiefs a.mongl-gt them, who possessed the whole of
the territory near Port Phillip. ee brothers, all of
the same name, were the principal chiefs, and two of
them men of six feet high, and very good looking; the
other not so tall, but stouter. The other five chiefs were
fine men. After a full explanation of what my object
was, I purchased two large tracts of land from them—
about 600,000 acres, more or less, and delivered over to
them blankets, knives, looking-glasses, tomahawks,
beads, scissors, flour, &c. &e., as payment for the land;
and also agreed to give them a tribute, or rent, yearly.
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The parchment the eight chiefs signed this afternoon,
delivering ﬁtﬁl me some oii'. ttlll:e soil, e:FhI nfd them, as
giving me possession of the tracts of land.”

The Sunday journal contains:—“Detained this
morning some time drawing up triplicates of the deeds
of the land I purchased, and delivering over to them
more property. Just before leaving, the two principal
chiefs came and brought their two cloaks, or royal
mantles, and laid them at my feet, wishing me to accept
the same. On my consenting to take them, they placed
them round my neck and over my shoulders, s.mf seemed
quite pleased to see me walk about with them on.” “I
had no trouble to find out their secret marks. One of
my natives (Bungett) went to a tree, out sight of the
women, and made the Sydney natives’ mark. After
this was done, I took with me two or three of my
natives to the principal chief, and showed him the
mark on the tree. ’ﬁ?].s he knew immediately, and

inted to the knocking out of the teeth. The mark
18 always made when the ceremony of knocking out the
teeth in the frontis done. However, after this I desired,
through my natives, for him to make his mark; which,
a.fbe;lﬁmking about some time, and hesitating some few'
minutes, he took the tomahawk and cut out in the bark
of the tree his mark, which is attached to the deed, and
is the signature of the country and tribe.”

Only those who are acquainted with native habits in
the wild state can appreciate the action of Mr. Batman.
It is easy to sneer in ignorance of the customs of savage
tribes. But let it be remembered that Batman had
lived much among the aborigines. As a boy, he had
been, as it were, brought up with them, in New South
Wales. They were his constant companions in his
bush excursions as & young man. He was so popular
with them that not a few secrets would be imparted to
him. His daughters informed me that he had been once
admitted into some of their mysteries, and made a chief.
Then in Tasmania, his long residence among the blacks
there, his eable manners along with them, and his
curiosity and’ enterprise, with many years’ experience,

* his knowledge was beyond, g‘erhaps‘ any man in the
eountlt'z. Though, therefore, his critics may not apgﬁ
ciate these apparently absurd rites, and may regard hi

]
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as a self-deluded enthusiast, or something worse, it is clear
that there was & meaning in all that satisfied himself.

The deed, drawn up by Mr. Gellibrand, was
intended, by its formal language, primarily to satisfy
the scruples of the civilised. This was the treaty:—

“ Know all persons, that we, three brothers Jagajaga,
Jaﬁajagn, Jagﬂf’ being the three p;[incipn.l cﬂu’efs,
and also Coolooloc Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, Mon-
marmalar, being the chiefs of a certain native tribe
called Dutigallar, situate at and near Port Phillip,
called by us, the above-mentioned chiefs, Irausnoo and
Geelong, being possessed of the tract of land hereinafter
mentioned, for and in consideration of twenty pair of
blankets, thirty knives, twelve tomahawks, ten looking-
glasses, twelve pair of scissors, fifty handkerchieg;,
twelve red shirts, four flannel jackets, four suits of
clothes, and fifty pounds of flour, delivered to us by
John Batman, residing in Van Diemen’s Land, Esquire,
but at present sojourning with us and our tribe, do, for
ourselves, our heirs, and successors, give, grant enfeoff
and confirm unto the said John Batman, his heirs and
assigns, all that tract of country situate and being in
the Bay of Port Phillip, known by the name of Indented
Head, but called by us Geelong, extending across from
Geelong harbour about due south for ten miles, more or
less, to the head of Port Phillip, taking in the whole
neck or tract of land containing about 100,000 acres, as
the same hath been before the execution of these presents
delineated and marked out by us, according to the
custom of our tribe, by certain marks made upon the"
trees growing along the boundaries of the said tract of
land, with & advanta.gﬁ:‘ belongin%lt.ahereto, unto and
to the use of the said John Batman, his heirs, said tract
of land, and place thereon sheep and cattle, yieldin,
and delivering to us and assigns, to the meaning an
intent that the said John Batman, his heirs and assigns,
may occupy and possess the same, and our heirs and
successors the yearly rent or tribute of fifty pair of
blankets, fifty Kni\res, fifty tomahawks, ﬁi‘t{ air of
scissors, fifty looking-glasses, twenty suits of slops or
clothing, and two tans of ﬁm.u'il Ilu;njritness the{eiil' we
Jagajaga, Jagajags, jaga, the e principal chiefs,
an 'L.lso Cooloolock, %?ngarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, and
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Monmarmalar, the chiefs of the said tribe, have here-
unto affixed our seals to these presents, and have signed
the same. Dated, according to the Christian era, this
6th day of June, 1835.

Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of us,
the same having been fully and properly interpreted
and explained to the said chiefs.

JAGAJAGA, his x mark.
JAGATAGA, his x mark.

(Signed) JAGAJAGA, his x mark.
JaMEs GuMM, CooLoOLOCK, his x mark.
Wt Toob. BUNGARIE, his x mark.

YaxNvaN, his x mark.
MONMARMALAR, his x mark.
(Signed) JoHN BATMAN.

Be it remembered that on the day and year within
written, possession and delivery of the tract of land
}v"ithin me}ltioued was made b lthvil wkith!ian-named

agajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, ' Cooloolock, Bungarie,
Yan}Jr:g, I\rlnvos\::l ig? Mmg:;lar, chiefs of the tribes
of natives called Dutigallar-Geelong, to the within-
named John Batman, by the said echiefs, taking up Jpart
of the soil, and delivering the same to the said John
Batman in the name of the whole.

JAGAJAGA,
JAGATAGA,
JaGAsAGA,
In presence of Co0LOOLOCEK,
(Signed} BUNGARIE,
JamEes Gomy, - YANYAN,
ALEXANDER THOMBON, MoowHIP,
‘Ww. Topbp. MONMARMALAR.

Know all persons, thag we, three brothers, J u.g‘ajaja,
J aginjaga; Jagajaga,being the principal chiefs, and also
Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, and Monmar-
malar, also being the chiefs of a certain native tribe
called Dutigallar, situate at and near Port Phillip,
called by us the above mentioned chiefs Tramoo, being
possessed of the traet of land thereinafter-mentioned, for,
and in consideration of twenty pair blankets, thirty toma-
hawks, one hundred knives, fifty pair of seissors, thirty
looking-glasses, two hundred handkerchiefs, and one hun-
dred pounds of flour, and six shirts, delivered tous by John
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Batman, residing in Van Diemen’s Land, Esquire, but at
present sojourning with us and our tribe, do, for ourselves,
our heirs and successors, give, grant, enfeoff, and confirm
unto the said John Batman, his heirs and assigns, all that
tract of country situate and being in Port Phillip,
running from the branch of the river at the top of
the port, about seven miles from the mouth of the
river, forty miles north-east, and from thence west forty -
miles across Tramoo downs or plains, and from thence
south-south-west across mount Vilumarnatar to Geelong
Harbour, at the head of the same, and containin
about 500,000, more or less acres, as the same hat
been before the execution of these presents delineated
and marked out by us, according to the custom of
our tribe, by certain marks made upon the trees
growing along the boundaries of the sa.lgo tract of land,
to hold the said tract of land, with all advanta
belonging thereto, unto and to the use of the said Jo
Bann% heirs and assigns for ever, to the intent that
the said John Batman, his heirs, and assigns, may occupy
and possess the said tract of land, and place thereon shee
and cattle, yielding and delivering unto us, our heirs an
successors, the yearly rent or tribute of one hundred pair
blankets, one hundred knives, one hundred tomahawks,
fifty suits of clothing, fifty looking-glasses, fifty pair scis-
sors, and five t.o:Jls of flour. In witness thereod, we Jagai
jaga, Jagaja agajaga, the above-mentioned principa
%h%:;‘s, an looﬁ::ﬁ(, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, and
Monmarmalar, the chiefs oﬁe said tribe, have here-
unto affixed our seals to these presents, and have signed
the same. Dated according to the Christian era, this
6th day of June, ]‘.&35;10 . g
Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of us,

the same having been fully a.mi“properly?nberprewi and
explained to the said chiefs.

JAGATAGA, his x mark.

JAGAJAGA, his x mark.

JAGAJAGA, his x mark.

(Signed) CooLOOLOCK, his x mark.
JAMES g?mu, BUNGARIE, his x mark,
ALEXANDER THOMsON, YANYAN, his x mark.
‘Wn. Topp. MoowHIP, his x mark.

Signed on the Banks of Batman’s Creek,

6th June, 1835. JoEN BATMAN.



THE FOUNDER OF VICTORIA. 71

Be it remembered, that on the day and year within
written, possession and delivery of the tract of land -
within mentioned, was made by the within named Jaja-

, Jagajaga, Jagaj Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan,
mw]:i%?m ﬁmﬂu, chiefs of g:hfle tribes of
natives called Dutigallar-Geelong, to the within named
John Batman, by the said chiefs taking w of the
soil, and delivering the same to the said John Batman
in the name of the whole.

JAGATAGA,
JAGAJAGA.
JAGAJAGA.
+ In the presence of COOLOOLOCK.
(Signed) BUNGARIE,
JaMEs GUMM, YANYAN.
ALEXANDER THOMSON, MoowHrP.
‘Ww. Topb. MONMARMALAR.

The territorg'fhhns purchased included all the western
side of Port Phillip Bay.

“ What an absurdity!” m('ly ninety-nine out of one
hundred. That great friead to Australia, Dr. Lang,
who has hit all round in his time, and who invariably
speaks out his mind in the most direct manner, looking
with a common-sense glance upon the treaty, calls it
“not merely a literary curiosity, but a singular instance
of the hallucination which an overweening regard for
one’s interest will sometimes produce even in men of
superior standing and intelligence; for the supposition
that such a transaction as the following document
records could be sanctioned for one moment by the
Government of any civilised country in the present age
is in every respect worth§ of a lunatic asylum.”

The doctor is right. In this age of 'plomacgsand
strong governments a treaty with savages is absurd.
And yet there were precedents for such folly. To give
money to the natives would certainly have been useless;
and to give powder, shot, muskets, and rum—the usual
articles of barter with aboriginal tribes—would have
been unchristian, and wholly unworthy the members of
the Association. Most colonists are aware of the purchases
of land in New Zealand for questionable articles, and
yet the British Government entertained some of these
claims. Qoing to the American continent, we learn that
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at a sale of land at Guilford, in 1639, the chief received
twelve coats, twelve fathoms of wampum, twelve looking-
glasses, twelve pair of shoes, twelve pair of stockings,
twelve hatchets, four kettles, twelve knives, twelve
hats, twelve porringers, and twelve spoons. In 1728
forty-eight square miles were sold by a tribe of Indians
for four guns, eight coats, ten shirts, ten pair of
stockings, four kettles, ten hatchets, forty pounE:J{ead,
ten pounds powder, and forty knives, Another-pur-
chase was effected near Stamford, for twelve coats,
twelve hoes, twelve hatchets, twelve looking-glasses,
twelve knives, two kettles, and four fathoms of white
wampum. The Connecticut Indians sold a large tract
to Roger Ludlow, for eight fathoms of wampum,
six coats, ten hatchets, ten hoes, ten knives, ten scissors, '
ten Jews’ , & fathom of tobacco, three kettles, and
ten looking-glasses. The deed being signed bx the
totems or marks of Tomakergo, Tokaneke, Adam,
Prosewamenos, and the chief M kemo. The Dutch
bm:ght a fine piece of country for twenty-seven ells of
loth, six axes, six kettles, eighteen knives, a sword
blade, a pair of shears, and some toys.

The old historian of Connecticut, De Forest, adds—
“In recording these transactions, a doubt easily crosses
the mind whether such purchases, when large tracts of
land, which are now valuable, were obtained for con-
siderations which to us would be trifling, can be
considered fully in accordance with honesty and justice.
It must be remembered, however, that the settlers
were themselves what would now be considered poor,
and that the land obtained was worth almost nothi
to them in their wild state. On the other hand, the
act of the Indians was free. They were as highly
pleased with the bargain as were the purchasers.”.

It is right to mention here that Mr. Batman’s i
application, as well as that of Mr. Henty’s, having been
rejected by the Colonial Government from assumed
incompetency to grant the favour, it was neither
ab nor unjust to believe that Port Phillip was
really beyond the jurisdiction of the Governor of New
Sour.i ales, and that thé natives were the onlt{parues
to consult in equity. We know, also, that at that ve
time another portion of New Holland, now
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South Australia, was granted to a private company in
England, without any reference to the assumed boundary
of New South Wales, or any consultation of its Governor.

Let it also be distinetly remembered that those
Tasmanian settlers had suffered so ﬁ'itg"ﬁlatﬁllly from the
aborigines in their own island home, that they thought
a treaty in Port Phillip no matter of joke, but one
worthy of congratulation. Even those loudest in
condemnation of the grasp of so much land, and in
ridicule of the easy purchase of such a principality,
were quite agreed as to the advantages to be derived
from the amicable arrangement made by Mr. Batman.
And many were ready to exclaim with the Hobart
Town Courier, * Happy had it been for Van Diemen’s
Land if the same step had been taken with the
aborigines on its first settlement with the English.”

It was but natural that the treaty became a legitimate
subject of joking. One writer, subscribing “ Wrang-
leawea,” informed the editor of the Launceston paper of
the return of the adventurer in these terms:—*Sir, I
am happy to inform you that the schooner has arrived
here from Port Phillip on the opposite side of the
straits. Mr. B—— has left Mr. Pigeon, commander of
the Sydney blacks, and who acted under Black Robinson
in catching the blacks here, in possession of the territory,
amounting to two millions of acres which he had
purchn.sefﬁmm the natives.”

But a really clever dialogue was presented to the
readers of the 1sland colomy at the end of June, by one
who saw in the story of the Port Phillip Treaty a
favourable opportunity for him to obtain a grant of land,
on easy terms, from one of the Tasmanian chiefs. As
those sable gentlemen were then being removed for
safety to Flinﬁers Island, the would-be-treaty-maker felt
himself obliged to conclude his arrangements with the
refpresentative of Woureddy, the chief, in the person
of a bust of that exile, which had been placed in the
Hobart Town Mechanics' Institute. T are the
particulars of his interview:—

“ ¢ Good morning, Mr. Woureddy, I hope I have the

honour of your Majesty in poor health.’
Bm‘i'lThe pom chief gave his reply with an assentery
e.
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“¢You are King, I believe, of all the Western part of
the island, and held possession from your noble ancestoras
of those fertile tracts of 600,000 acres, more or less, by
Mr. G. A. Robinson and Mr. Surveyor Sharland.’

“A significant nod.

“¢Now that you are going to Flinders Island and
Port Phillip with Mr. Robinson, and the rest of your
friends and relatives, you can have no objection to sell
me your full right and title to this portion of your
dominipns.’

“A significant nod.

“*] do not expect you to name your price, as you are
not quite perfect in t{e English f:ngua§, but I now

.name it for you. Here is a bucket of Brown’s River

toes, a rod of tobacco, six pipes, a blanket, a

ozen loaves of bread, and a dead garoo. Are you
content '

[T thought I could not lose much at this price, though
the land, I%Jelieve, is not very rich, and rather out of
the way—neither did I want to impose upon the King
l_I mean King Woureddy, and offer him anything

ess.

“&is Majesty, like Jupiter Olympus, nodded, and the
whole of the western country, tiers, plains, rivers, gum-
trees, and all fell into my possession; and I thereb
ive Mr. Robert Knight, Sir John Owen, Mr. Ed

E.lord, wild ecattle, and all others, due notice to decamp,
as all trespassers from this time forth will be proceeded
against according to law. I then procured the convey-
ance, duly drm;:l up in triplicate, on which Woureddy,
with proper regal pomp and dignity, shaking a portion
of the grease and red ochre out of his pendant locks,
impressed it first with the palm of his hand and after-
wards with his foot. I then hastily gathered up the

hment, which I took, thus ratified under his sable
Rg;;esty’s naked hand and foot, to be registered in Mr.
Beaumont's office.”

But we have, under the guise of history, the details of
the affair given in “Mr. Lloyd’s Thirty-three Years in
Tasmania and Victoria,” a book of agreeable reading.
The writer had picked up a few materials, and thus
worked them up into a narrative. He tells us about
‘Wooloomooloo, and the Sydney natives, who, following
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the trail in Port Phillip, came suddenly upon a band of

warriors. Coming forward to make friends, we
are told that ‘notwithstanding his spirited gesture
and vehement jabbering, which he conclnded ‘by thrust-
ing a stick into the ground and formally tabooing it, the
aboriginal warriors still maintained their warlike atti-
tude. Unfortunately, the lan, of the sable mediator
differed so materially from that of the Port Phillipians
that but little progress could be effected by such
incomprehensible parlance. At this ominous stage of

the p , however, the old m:t&ve, dWho had
accompanied the party, stepped forward, and in a few
magical sentences, hap roduced a more amicable

feeling.” The s a ers m interest as it proceeds:—
“Woﬁoomoolmw::riesﬂ endeavoured to explain the
desire of his mater fadsr—as he called the WEltB chief .
—to purchase large tracts of land. To render his
advocacy the more comprehensible, he repeatedly drove
sticks into the soil, dug up small pieces of earth, and
gave them to his master, bidding Js%aga to repeat
the same fonna, which the snfelligent chief did, accom-
Ea.nymg each act with roars of laughter and yah-yah a.”

he continuation of this mythical adventure is so
amusing that the reader wﬂf readily excuse a further
extract :—

% So rapturous a feeling did the magnificent cmmtry
impart to the white chief, that he was ever excl &II:I’:L:E
—*0, heavenly, heavenly sight! What man could
for brighter scenes than these for his future
on ? Ah me! Benbow, let's have a sip of
Vieux, and we’ll d.rmk confusion to our adversaries.”

“ Aye, aye,” sir, responded the Eanched sailor, ro-
ducing the bottle. “ lee the blacks a nobbler, sir?’

#'Sdeath! No, man, no. "Twould be a heinous sin to
taint their unadulterated palates with baleful firewater,
&e. We'll have a little.”

“ Meanwhile, Kardinia, third betrothed Ilubra of
Jagajaga, with ful modesty, stole up to the
council fire by the side of her savage lord, and, in so
doing, elicited an exc]amanun from the admiring sailor,
Benbow, ¢ Holloa, te! run up the colours!
Here's Miss Wennus degI;:ilk come into port. Split
my topsails, Jim, if k don’t eonweat her jetty shoulders
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with the Order of the Blanket, &c. ¢The document
was ordered to be read dloud and explained; to the
terms of which the chiefs signified their entire consent
by sundry senseless broad grins, pulling down the
corner of one eye in a playful mood.”

These are some of Elr. Fawkner's views upon the
treaty. “The firm or company that sent Batman over
only gave him one deed, a copy of which I obtained
before he left Launceston; tEa.t deed he did get
signed by the Jagajagas, at the Merri Creek, just
outside the Fitzroy municipality; but it was mnot
read over to them; it was not interpreted to them or
explained, for these reasons; not one of the Sydney
blacks knew the language of the men of this colony;
not one of the Sydney blacks could read, except Bullett,
and he only learnt words of one syllable, and this
I offered to prove (whilst Batman wasalive) to Governor
8ir Ric Bourke; and any man of sense must know
that to translate a deed to any one of a different
tongue or langunage requires a real knowlédge of both
languages, and these Sydnez blacks could not read,
much less translate writing.” He also points out the
absurdity of the deed, stating that the land had been
marked “ before the execution of these presents,” &c.

Mly reply to this is simp%y that I defend, not
the lawyer’s office in Hobart Town, but would ap;
to the frank story in the journal. Nowhere does
Mr. Batman speak of the absurdities of the deed. His
narrativeisstraightforward. Thedeed had been prepared
beforehand. Mr. Batman had to fill up blanks of acres,
dates, and description. It is clear that without an
absolute translation, or literal rendering, all parties
concerned knew something about the transaction. The
blacks understood an exchange for some of their hunting

nds. Some rough features of the country were
indicated, and the articles for barter told the rest. As
to the whites, though several persons informed me that
Messrs. Gellibrand, Batmen and Co. believed in the
efficacy of the legal instrument, we may doubt whether
they did not chiefly seek to protect themselves from
invaders, act fairly toward a _people in recognition of
their property in the soil, and with a desire to avoid
future collision, but more to place themselves in a
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wsition for recognition with the British Government.
e are accustomed among ourselves to smile at the
verbiage of a legal document, and the curious and
unnewmrgeconditions expressed therein, and need not,
therefore, be too hard upon this.

Mr. Fawkner’s objections to the 8ydney blacks have
not much weight. They were not so ignorant as

nted. For nearly ten years they had been with
rﬁg Batman or Mr. Robinson. In the journal of 1830,
now before me, there are frequent references to them.
They were faithful friends of our founder, and their
services were rewarded by grants of land and official
laudation. As to the marking of trees, Mr. Wedge
assures me of his conviction that trees were so marked,
but on the principle of survey before selection. Mr.
Batman distinctly says—* This took place alongside of a
beautiful stream of water (Merri Creek,) and from
thence my land commences, and where a tree is marked
four ways to know the corner boundary.”

Not satisfied with the denial of Mr. Batman’s statement
about his walking so many miles a-day on his first visit
here, Mr. Fawkner told his readers in 1853, and req‘eat.ed
the story in his lecture, that Mr. Batman’s inability to
walk arose from a loathsome disease from which he was
then suffering. In his lécture he said, “I know that
Mr, Batman was then labouring under the loathsome
disease.” It is 8o reported in the dgeof 1862, But he
volunteered, a few weeks , before an aundience con-
gisting mainly of young females, a more particular
account of the disease. Nothing but a sense of justice
to the departed would warrant me making even an
allusion to so unnecessary and disgusting a disclosure,
even if true. But to rebut the cruel slander, and the
imputation that the journal was a concoction of false-
hoods, it is necessary to argue out this unsatisfactory
subject. :

I'\]{r. Fawkner seeks to substantiate his assertion of
his inability to walk, in May, 1835, by a reference
to his condition twelve months after! For he observed
that when our Founder and he went to the funeral of
poor Mr. Franks (murdered by the natives,) Mr. Batman
was then so ill as to walk with some difficulty. Now,
had he remarked this infirmity upon Mr. Batman’s call
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at his hotel in Launceston, after his visit to Port Phillip,
we might have had some evidence to consider. It is
hardly fair to reason from a man’s present lameness that
he was a cripple a year before.

The result of inquiry has brought out a host of con-
tradictions to Mr. :J;Ler’s assertions. I can, if neces-
sary, adduce names of some of our most respectable old
colonists as authorities on the other side. It is hardlﬁ
likely that so splendid a bushman as Mr. Batman woul
venture upon such an expedition had he not been well.
It is quite improbable that those with whom he acted
woul& have urged his visit under such circumstances.
It is certainly contradictory to the well-known fact of
his rapid travelling through the island after his return,
his inter¥iews with prominent citizens in different parts,
his second voyage to Port Phillip months after, and his
subsequent active exertions in the service of the asso-
ciation.

But to written testimony. A letter I have of Mr.
Batman’s, ddted some time after his return, speaks of
rapid journeys. Captain Robson, quoting from his diary,
inﬁrms us that Mr. Batman, “armed to the teeth,”
went ashore at Saltwater River, and that the party
were away for three days in the bush. He mentions, in
another place, that the leader came back for fresh stock
for his new journey. Mr. Robertson saw him immediatel
before and after his first visit, and only remarked his
robust health and immense activity. e Hon. J. H.
Wedge writes, “I have every reason to believe, from
the information I had from his men, that he went a
considerable distance inland. I laid his route down
from his journal. Mr, Batman’s illness was after his
visit to Hobart Town to report and consult with Mr.
Gellibrand and others with whom he was associated.”
As to the general correctness of his deseriptions, it is
sufficient to say that new comers went by them, as they
appeared afterwards in print.

ut a letter from Mr. ex-Sheriff Sams replies conclu-
sively upon the subject. In another part of that com-
munication, to be found in this work, we have an account
of a night ride that gentleman had with Mr Batman,
from Launceston to Ben Lomond, thirty miles along an
execrable road, on a dismal night of rain. He then
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alludes to the slander: *I, who had occasion to see
him so frequently before he left Launceston, on his
expedition, and ‘who was the first of those interested in
the object of it whom he met on his return, can safely
affirm that few men could or did undergo fatigue as
poor Batman did. In fact, a better bushman at this
time could not be met with. He was in good health
when he left Launceston, and on his return, his ride
home that night—and such a night—is tolerable proof
that he was not an ailing man.”

Had Mr. Batman a son or brother to defend his
rights, might he not be able to retaliate upon Mr.
Fawkner upon the question of an immoral past? Were
the times so perilous to one, and so harmless to the
other? Can the Tasmanian career of one be exposed
while that of the other be invulnerable to attack ?

The source of Mr. Lloyd’s joke about the bacchanalian
celebration of the treaty can be traced to Mr. Fawkner,
who may plead that he had the story from the spy he
placed near Mr. Batman; for in the lecture he has
these words—*“Grog was produced, a good e%nantity
imbibed, and Mr. John Batman was proclaimed ‘ King
John the First of Port Phillip, the largest landed pro-

rietor in the world.”” The last sentence is recorded

Mr. Evans as having been a la.n%hinfl expression of

r. Batman’s in Mr. Fawkner's public-house, and yet
it is placed in the mouth of one of his men. :
Wedge answers this stoi',y—“I never heard of the pro-
clamation. I doubt if Batman had any grog beyond a
small quantity in a pocket-pistol. I know I never had
any in the journey f)‘l):nc .’ Surely Mr. Fawkner was
not comfounding it with the casg of h.i.stho:;n sfna].l
party having twenty-five gallons of gin wi em !

Mr. Fawkner has, he believes, a point of advantage
over the journalist, where he mentions twenty-six miles
up the Saltwater River. But our Founder did not row
up that distance, but walked along the banks.
honourable member has this grim joke about his
rival telling the natives he would bring over his seven
daunghters to settle among them: “I suppose he meant
to marry his seven daughters to seven chiefs.”

Apparently, as we judge now, the critic has a stron
case about the dates, which differ in report and joumaf
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Legal accuracy would require consistency here. But
su.cfl negligence does not invalidate the authenticit
of a . Captain Robson,in his lettef to the Garnwaﬁ
Chronicle, some four years ago, dates his remarks very
oddly. I have often been struck with the looseness of -
chronology even in official records. I have been amused,
when loo) iniwat old journals of the parties after the
Tasmanian blacks, in the war forty years ago, at the -
singular corrections of days of the week.

In Mr. Batman’s Jnrumx.i for 1830, written under diffi-
culties in the bush, and bearing such internal evidence
of truthfulness as to make me more trustful of his Port
Phillip journal, there are several places in which the
days and dates have had to be struck out and unheeded,
because of wrong computation. The same heedlessness
may be noticed even now in the statements of persons not
early habituated to commercial exactitude, nor trained
to methodical customs. The reports of our police courts

ive us abundant illustration of this peculiarity, without

e charge of perjury. At any rate, as the editor of the
Yeoman properly asserts: “ Any confusion in dates
cannot affect the fact of Mr. Batman having been the

n who came here, and began the anent
settling of the eolotng of Victoria.” With this pream-
ble, I intrgduce, without date, a reminiscence of Captain
Robson about this eventful visit and treaty, as narrated
in the Chronizle of 1862, The same can be compared
with the story given by the ancient mariner to my
esteemed friend, the Rev. R. K. Ewing. The reader
must remember that allowances are to be made for
memory and difficulties of observation. As old George
Evans m to me tlhe oth;r day, “ Yfau kml::'t a fellow
can't s positively to what took place thirty years

, and he may chance to vary his tale a bit.” 'l{jnis
the fate of all traditional narratives. And yetit is upon
such that our most reliable histories have to be written.
But to Captain Robson’s yarn.

“15th. Cleared the Heads, the wind N.W., out 20
miles to westward; bore up for Point Sorell. 16th. Put
to sea; wind S.W., steady breeze, but heavy sea from
N.W. 18th. Wind variable. 19th. Wind from the
northward ; made to the eastward. 20th. Brought up
under West Hunter Island ; landed the Sydney natives,
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nine of them altogether, at three p.m.; at seven p.m.
brought them ; wind chopped round to the 8.W.; run
out between the islands. 21Ist. Off Flat Top Point.
22nd. Run into, or entered, Port Phillip; run as far as
Indented Head ; it fell calm; brought up; saw a native
dog on shore; out boat and landed; the dog made for
the boat, but as soon as he saw our dogs he set off, ours
after him, five in number; Dick White’s Ereyhound
hauling him first; he tore the roof of his head right off,
and took the water. 'We shot them both, as the hound
would not live. Weighed anchor at five p.m.; started
up Geelong; at nine a.m. saw native fires; got as close
to them as we could. 23rd. Landed at two p.m., up to
our ankles in mud. Got up to the fires about two hours
before daylight, but the natives were !fone. Sent the
black bloodhounds after them ; found them about three
miles off; brought them back; there were forty-two
women and children, not a man amongst them.

“ Batman made them handsome presents, and they
informed him that the men had gone to war a long lon
.way, pointing in the direction. Batman than sta
to cross the garrabool Hills, but was driven back by o
most severe hailstorm ; made a second attempt and saw
the Barwon, but getting late he returned on board,
intending to go the following day, but when on board
he altered his mind, and he said he thought it would be
better to stay and see the natives all together, and as
they were at war they would decide the grand point.
Then, says he, we will lose no time. Got under weigh
and started for the Yarra on the 24th. Brought u
as neur the bar as possible—the forty-two natives hnﬁ
brackish water carrying in their buckets. On the 25th,
landed on the upper side of the Saltwater Creek: Mr.
J. Batman, Gumm (not Gun, as Fawkner calls him,) Ned
Thompson, two men belonging to the vessel, and nine
Sydney natives, fifteen in all, armed to the teeth,
and loaded with as much as they could carry. Off
ttlllleay went, us watching them as far as we could see

m.

“On the 28th, we heard signal guns at nine p.m.;
answered and sent boats on shore. lg.lrty returned, but
could not find the natives. On the 29th, got under
weigh and stood into the bay to see if we could see any

a
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native fires, We did, and' took the bearings ; then run
back and brought up as before.

% On the 30th, we started at daylight from the upper
side of Saltwater Creek with a fresh stock, and all in
good cheer. On the second day we saw an old man
and woman, and three natives; down swag and gave
chase, caught them and brought them back to Batman,
who made them very handsome presents; in two hours
and a-half we saw the natives, 400 or 500 strong. As
the latter saw our party they one and all began to set
up such an infernal yell and rushed towards the party;
however, the old man and old woman set up a different
yell, which pacified them, and they all ran back, stuck
their spears 1n small heaps, and then made friends with
the party; the part{ stopped two nights with them,
each different party keeping strict watch all night.

“4th August.—Party returned on board after makin
friends with the natives, and parting with nearly a
they had, left them good friends.

“5th August.—Batman and party went up the Yarra
and myself. We filled three casks of water, and on
going down cut a boat hook staff. Here one of the
natives cut a good-sized tree nearly down, and said
jokingly ¢ Dat was Robson’s tree, which made Bat-
man smile. Returned on board and started for Indented

' Head, or Queenscliff which is now; commenced landing
the stores. Got up to the tent, landed several tons of
potatoes and flour, pork, beef, &e., and plenty of ammu-
nition, with a written instruction what to do. Batman
wrote this instruetion while we were landing—to build
a sod hut thirty feet long, ten broad, and to roof it with
sods, leaving {oo holes in different places; they then
would be safe. In the meantime to allow the natives
each one pound of meat per day, but not to allow them
to make any huts nearer than 300 yards away of them,
and to keep them at a respectable [Estanee.

“6th.—All being landed, we left the party a new
whale boat, complete. We got under weigh past Point
Nepean at four p.m., bound for Launceston, after leaving
at ]indented ead, Ted, Gumm, Thompson, and «even
natives.

#8th.—Entered Tamor Heads and arrived at the wharf
on the 9th at two a.m.—RoBERT RoBson.”
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The reader may wonder why Mr. Fawkner should
take such pains to render ridiculous and despicable the
man against whom he writes so bitterly. is egotism
may be one cause. But he was evidently jealous of the
attention paid to his rival by all new comers, especially
official ones. He rather absurdly put this forth in the
Diggers’ Advocate above a dozen years ago:—*‘ And yet
Mr. Batman got power, not only to hold the land and the
house he built (on Batman's Hill) but also a large see-
tion on the Yarra Yarra. Reader, butter, and milk, and
eggs, and a few fowls, &e. &c., are very acceptable when
travelling in an almost uninhabited country, and of
these a very copious supply found their way into the
large tent of the Governor-in-Chief whilst he sojourned
at Port Phillip. The writer of these reminiscences was
never given to ‘ grease the fat pig,’ nor fawn to men
dressed in a little brief authority, %ut kept on the even
tenor of his way.”

Old Robson has a fling at the writer of the above sto
in the following words:—* You were the founder of Mel-
bourne, as you like to be styled; why, did not Governor
Bourke pay you a visit when at Melbourne, and make

on a present of four cases of winc, as he did John

atman? Ah, well, you might think it very cool of him,
but he did, for I tasted it, and it was excellent. But,
Johnny, instead of running down John Batman, you
ought to raise a monument to him, and him alone you
ought to thank. His perseverance was beyond every-
thing I ever saw. It might well be said he was the real
founder of Melbourne, and I don’t suppose there is a
street named after him. No, itis you,and the likes of you,
that wish the honour he earned at the risk of his life may
be buried with him in his grave.”

Those are rough words, coming from the full heart of
the old man, jea?ous for the memory of his former friend
Batman, and indignant at the intrusive supplanter of his
fame. But I have still heavier argument to bring.

Mr. Fawkner had, beyond any man, in apeecsil and
words, ridiculed the idea of making a treaty with the
wretched natives, and especially of using the ignorant
Sydney unatives for the share of that legal process. He -
has laughed to scorn the whole affair, and covered the
head o% Batman with contempt for his part in that

ad
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folly. What would our readers say if I show them
that Mr. Fawkner, in 1835, not only believed in the
advantages of such a treaty, not only respected the
abilities of the Sydney blacks, and not only reverenced
the power of John Batman, but actually sought to do the
same thing himself, and actually sought help from the
very man he condemns, and the very agency he so
liberally derides! I have the original letter of Mr.
Batman to Mr. Wedge now before me, and will give an
extract from the same:— o

Writing on the 18th of June, soon after his making this
treaty with our aborigines, and when the minds of the
colonists were excited by the news, he speaks of a visit
he received from Mr. Fawkner, and tells his friend
Wedge that—*He intends to purchase the land from
the natives, and said he did not want a large tract, that
he would have some difficulty in treating with them,
unless I would allow him one of my natives, and if 1
could not, ‘the only thing he could do after settling
there would be to send to Sydney for some.”

I forbear making any comment.

DID BATMAN SEE THE YARRA FIRST?

Mr. FAWKNER emphatically denies that his rival saw
the Yarra and the site of Melbourne on his first visit to
Port Phillip, but claims the merit of its discovery, or re-
discovery, for his party in August, 1835. Thus we find
him in 1853 writing :—* The next day (after going up the
Saltwater River) they took water as well as food, and
pushed up the Yarra Yarra, having noticed the openin
thereto on their return from the Saltwater stream ; an
after about an hourand a-quarter’s Pul], they reached with
great joy, the basin at, Melbourne.” He states elsewhere
that Batman did not get up the river. Iheard him myself
declare that Batman tried to find a channel up the
Yarra but failed. Elewhere he writes that a Mr. Gibson
discovered the river in 1804, and reported the same to
Governor Cellins, who would take no notice of it. With
much force, then, does the editor of the ¥eoman, in
August, 1862, thus retort upon the veteran:—*“If, as
Mr. Fawkner states, a Mr. Gibson in 1804 discovered
and described the Yarra, then he, and not Mr, Fawkner,
is entitled to the honour of having done so.”
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It is somewhat singular, that while Mr. Fawkner and
Mr. George Evans doubt Mr. Batman's visit to the
Yarra, that the first-named gentleman should, in 1836,
speak thus of the treaty:—* His purchase follows the
river up the right bank for nine miles from the bay’s
head,” &c. Again, in 1853, he says:—* It appears that
Mr. Batman, his party, and the aborigines, travelled
some four or five miles up the Yarra Yarra, which river
he did not find.” In 1862 he gives Mr. Batman credit for
a knowledge of the river. When speaking of the treaty,
he describes it :—* It set out that the land bought was
bounded by the Yarra Yarra from its mouth to three
miles above the falls,” &c.; * and thence by the waters
of Port Phillip Bay to the mouth of the Yarra Yarra.”

Many places are known, but not revealed to the
Emblic, being, perhaps, regarded as of no importance.

t is, therefore, probable that prowling whalers and
sealers, who had their settlements upon islands in the
Straits, in Western Port, and even on Kangaroo Island,
should have seen the Yarra. One Watts, now of
Daylesford, asserts his knowledge of the river many
years before the settlement. In a letter kindly addressed
to me by Mr. Timothy Brown is the following account of
the old man:—* I have learned this much further about
his first visit to Hobson’s Bay. He formed one of
two boats’ crews that belonged to a whaler, and chased
a fish into Port Phillip. e whale was killed, and
stranded on or near St. Kilda beach. The seamen then
endeavoured to. discover fresh water—one of the boats
entering the Yarra Yarra, and the other the Saltwater
River. The crew of the latter, finding their stream
brackish, joined their companions in the Yarra, and
after filling their beakers, both parties returned to the
whale and cut it in pieces.”

John Batman’s journal describes the Yarra and Bat-
man’s Swamp in the following terms, upon Sunday, 7th
June, 1835, some eighteen weeks before Fawkner
camped there. Describing a course evidently from
Merri Creek to the sandy soil of the University Hill
neighbourhood, he writes:—* We then made the river
I had gone up a few days before (the Saltwater,
intending to come on the opposite side of the river, an
hail the ship. I crossed on the banks of the river a
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large marsh (Batman’s Swamp,) about one mile and a-
half wide, by three or four miles long, of the richest
description of soil—not a tree. At the upper end of
_this marsh is a large lagoon. I should think, from the
distance I saw, that it was upwards of a mile across,
and full of swans, ducks, geese, &c. After crossing
this marsh, we passed through a tea-tree scrub, v
high and thick. We expected, on getting throung
this, to make the vessel in an hour or two; but, to our

at surprise, when we got through the scrub, we

ound ourselves on a muck larger river than the one
we went up and had just come down. It was now near
sunset, and it would take two days to head the river
again. So, after some time, I made up my mind that
two of the Sydney natives should swim across the
smallest river, and go to the vessel and bring up the
boat. Bullet and Bungett swam, and had to go about
seven miles, which they did, and were back again
with the boat in three hours. I was glad to
see them, as we had got on the point at the june-
tion of the rivers, where the tide had mow risen up
to our ankles.” On the Monday there is this entry:—
#The wind foul this morning for Indented Head. We
tried, but could not get out of theriver. The boat went
up the large river I have spoken of, which comes from the
east, and I am glad to state, about six miles up found
the riverall good water and very deep. THIS WILL BE
THE PLACE FOR A VILLAGE.”

Can we wonder at the editor of the ¥eoman exclaim-
ing, after reciting the above, “ Batman was the true
discoverer of the river Yarra Yarra.”

The hon. John Helder W, , of Tasmania, the first
manager here, in 1835, in a letter to me, explains the
journey of Batman in these words:—* He afterwards
explored up the banks of the Saltwater River, from
thence to the eastward to the head of the Moonee Ponds,
proceeding north-east from thence till he fell in with
the Jigga%igga tribe of natives, and then returned te
the marsh or swamp near the present site of Melbourne,
and joined his vessel, which had waited for him at, or
near to, Williamstown.”

0Old Captain Robson, who accompanied Mr. Batman
as mate of the Rebecca, in his letter to the Launceston
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Chronicle twenty-seven years after the event, tells this
tale:—“ Batman and party went up the Yarra, and
myself. We filled three casks of water, and on going
down, cut a boat-hook staff. [Ilere one of the natives
cut a good-sized tree nearly down, saying jokingly,
¢ Dat was Robson's tree,’ which made Batman smile.”
In his subsequent address to Mr. Fawkner, whose
lecture of “ Reminiscences” in 1862 he was then criti-
cising, the Old Sait thus unmisukablﬂ, but with no
civilised refinement, expresses himself:—* However,
Johnny has kept his ¢ Reminiscences’ a long time. I
suppose he thinks, because Batman is dead, that all the
rest of his party are also for ever silent, and -he blows
off his vain steam. But, Johnny, you knew well
enough when you were giving your lecture, that Bat-
man's party had been up the Yarra, for you could not
help seeing a tea-tree chopped newly down, on the left
hand side, a long way above Pleasant Hill, as you call it,
or Batman's Wia.rf; for we came up as far as the Falls.
A good-sized one, too, it was; not easy to go past it in
the dark without seeing it. It was in the same year, so I
do not think that a top could grow on it to cause a
mistake.” In 1866 the old man told the tale in these
words to my friend the Rev. R. K. Ewing. “ We entered
the Yarra, and watered near where Melbourne now is.”
Captain Robson further says, “The master of the
Enterprise, Mr. Hunter, had heard from myself the
particulars of the Yarra, and about fresh water.” He
adds further about Batman, ‘“ He had waited, after
having boen, as I have said up the Yarra, at the
Indented Head to get the party.”

The documentary argument about the Yarra may be
closed with the language of Wm. Robertson, Esq., who
gemna.lly assured me that he had all particulars from

atman within a few days after his return from
Hobson’s Bay. That gentleman has such a firm
reliance upon the known integrity of the explorer that
he wouldgg content with the simple testimony of the
man. In a note I received from him lately he says, “ 1
did not know till I read it in your letter that any one
doubted Batman’s having ascended the Yarra from its
junction with the Saltwater River, and 1 feel certain
that po one who ever knew him well could for a moment
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believe that he stated what was incomsistent with
the truth when ke said that he had done 30.”

If, then, Batman was first on the Yarra, thought it a
favourable place for a village, spoke of it to many in
Tasmania, and arranged for a settlement there, though
Mr. George Evans and Captain Lancey were actual
on the ground before the Port Phillip Association had
its quarters there, yet, as the Batmanites were livin
there before Mr. Fawkner came into the country, it
may be certain that Mr. Fawkner was NoT the founder
of Melbourne, much less of the colony, and that Batman,
indirectly at least, was its real founder. Such at any
rate was the belief of the Tasmanian settlers, for we
find even a year after, in November, 1836, the Hobart
Town Courier endorsing the sentiment. Its article is,
“We learn that Captain Lonsdale has selected the
original settlement formed by Mr. Batman on the Yarra
Yarra as the site of the infant metropvlis.” This,
tt;ough first called Glenelg, became the town of Mel-

urne.

THE FIRST SQUATTER IN'PORT PHILLIP BAY.

Tur first squatter, in the present meaning of that
word—that 1s the first flockmaster—on the Yarra was
undoubtedly Mr. John Aitken, after whom the Gap is
named. -

The notice of his sailing, from the Launceston Adver-
tiser, gives the date July 20th, 1835. The vessel was
the Endeavour, Captain’ Bellin. The passengers are
there given as Messrs. J. Aitken, H. Thompsen, Morris,
J. B. Harwood, Js. Young, and J. Brawl. Mr. Fawk-
ner asserts that, not knowing how to steer, they were
glad to follow the Enterprise over to Western Port, and
thence to Port Phillip.  They landed their sheep—the
first flock in Port ﬁu’ﬂip ay—near Arthur’s Seat,
drove them along the western coast, seeking better feed,
until they reached the Yarra. Arriving there, they
found Captain Lancey and Mr. Evans already ashore,
and received from them assistance to cross the river.
Going on with their fleecy charge, they, disregarding
Mr. Batman's treaty, and believing themselves—like the
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Yarra settlers—entitled to what they could seize, took
up land some twenty miles north of Melbourne.

But it is right to bear in mind that, though these
enterprising men, Mr. Aitken and the others, were able
to rush a small flock across before the association—that
bulkier body—could organise their transporting force;
yet theg owed their information of the courtry wholly
to Mr. Batman, and felt safe to dare the savage from the
pacific interview with the blacks held by the pioneer.

‘While George Evans was looking for a suitable place
before bringing his sheep, and while the Batman Asso-
ciation was communicating with Government, and
gettitif an official confirmation of their claim, others—
like Mr. Aitken—were seizing the golden opportunity,
appropriating the green pastures, and harvesting the
spoil of the new country. Like, as Messrs. Henty and
Sons had apprsipriated Portland Bay in 1834, so did many
others, after Mr. Batman's visit, seize the lands of Port
Phillip in 1835.

DIVISION OF THE SPOIL.

L1KE a rush to a new diggings before the arrival of a
Id commissioner, or warden, each new comer to Port
hillip grasped at what he could. Amusing tales are
told of men going up to the top of a high hill, looking
around, and exclaiming, “ All I see I claim!” When,
then, another came within the charmed circle he was
- directed to “go-ahead.” The Cornwall Chronicle of
May 23rd, 1835, then anticipating Mr. Fawkner's party
following Mr. Batman, has this judicious piece of
advice, “ We recommend all leaders of the intending
‘new colonists’ to choose the sites of their operations as
widely away from each other as possible.”
The Port Phillip Association made by map rough
Eartitinn of the laug they au;;Eused they had purchased,
ohn Batman appropriating the neighbourhood of Hob-
son's Bay westw and soutliward for miles. Mr.
Fawkner pursued the same system. His own account,
given to the Diggers’ Avivocate, is very interesting:—
“ On passing the Duck Ponds, near Shortland Bluff, a
whale-boat, manned with some Sydney aborigines and
one white man, came off, and asked ¢ the news—where
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from—and where to, and told our le . that Mr.
John Batman, KING of Port Phillip, bought all
the lands and desired ALL TRESPASSERS TO KEEP ALOOF!
The blacks were civil enough, and supplied our people
with plenty of good choice fish. The Enterprise was
conducted by Captain Hunter, as master of the vessel,
along the southern channel, and the men landed each
da.ly to examine the country from five to ten miles
inland, the vessel only moving a short distance until
they returned on board, and pushing a few miles further
b;' m'ﬁht in order to eXamine new lands the next day.

eligible spot was found on the east side of Port
Phillip Bay. The directions were not to finally settle
down, except upon a river or copious supply of fresh
water. On Thursday, the 20th, the Enterprise came
to anchor in Hobson’s Bay, just clear of the bar upon
the chaunel to the Yarra Yarra; and the new colonists,
Messrs. R. H. Moor, George Evans, W. Jackson, and
Captain Lancey, putting some provender into the five-
oared whale-boat brought for the occasion, on Friday,
the 21st of August, pushed off with two of the woz{-
men, to explore the inlet. In fact, they all, except
Captain Hunter, master of the Enterprise, doubted as
to that being the debouchment of any stream. But he
found it on his chart, and advised their trying to find
what he was sure they would—a fresh water river.
With three cheers from the crew for success to the
adventurers, they pushed off, and after once or twice
touching on the mud flats, they found plenty of dee
water, and pushed on joyfully and thoughtless ,pmeg
the junction of the eam arra without much notice,
and went up the direct course, named by them the Salt-
water River, because they could not get up it-far
enough to find the stream fresh, owing to the vast
number of fallen trees lying in the water, which so
obstructed the navigation, that after much labour they
landed, and could not then discover the fresh water, the
place that they landed at not allowing them to see the
course of the stream. They returned to the vessel
exhausted and fretful, having been most of the day
without water to drink, they having on all former
occasions found plenty of that element on shore. Mind,
this was in August, the wet season.
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“The next day they took water as well as food, and
pushed up the Yarra {am, having noticed the opening
thereto on their return from the Saltwater stream;
and after about an hour and quarter’s pull, they reached
with great joy the basin at Melbourne, and were
delighted, in fact, half wild “with exultation, at the
beauty of the country. The velvet-like grass carpet,
decked with flowers of most lively hues, most liberall
spread over the land, the fresh water, the fine lowlan
and lovely knolls around the lagoons on the flat or
swamps, the flocks, almost innumerable, of teal, ducks,

eese, and swans and minor fowls, filled them with
Joy. They all with one voice agreed that they had
arrived at the site of the new settlement, and resolved
to have the vessel brought up if possible, the goods,
stores, &c., landed, and the commencement of a town
forthwith made. They took a stand upon what was
subsequently called Batman’s Hill, and passed some
hours there and thereabout, enjoying the novel and
extraordinary view before them. They were so pl
with the country that they made it night before they
returned to the vessel, which was lying opposite to
‘Williamstown (that now is) near the bar entrance to
the Yarra Yarra River. Captain Hunter having been
diligently employed these two days with his crew
sounding the way up, it took some time to provide poles
and fix them on the various shoals in the stream, now
marked b buoys and strong beacons (but then
markless;{ an is accomplished, the vessel was,
with much trouble got up to the so-called junction,
and the next day a fair wind drove the lucky Enterprise
up into the basin at Melbourne; the Captain reporting
three fathoms all the way up, and in one part of the
basin seven and a half-fathoms of water, viz., from
the junction up, and into the basin.

“ No time was lost, although it was Sunday, in getting
the vessel close to the bank, at the very spot now occu-
pied by the old shed of the Customs department, and
some timber had to be cut from the over ing trees
to allow the vessel to lie alongside the bank; from a
plank the people landed, and horses, ha.vinﬁmbeen
nearly six weeks aboard, were hoisted out and landed,
very much to their satisfaction; the fine young green
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ss and flowering herbage appearing to gratify their

g:llutes, and 1;1.1eirg ga.mbl‘:gls e}:rincing theigrdehf’;ht at

ing released from ship board, with its unsteady evils
and close confinement. There the master and crew of
the Enterprise joined the adventurers in their undis-
guised joy at the success, that after several weeks’
arduous exertion, seemed likely to reward, aye, well
reward, their joint labours.

“The land having beenselected close to Mr. Langland's
foundry, for the garden, and also to put in a few acres
of wheat; on Tuesday the first plough was put into the
earth, and on the 8th of September five acres of wheat
weresown, partly on and around Mr. Langland’s foundry,
and a garden commenced between that and the hill
known as Batman’s Hill, upon which hill our people
first pitched their tent on the 30th of August, 1835,
and was not removed till J. P. Fawkner came over in
October, 1835, when he fixed to dwell nearer the Fall,
;nd putup his house exactly at the rear-of the Custom-

ouse.”

“Yhe ploughing was performed by horse labour, and
the ploughman was George Wise, one of the sons of
Mr E-'{iehard Wise of Norfolk Plains, who was engaged
to{J. P. Fawkner for one year’s service, as general
farm servant at £25 a year.

“It had been agreed that each person of the six
associates should have a plot-of land, on which to build
and make a garden, and grow corn on, and that if it
was found t-ﬁt the Government would not allow the
whites to buy and hold land, under title obtained from
the aborigines, it was thought no reasonable British
Government would refuse to the first bona fide settlers
a plot of land on which they might grow food for them-
selves and dependants. This expectation, as the reader
will find, was one very wide of the mark when Sir
Richard Bourke took possession of our discovery, made
at the risk of life, and at a cost of money few people are
aware of.

“’The small lots agreed upon were measured off, simply
ten acres for each of the six. Contrast this with the

uatting fraternity, pushed over under the auspices of
Lieutenant-Governor Arthur, in which his nephew, if
not himself, had one share, and many of his officers
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also shared amongst them the fine fertile ficlds of
Australia Felix, The writer cannot but own that he
loves that name or title far more than the common
hackneyed one of “ Victoria.” The lands having been
roughly measured off, lots were drawn, and on the lands
which fell to J. P. Fawkner’s share, the ground was
ploughed and sown with wheat and a garden dug,
plants put in, seeds sown, and the fruit trees planted in
the soil.” -

In his lecture, he refers again to their agreement, that
each of the six partners was to have ten acres, one-sixth
- of sixty acres to be selected. “We had agreed to plot
out sixty acres amongst the six adventurers, and to
subdivide these into six lots, at ten acres each, and each
one was to draw lots for his ten-acre plot.” I need
‘hardly say that Mr. George Evans knows nothing of this,
In the first place, of the six he knew not one who
wanted the land for cultivation except Mr. Fawkner,
who sent over two men to put in some seeds wherever
the party might choose to settle. Mr. Evans says of the-
four who came across, Captain Lancey took no land, as
he intended to go trading between Port Phillip and
Launceston; Mr. Jackson had no intention of doing so;
Mr. Marr went back at once, and he himself put
up & hut for shelter only till he could get orsend for];ﬁu
sheep from the island.

HOW TO TREAT A SQUATTER.

Mr. FAWKNER, and also his old companion Mr Evans,
have alluded to threats of violence toward the early
Yarra party. They more than hint to a pressure being
brought against them by the Batmanites, amounting to
an expulsion or extermination, through the agency of.
the blacks. As usual, whatever was imagined of the
Association was attached to the name of Batman; and
the honour of that gentleman being involved in the
accusation, I am able, by documentary evidence of the
highest character, to clear our founder from that
charge.

Ingfhe language of the times, Messrs. Evans, Lancey,
and subsequently J. T. Fawkner, were squatters. 'I'hat
term is somewhat singular as applied to the latter,
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who asserts that ke founded the colony to prevent its
getting into the hands of the squatters. The term
was then applied to all who placed themselves upon
public lands without license. Squatting, then, within
the limits of the territory claimed by the Association,
the Launceston party were requested to cross the -
Yarra, the other side of which had not been pur-
chased by Mr. Batman. Believin% themselves pro-
Slriewm, the members of the Port Phillip Association

id not admire the way in which the others
surveyed, fenced in, and cultivated paddocks on the
north side of the river. Evidently brought to see
the force of argument for a while, the new comers
did cross the Yarra, though subsequently returning.

But the great controversy about ejection began before
Mr. Fawkner himself left Launceston, and as soon as
othersbesides those of Launceston contemplated intrusion
upon therightsof the Wilds. Asearly as September 17th,
one month before Mr. Fawkner arrived at the site of
the present Melbourne, I find that letters had arrived
from Dutigalla, the new settlement, giving notice of
the arrival of Mr. Evans and Captain Lancey, and thus
influencing the decision of some members of Batman’s
Association; for on the 17th of September, one of the
Association writes to another at a distance upon the
subject of squatterdom. From the lips of this worth
gentleman, now gone to a better world, I learnt muec
of our early history. From this letter it would appear
some rough action was contemplated. Without givin
names of persons, though Mr. Batman is not mentioned,
I extract the following :—

“We have heard of Thompson's and Fawkner’s parties,
and we had a meeting on the subject. and
were for hostile measures, at once setting on
the blacks to eat them out, or drive them out even.
I at once held up my voice against such imprudence,
and was supported to the echo b, , —— and the
_ gv(')e in the course of the day saw young
Thompson, who assured us that there was no truth in
the report of Fawkner’s people having squatted. We
then considered everything set at rest; just then comes
your letter to me, confirming the fact of an encroach-
ment, and your sentiments so fully in accordance with.
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the majority. I have forwarded your letter to i
expressing my conviction of the absolute necessity to
obtain the sentiments of the proprietors, but I have
heard of nothing being done yet. Only think, in the
face of the letters and declarations made to the Home
Government, for any sensible man, (let alone professors
of brotherly love for blackfellows,) to attempt such a
line of conduct as that proposed!! Your prediction
would, as a matter of course, have been fully realised,
and bloodshed and murder ushered in the dawn.”

The gentleman to whom the letter was addressed
may be seen to be Mr. Wedge. That gentleman after-
wards heard some terrible news of war being ‘declared
against the poor squatters. The friendly interposition
of some parties gave the threat a Batmanite direction.
This led to a correspondence between Mr. Wedge and
Mr. Batman. On the 13th of October, the former
writes thus from Launceston :—

“DEAR BATMAN,—I have remained in town in the
hope of seeing you thismorning. Ihave just learnt that
there is no probability of your being here till the after-
noon. As it is inconvenient for me to wait longer, I
think it only'fair towards you to state candidly the
course I shall adopt. The line of proceeding that you
have chalked out in reference to the occupation, b
Messrs. Fawkner and Co., of a portion of the lan
ceded to us by the native chiefs, is so contrary to my
ideas on the subject that I shall protest against it, a
copy of which I enclose. However, to obviate the
consequences likely to result from the difference of
opinions, and the ictatorial attitude assumed by some
of the parties, which I never could submit to, I will
offer my share for sale to the proprietors generally, or
to any of them individually, who may choose to purchase
it.” ~ He, however, submits another proposition—that a
division of the land be made, giving Batman the first
choice. Mr. Wedge enclosed the following protest to
the members of the Association :—

“ GENTLEMEN,—Havinglearnt from Mr. Batman since
my return from New Holland that he is on the point of

roceeding to Port Phillip, with the intention of carrying
into effect the recommendation of , namely, to
remove Mr. Fawkner and those connected with him,
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through the instrumentality of the natives, notwith-
standing such a line of proceeding will be contrary to the -
general voice of the gentlemen who were present at the
meeting when made the propesition. I, therefore,
take the earliest opportunity of communicating my
dissent from taking such steps. To follow it, will lead
to the most disastrous results, not only militating
against the probability of the success of the enterprise,
which at the present moment assumes so promising an
aspect, but it will assuredly lead to bFoodshed and
murder, which, if once commenced, there is no fore-
seeing its termination. It will at once open the eyes of
the natives, and teach them the power they possess;
and, knowing that power, they will not fail to use it
n%ainst us in common with others whenever the impulse
of their feelings may tgrompt them to do so. Suspicion
will be infused into the minds of the natives as to the
friendly intentions of the whites in general towards
them, which will counteract the happy results that have
been the consequences up to the present moment of the
friendly intercourse which was fortunately effected b
Mr. Batman in June last. For the foregoing reasons %
solemnly protest against the measures about to be carried
into effect.”

This noble protest exhibits the character of the man,
and is worthy to be placed in the archives of our colonial
history. It was written a week before the arrival of -
Mr. Fawkner at the new settlement.

Mr. Batman answers the letter on the same day. It
is so candid and characteristic an epistle, that I copy
the whole from the original letter now before me :—

¢ Launceston, 13th October, 1835.

“DEAR WEDGE,—I received ycur letter,on my arrival
here, which did not a little astonish me, particularly
your protest. In the first place you are in error in
stating that —— and —— recommended me to remove
Fuwkner by force. They have never hinfed such a
thing to me; in short, I received a letter to-niglt from
, requesting to know how I intended to act towards
the squatters, and that a great deal would depend as to
our success in the treatment of them. I have never
heard of a meeting of the gents in Hobart Town, and
—— proposing that I should use force. Your protest
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. is the first I have heard of it. I do not, neither did I,
intend to use violence to remove Fawkner, as I am
convinced there are many ways to get rid of him with-
out that. I should think a ong time before I would
cause the natives to use anything like violence towards
any whites, as 1 fully agree with you as to
the consequences that might occur here towards
ourselves. I have not the least doubt but that Fawkner
will see the necessity of crossing the River, as we shall
overrun the land at once with ‘stock. I am half inclined
to think that you have heard some strange tales since
your arrival. I am sorry to think you should wish
toleave us. If I can, I will ride out and see you before
I leave, But write me,
“ Yours faithfully,
© “JoHN BATMAN.”
He then returns to the matter in a couple of post-

scripts :—

T cannot help thinking, and reading your Protest,
you are surely wmnglin everything. Surely, I would
,not do anything to thwart our prosperity with the Go-
vernment.” T

“You must have mistaken the thing altogether. I
will see you, tf possible, before I leave.”

It was after this memorable correspondence that a
meeting of the Port Phillip Association took place in
Hobart Town, and instructions affecting the treat-
ment of the natives, and of the course to be adopted
towards the invading squatters, were delivered to Mr.
John Batman. That furnished to him about the latter
subject I present to the reader:— .

' MEMORANDUM FOR MR. BATMAN, :

“Tt will be expedient to show Mr. Fawkner the
chart, and also the description in the grant from the
natives to him, in order to satisfy him thet the land
occupied by his people belongs to the Association; to
offer him every assistance through the matives in pro-
curing other land for him, and also in removing his
goods, &c.; and also in the erection of other buil X
andthin cultivating Een to a larger extent than done
by them, to protect their present crops, gardens, &¢.

y“lfthepﬂrﬁessetusatdeﬁmcg it will then be
H
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expedient to fence them off, so that they may not
further trespass, and by annoying them in that manner
compel them to leave, but on no occasion to offer them
actual violence unless in self-defence.

“It is presumed that when Mr. Batman arrives with

" such a powerful force the parties will retire. They
are as much interested in conciliating the natives as we
are, and it will be desirable to have a mutual under-
standing for them to pay a proportion of tribute, and
also to enter into an engagement for mutual protection.”

This document is dated October 23rd, and 1s signed by
Mr. Gellibrand, on behalf of Messrs. Swanston, {;]’edge
Sams, Cotterell, Connelly, and himself,

But the squatters proved too formidable for the
Association. Even Mr. Fawkner could not hold his
own. For a time he claimed his few acres on the
Yarra; but an inroad of new-comers no more respected
Mr. Fawkner’s self-asserted proprietorship in the soil
then he had the treaty-bought lands of the Association.

THE FOUNDING OF MELBOURNE.

IN his celebrated lecture Mr. Fawkner thus emphatically
speaks :—‘ The City of Melbourne I founded.”

‘We have then in this expressive sentence the quiet
assumption of all the credit of every one connected with
the establishment of the colony. Not only is Mr. Batman
put out of court, but the H)i?storical Six,”"—the Laun-
ceston Association, partners “at their own cost,” are also
ignored. Hence have arisen the just and indignant
remonstrances of colonists earlier in the field than
himself. And well might the Cornwall Chronicle
complain of his having * too highly coloured his own
performances, and forgot to award the meed of praise
to those who were the real pioneers of the Melbourne
wilderness—those who paved the way and made the
path easy for him and those who were with him.”

The story of the Yarra being seen by Mr. Batman,
has been :ﬁewhere told. Let us now see what Mr.
Fawkner had to do with the Foundation of Melbourne.
Can it be that an historical myth has arisen in relation
to our colony, and that within the period of so many
living around us P If s0, we can more readily understand
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traditional lore, and the ease with which fables have

wn info acknowledged truths. Again and again
E:: the historian pointed out remarkable statements,
fully credited by the inhabitants of a place, in con-
nection with their own individual neighbourhood, and
relating to a time within fifty years ofg the day, which
were proved afterwards to be utterly baseless in fact.
In a country without written records this could be
imagined ; and in one with few or insignificant ones,
such a social condition may be possible.

. When Mr. Fawkner publicly called himself ¢ The
Founder of Melbourne,” we may be sure that he believed
it true in a certain sense. Ten years ago, with less
information than I now possess, I was willing to allow
that phrase in meork on “ The Discovery and Set-
tlement of Port Phillip.” Let the question be re-opened.

He who causes an act to be performed by his avowed
agents or creatures is esteemed the author of the same,
and receives the honour or shame accordingly. The
instigator of a murder, and the indirect promoters of a
worthy deed, are thus together judged. Queen Dido
was the founder of Carthage directly, as she led the
party. William Penn founded Pennsylvania, in
signing the treaty, paying the Indians, and introduec-
ing the immigrants. Mr. Angas indirectly founded
the colony of South Australia, when he advanced
to the South Australian company the twenty thousand
pounds demanded by the English Government as an
earnest of their intentions, but he did not procecd to
Adelaide till many years after, Captain Flinders
indirectly caused the first settlement of Port Phillip,
and the real establishment of Van Diemen’s Land, by
his reports of the bay and of the Derwent. In some
minor sense, then, only could Mr. Fawkner regard him-
self as the founder of Melbourne.

Mr. Henty and his sons were more directly the
founders of Portland than any can be called the founder
of Melbourne. Mr. Fawkner had certainly the most to
do with the Enterprise party, and was unmistakably
the leading spirit of the st desant partnership; though,
as the company came to the Yarra without his know-
ledge, he could only in a very indirect manner be styled
the founder of Melbourne. Mr. Evans, who ordered
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the party from Western Port, and who built the first
hut on the site of the present capital, may be more
correctly than the other termed the founder. But had
not Batman been before, and sounded the praises of the
country, calling forth flocks of men a8 well as sheep,
and so exciting the interest of the place as to get a la
pulation, the Yarra banks might have had the feeble
Ennceswn party, and never reached the importance
of the whaling settlement of Portland Bay, or the cattle
haunt of Twofold Bay. It was John Batman’s
that, according to the Rev. Dr. , turned the heads
of half the colony of Van Diemen’s Land. It almost
immediately lowered the price of land throughout the
island nearly fifty per cent. for the general desire it
induced to be off to the El Dorade. It was this that
ured men and wealth into Melbourne. Not a word
Dr. Lang, the historian of Port Phillip, to sa
of Mr. Fawkner's %t in the matter, and not a word 1s
devoted to him b . Flannigan, the historian of New
South Wales. “The Hobart Town Almanack” for 1836,
in its account of the settlement, never alludes to him.
The Rev. J. T. Wood’s exploration admits that “ the
next settlement (after Mr. Batman’s) of Port Phillip,
was by Mr. Fawkner.” The old authorities, like the o
colonists, make Batman the virtual founder of Mel.
bourne. Even Mr. Melville, in his Australasian,
though mixing so intimately with the parties of the
Rfriod, in awarding the praise of settlement to
r. Batman, is l\feﬂectly silent about the labours of
Mr. Fawkner. Mr. Westgarth, in his early work, gives
Mr. Fawkner’s account as he obtained it iu'ecﬂ gom'
him, but is more reticent afterwards. Judge Thie;
in his “ Reminiscences of New South Wales,” can ta
of Batman, but knows nothing of his rival. Mr. Haydon,
who wrote in 1846, is equally ignorant of his cI};i.ms.
The Launceston papers of 1835 spoke of the Laun-
ceston party as the “second settlement” after Mr.
Batman’s. Mr. Batman had remarked its suitability
for a village five months before Mr. Fawkner came;
and although some of the Launceston people were
seated first by the Yarra, some of the Batmanite
Association were also established there before the
arrival of the reputed founder. In fact, Mr. Howitt,
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in his “ History of Australian Exploration,” thus intro-
-duces that well-known n a8 * one John Fawkner,
squatting near Mr. Batman's hut.” Old Captain
Robson says, they were * intending to make the settle-
ment where Melbourne now is as soon as Batman

- could get more persons there.” Anyhow, the original
inhabitants of Melbourne were Messrs. Lancey, Kvans,
and Jackson.

There is one striking indirect evidence of Mr. Bat-
man’s intentions about a “ village” on the site of Mel-
bourne, in addition to his own eral remark, and the
strong assertions of Captain Robson. 'This proof of
intention i€ contained in a letter written for the Cornwall
Chronicle of June 13, 1835, five months before Mr.
Fawkner saw the heads of Port Phillip. Though evi-
dently a sort of jeu d’esprit, it bears singularly upon our
subject. After joking about the Sydney native, Pigeon,
being in_chﬂ.lmf the land, the writer adds— The site
of a township has been marked off, to be called Batmania,
at the Head of Port Phillip, well supplied with a running
stream of fresh water.”

‘What can this mean ? It refers to Hobson’s Bay, the
head of Port Phillip Bay, and to the River Yarra Yarra.
‘Whence came the rumour of a township there? Why,
from John Batman himself, who, though not a great
writer, had spoken of its suitability for a village in his
journal, and without doubt, as I hear from others, had

ly exglressed his intention of forming a seftlement
there. r. Batman is then the real indirect FOUNDER
OF MELBOURNE. -

MR.FAWKNER ON THE PRIVATE CHARACTER
OF HIS COTEMPORARIES.

SLANDER is so grateful to the palate of humanity that
it is uttered more often, let us hope, from the desire of
pleasing, or the excitation of the marvellous, than for
the injury of others' fame, or the gratification of spleen
and revenge. When attending Mr. Fawkner’s lectures, I
saw tho giggling at his broad allusions to the moral
weaknesses of his cotemporaries, and tried to believe
that he was only indulging his love of the ridiculous.
The more fastidious might regret that mere lads and
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lasses should be favoured with the spicy tales of govern-
ors and chaplains appropriating to themselvesthe wives
of others; nor would old colonists rejoice to hear the
private character of John Batman held up to public
contempt. And if, too, the intemperance of the Bat-
mans is to be held forth for public condemnation, should
it be done by Mr. Fawkner, who sold them the liquor,
and whose primitive public-house absorbed their gains
and demoralised their characters? Mr. Fawkner by no
means enshrouds himself in snowy robes while defiling
the garments of others. His unfortunate propensity to
record the past deformities of his rivals provokes his
foes to retaliate upon himself. That none has done
so in public for so many years, is a noble evidence of
forbearance and the exercise of wholesome - virtue.
Many are still alive who know Mr. Fawkner’s earl
career in Van Diemen’s Land. The historian, who is
obliged occasionally to fish in dirty water, and who in
the pursuit of information is led into strange company,
to hear strange things, becomes acquainted with many
facts of personal adventure which he blushes to record.
Mr. Fawkner, who owes so much to the energy and
intrepidity of Mr. Batman, should be the last to sean-
dalise him. At least he is not the man who should
envy another, especially the dead, some meed of praise
for labours done. He lives in luxurious ease. He
enjoys a large share of popular applause. He holds a
distinguished position in tﬂe councils of his country.
He has his good things. His compeer, the dashing
Batman, has lain in his grave, at the Old Cemetery, for
seven-and-twenty years. His property, accumulated
by industry in the midst of perils, has passed, through
a defective will, into the hands of strangers. His only
son, & tender boy, perished in the Yarra. His last sur-
viving daughter in Vietoria, died two years ago. His
grandsons, excegllent lads, are struggling into life. His
name, which after the departure of wealth and children,
might have been respected in the land he founded, has
either been unheeded and forgotten, or held up to
re%‘mach and shame by his rival.
his surely appeals to our sympathy as men, to our
hearts as Christians. We deny not praise to Mr.
Fawkner. We credit him with persevering emcrgy,
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indomitable will, and zeal for public service. We thank
him for aiding the ?ulpit and the press. We respect
him for sacrifice of time and money in the spread of
literature, and the support of learning. We honour him
for self-elevation and self-instruction. We delight to
exhibit him as a rare example of sobriety, intelligence,
and usefirdness, rising from tl‘a,e dark depths of social cor-
ruption. But we do feel pained at his uncharitable
bitterness towards the dead, and are shocked at that
unforgiving and malignant hate in one ﬂ.ppmnching
fourscore years. Surely thedark days of hisrival, an
his rival’s race, might Kave satisfied his ire and stayed
revenge.

CONCLUSION,

THE purpose for which this work was written was
to vindicate the character of John Batman, and to pre-
sent his claims upon our gratitude.

That he was the real founder of the colony may have
been seen from the following considerations: He sought
a settlement in 1827; he organised the first public asso-
ciation for its settlement; he explored the country to
make known its capabilities; he first made public the
news of the fine land; he acknowledged the rights of
the natives, to secure a firm footing for settlers; he
brought the country under official notice; his published
reports were the immediate cause of the rush of colonists
to these shores.

Where is the public recognition of his services?
‘Where is the monument erected to his honour? Alas!
the land he loved so well has known him not. The
people, so enriched by his enterprise, sq blessed by his
toil, have no thought of his fame, no reward for his
work. His neglected grave is but a type of his unre-
membered days. Even Batman’s Hill, the memorial of
his ancient encampment, has been levelled; and the
sheoaks upon that grassy mound no longer sigh in the
breeze a dp.l.‘:ge for t.g:n hero of exploration.
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A little poem written many years ago, though Iknow
not by whom, rudely but aﬂ'ect%ngly gives a ’

MONODY ON BATMAN'S HILL.

There is a solemn music in the breeze,
80 sadly sighing over Batman’s Hill;
There is a desolate language from the trees
Upon its mount where plaintive murmurs ghri

Have ye not heard? TUp, then, and haste ye there,
It is no visionary music reigns;
Itisa lon\g low sound of deep despair,
A spirit's solemn, melancholy atrains. ) .
Hark! They have ceased, and through the tendrils green,
A hollow, mourning voice the sound prolongs;
*Tis Batman's spirit hovering o’er the scene,
‘Weeps o'er his own and o'er his children's wrongs.
* Land once my own,” the grieving spirit cries,
‘* Purchased by right, and not by deeds of blood;
Not wrun 3 widows’ tears, nor orphans’ crieg,
Not m%z by hands in native gore untied.™ *>
¢ Bay, when I stood upon thy beauteouns shore, =
Al all the rightful owners stood around,
‘When each dark-featured chief in freedom swore,
His spoils my gifts, and these my spots of ground,-—-
“ Were they not mine? Could any grasping power
Seize on my right, the rich Ei!t tear away,
‘Who never knew of it until the hour
‘When first I showed their laggard steps the way?

“* Talk not of Ferdinand, nor of the tyrant Spain,
And mocking, seem to pity the hard fate
‘Which made the great Columbus wear a chain,
As if your epirits were not more ingrate !

* Where are the herds that on this hillock grazed?
‘Where are the numerous flocks I left behind ?
Where are the houses which my efforts raised ?
‘Where are my fortunes? Scattered to the wind;

*¢ Where are my children, whose blue laughing eyes
So lightly d‘;noed in yonder whitened hall?
Do I not hear their lonely, friendless sighs?
Do I not see their tears unheeded fall?
¢ Australia Felix! if thou think’st that name
Shall nothing be but a fool’s scorn to thee,
Wash from thy hands this lasting, burning shame,
And give my children what they took from me.”

Will the colonists of Victoria, generous above all
nations, refuse to do something to perpetuate the memory

e CORIE
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of Batman? Will they, at least, decline to feel a
sympathy for his two remaining grandsons, still with
us? Their mother, the favourite daughter of John
Batman, has gone to her rest. More than once has she
told me, when in her dying state, that her hope in death
would be that something would be done for her boys in
justice to Batman.

‘Without complaining that a lady who introduced
immigrants had been rewarded with thousands of public
money, and that distant friends of deceased explorers
were 80 liberally favoured, it must be regretted that the
descendants of the founder of the colony have been
utterly forgotten, and that no stone of honour marks his

ve.

The profits of this publication, devoted to the lads,
can be but small; but surely old colonists will not, after
this tale of the past, be slow to remember those who
bear the blood of Ratman.

Ferguseon snd Moore, Printers, Melbourne,
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REVIEWS OF MR. BONWICK'S COLONTAL WORKS.

Geography of Australia and New Zealand.
' .3rd Edition.

“Mr. Bonwick is entitled to great credit for this attempt to create an
Aupstralian school-literature, and as his book iz naed by the educational
boards of Melbourne, a better testimonial to its value is afforded than any
gnenl expression of approbation by the press could yield."—Sydney

orning Herald.

“ Mr, Bonwick has been for many years resident in these colonies; he
hns acceas to the best sources of infurmation; he has been indefatigablein
his efforta to smhl.ce & book which might be a standard one on the subject
be treats; and he has sncceeded."—Melhourne Argus.

‘“ It is the work of a man thoroughly familiar with his subject, & eolonist
of fourteen years’ standing, a traveller, and & practical teacher. ‘I'he book
does pot contaln a superfluous word; it is what a book for schools should
be,—compact and simple,—I.ondon Atheneum, October, | 456,

“From what we know of Mr. Bonwick’'s sntecedents, he is the person
best adapted to prepare such a work. A man of education, liberal and

ligh d views, a resident of many years' standing in these southern
lands, and :‘Lerwn sessed of muc{\ experience in tuition, must have

_}o»n well adapted for the task he has executed."—Sydney Freeman's
ournal.

Discovery and Settlement of Port Phillip.

“ Future historians will turn to it as a repertory of valuable facts,
lucldly, systematically, and ch logically stated; for the most part well
authenticated, and nfl of them of the deepest interest, because bearin
upon the infauncy and rapidly maturing youth of & country whose aplendi
destinies have yet to be revealed, and whose future greatness may trans-
cend both our hopes and our belief."—Melbourne Argus, 1850.

“ My ohlef object being to depict Victoria, not as she was, but as she is
now, I shall not troublg the reader with long narrations of early history.
These have been earnestly and copiously ?ren by the industry of Mr,
Bonwick in his recent publicationa.”—Mr, Westgarth's * Victoria."

The Wild White Man and the Blacks of Victoria.
Two Shillings.

“ Mr, James Bonwick, late Inspestor of Schools in Victoria, and whose
name will be familiar to very mauy of our readers, has just published a
second edition of his very interesting book, ' The Wild White Man and
the Blacks of Victoria.' Mr, Bunwick is too highly respected in this
oolony to need further aid from us now than the statement that he has
{ssusd this new edition, and that the publishiers are Mesars Ferguseon and
Moore, Flinders lane east."—Melbourne Argus, 6th November. 1863.

“ The slyle 18 always terse and pointed, and it has uniformly the most
reaistiess charm of playful ease and the utmost simplicity. Australian
soenery is painted with the pencil of an enthusiast, and the imaginative
portions of the work are treated with rare descriptive Fower"'—‘&ge,

“ Mr, Bouwick is thoroughly in earnest, and tells his story with an air
of generous enthusiasm, which alone invests what he Lias to sny with an
uncommon amount of interest."—Ballaarat Star, October 80.




Astronomy for Young Australians.

“This s wrilten in a thoroughly popular style, and has received the
benefit of Mr. Ellery's revieion. This little work will doubtless enjoy, as

ita merits deserve, a large sale."—.Argus.
“ We have met with no work which is so suftable for teaching Astro-
nomy to our Australian youth as the one before us."—Chronicle.

“The book is written in a most captivating style. Itmakes the story
of our brilliant southern skies almnat as Interesting s a fairy tale. We
hope this very meritorioua book will be at once introduced into all onr
ocommon schools, as it well deserves to be, siuce it supplies a want—a Jfeld

I.."-—Wukly Review.

Gnamnq: for Australian Youmth.
* The Grammar ix a superior book."—Adelaide Examiner.

The Bushrangers; illustrating Early Days of
Van Diemen's Land.

* It exhibits a correct position of the state of society in earliar days."—
Hobart 'Town Colonial Times.

Western Victoria: its Geography, Geology, and
8ocial Conditions.

" He has something to tell us; does it in eas: urposelike
style that 1s charming to us. A man who knows his work doea it"—
ristian Times.

“ A most charming, romhh!a book."—Portland Guardian.

ALBO PUBLISHED,

Geography for Young Australians. 4th edition.
Bizpence, Ninepence Cloth.

TWENTIETH THOUSAND |

Botany for Young Australians,
Early Days of Melbourne.
. Western Victoria; and Educational Tour.
Early Days of England.
Bible Stories for Young Australians.
&o. &o. &3,
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